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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Dear Shareholders,

We are pleased to present the Fourteenth Annual Report on business 
and operations together with the Audited Financial Statements and the 
Auditors’ Report of your Company for the year ended March 31, 2010. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

The highlights of consolidated fi nancial results of your Company and 
its subsidiaries are as follows: 

[Rs. in Million]

Particulars     Consolidated

Year ended 
March 31, 

2010

Year ended      
March 31, 

2009

Operating Income 9,379.38 6,305.45

Other Income 493.12 283.93

Total Income 9,872.51 6,589.38

Total Expenditure 7,966.27 5,446.85

Operating Profi t/(Loss) 1,906.23 1,142.53

Less: Finance Charges, 
Depreciation & Amortization

1172.32 924.01

Profi t/(Loss) before Tax & Prior 
Period Items

733.91 218.52

Less: Tax Expenses 33.56 41.09

Less: Prior Period Items 0.30 0.80

Add: Extraordinary items - 64.01

Net Profi t/(Loss) for the year 700.05 240.64

Profi t/ (Loss) attributable to Minority 
Interest

20.85 27.42

Share in current year profi t/ (loss) of 
Associate Companies

15.61 (5.03)

Net Profi t/ (Loss) attributable to 
the shareholders of the Company

694.82 208.19

The highlights of fi nancial results of your Company on stand-alone 
basis are as follows:

 [Rs. in Million]

Particulars Standalone

Year ended 
March 31, 

2010

Year ended      
March 31, 

2009

Operating Income 2,098.16 1,744.55

Other Income 411.47 189.97

Total Income 2,509.63 1,934.52

Total Expenditure 1,874.89 1,664.41

Operating Profi t/(Loss) 634.74 270.11

Less: Finance Charges and 
Depreciation

330.61 334.86

Profi t/(Loss) before Tax & Prior 
Period Items

304.13 (64.75)

Less: Tax Expenses - 5.09

Less: Prior Period Items 2.67 1.65

Net Profi t/ (Loss) attributable to the 
shareholders of the Company

301.46 (71.49)

The year under review has been eventful year for your Company. 
Your Company has forayed into developed Asian Markets through a 
strategic investment in Parkway Holdings Limited, Singapore.

During the year, your Company has made signifi cant progress in terms 
of quality of clinical care, service excellence and is evolving the business 
model so as to improve the overall value proposition to all its stakeholders. 
The Consolidated Revenues from Operations stood at Rs. 9,379.38 Million 
(previous year Rs. 6,305.45 Million) for the year, recording a growth of 49%.

Profi t before Depreciation, Interest and Tax stood at Rs. 1,906.23 Million 
in F.Y. 2009-10, an increase of 67% over the preceding year. Net Profi t 
after tax for F.Y. 2009-10 was Rs 700.05 Million, an increase of 191% 
over F.Y. 08-09.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

A detailed discussion on Operational and Financial Performance of the 
Company for the year ended March 31, 2010, is given in Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report annexed to this Directors’ Report.

GROWTH STRATEGY

The year under review was historic for the Company. It concluded two 
landmark acquisitions viz. acquisition of 10 Hospitals (including 2 under 
construction) from M/s Wockhardt Hospitals Limited and acquisition of 
strategic stake in Parkway Holdings Limited, Singapore.

Acquisition of 10 hospitals from M/s Wockhardt Hospitals Limited, has 
not only provided a Pan India presence to ‘Fortis’ but also added a vast 
number of medical and non-medical professionals to the talent pool, 
which will enable it to grow faster.

Similarly, Parkway Acquisition was driven by twin objectives of 
establishing the international presence and also learn from established 
players to redefi ne healthcare in India.

In order to fi nance its growth strategy, including cost of aforesaid 
acquisitions and to further strengthen its fi nancial position, the Company 
raised funds through: 

Rights Issue of Equity Shares with Detachable Warrants

During the year, a Rights Issue of Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each, at a premium 
of Rs. 100 per equity share was made. The Issue opened for subscription on 
September 30, 2009 and closed on October 15, 2009. In terms of Letter of 
Offer dated September 22, 2009, the Company had, on October 27, 2009, 
allotted 9,06,46,936 Equity Shares aggregating Rs. 9,971.16 Million. The 
equity shares were listed at the National Stock Exchange of India Limited 
and the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited w.e.f. 3rd November, 2009.

Further, in terms of the Rights Issue, the shareholders were entitled to 
one detachable warrant with one equity share allotted under the Issue 
and accordingly, 9,06,46,936 detachable warrants were issued and 
allotted to the eligible shareholders. These were listed at the National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited and the Bombay Stock Exchange 
Limited w.e.f. 4th November, 2009.

Further, the warrants were to be exercised at any time during the 
“Notice Period” to be fi xed by the Company within the Warrant Exercise 
Period, between six (6) months to eighteen (18) months from the date 
of allotment of equity shares in the Rights Issue (i.e., a period from April 
27, 2010 to April 26, 2011). The Company has fi xed the “Notice Period” 
for exercise of detachable warrants from May 21, 2010 to June 19, 
2010, at an offer price of Rs. 153.
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Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds

The Company also issued 1,000, 5 percent Foreign Currency Convertible 
Bonds of US$ 100,000 each aggregating US$ 100 Million in May, 2010 
and are convertible at the option of the bondholders between May 2013 
to May 2015. These bonds are listed on Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
(LSE) and are admitted to trading on the EURO MTF market of LSE.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As on March 31, 2010, the Authorized Share Capital of the Company 
stood at Rs.6,780,000,000, divided into 600,000,000 Equity Shares of 
Rs.10 each, 200 Class ‘A’ Non-Cumulative Redeemable Preference 
Shares of Rs. 100,000 each, 11,498,846 Class ‘B’ Non-Cumulative 
Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.10 each and 64,501,154 Class 
‘C’ Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.10 each.

The Issued Share Capital stood at Rs. 3,218,000,090, divided into 
317,323,609 Equity Shares of Rs.10 each, 1,600,000 Class ‘C’ Zero 
Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.10 each and 
3,196,000 Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference 
Shares of Rs.9 each and the Subscribed and paid-up share capital 
stood at Rs. 3,216,500,090, divided into 317,323,609  Equity Shares of 
Rs.10 each, 1,450,000 Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs.10 each and 3,196,000 Class ‘C’ Zero Percent 
Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each.

SHARES UNDER COMPULSORY DEMATERIALIZATION

The Equity Shares of your Company are included in the list of specifi ed scrips 
where delivery of shares in dematerialized (demat) form is compulsory, if the 
same are traded on a Stock Exchange, which is linked to a depository. As of 
March 31, 2010, 99.64% of shares were held in demat form. 

STOCK OPTIONS

During the year under review, the Company has granted 7,63,700 Stock 
Options under the “Employee Stock Option Plan 2007” to the eligible 
employees and Directors of the Company / its subsidiaries. Further, 
during the year under review, the Company has also allotted 10,140 
Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each, against exercise of the vested Stock 
options exercised by the eligible employees.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Employees Stock Option Scheme and Employees Stock Purchase 
Scheme), Guidelines,1999, as amended from time to time, the details of 
stock options as on March 31, 2010 under the “Employee Stock Option 
Plan 2007”are set out in Annexure II to this Directors’ Report.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

On June 18, 2009, your Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary 
viz. Fortis Hospitals Limited. The main objects of the said wholly-owned 
subsidiary included purchase, lease or otherwise acquire, establish, 
maintain, operate, run, manage or administer hospitals, medicare, 
healthcare, diagonostic, health aids and research centre.

During the year under review, your Company, through one of its wholly owned 
subsidiary viz. International Hospital Limited, has increased its stake in Fortis 
Malar Hospitals Limited (FMHL) from 49.86% to 50.02%, thereby making 
FMHL as its subsidiary. Further, Fortis Hospitals Limited has acquired 100% 
stake in Kanishka Housing Development Company Limited (KHDCL) and 
thereby KHDCL has also become a step down subsidiary. 

During the year under review, one of the step down subsidiaries of your 
Company, Fortis Healthcare International Limited, acquired 100% stake in 

Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (FGHML) and thereby FGHML 
has also become a step down subsidiary. FGHML is in the business of 
Investing in Companies involved in providing healthcare services.

Fortis Hospital Management Limited (FHoML) was a wholly owned step 
down subsidiary of the Company. During the year under review, FHoML 
made an allotment of equity shares to Fortis Healthcare Holdings 
Limited (the promoter company) and thus, became its subsidiary and 
consequently, became a sister subsidiary of the Company.

EXEMPTION UNDER SECTION 212(8) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, vide its Letter 
No.47/405/ 2010-CL-III dated 20th May, 2010, has granted exemption 
from annexing the Accounts and other information of the subsidiaries 
along with the Accounts of the Company, for the fi nancial year ended 
March 31, 2010. 

In terms of the said exemption letter, a statement containing brief 
fi nancial details of the Company’s subsidiaries for the year ended 
March 31, 2010 is included in the Annual Report. The Annual Accounts 
of the subsidiary companies and the related detailed information are 
open for inspection by any shareholder including the shareholder of 
subsidiary companies at the registered offi ce of the Company and 
subsidiaries concerned during the working hours on all working days. 
The Company will make available these documents to the shareholders 
including shareholders of subsidiary companies upon receipt of request 
from them. The shareholders, if they desire, may write to the Company 
to obtain a copy of fi nancials of the subsidiary companies.

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your Company continues to strive towards highest standards of 
Corporate Governance while interacting with all the stakeholders.

The report of Board of Directors of the Company on Corporate 
Governance is given as a separate section titled as “Report on Corporate 
Governance 2009 - 10” which forms part of this Annual Report.

Certifi cate of the Statutory Auditors of the Company regarding 
compliance with the Corporate Governance requirements, as stipulated 
in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges, is 
annexed with the Corporate Governance Report.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

As required by Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement with the Stock 
Exchanges, the Management Discussion and Analysis is given 
separately and forms part of this Annual Report.

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

During the year under review, your Company has not invited or accepted 
any deposits from the public pursuant to the provisions of Section 58A 
of the Companies Act, 1956; and therefore no amount of principal or 
interest was outstanding in respect of deposits from the public as of 
the date of Balance Sheet.

DIVIDEND AND TRANSFER TO RESERVES

                                                Keeping in view the aggressive growth strategy of the Company, 
your Directors have decided to plough back the profi ts and thus, not 
recommended any dividend for the fi nancial year under review. Also, during 
the said Financial Year, no amount has been transferred to reserves.
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DIRECTORS

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 and 
Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Harpal Singh, Mr. V M 
Bhutani, Justice S S Sodhi and Mr. Ramesh L Adige shall retire by 
rotation as Directors at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Mr. Harpal 
Singh and Justice S S Sodhi, being eligible, have offered themselves for 
re-appointment, at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 

Mr. V M Bhutani and Mr. Ramesh L Adige, in view of their pre-occupation, 
have not offered themselves for re-appointment and accordingly, they 
will cease to be the Directors of the Company with effect from the 
conclusion of the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Since no proposal 
has been received for fi lling up the vacancies, it is decided not to appoint 
any Director in place of Mr. V M Bhutani and Mr. Ramesh L Adige. 

The Board of Directors extends its sincere appreciation for the valuable 
contributions made by Mr. V M Bhutani and Mr. Ramesh L Adige during 
their tenure as Directors.

Your Directors recommend the re-appointment of Mr. Harpal Singh and 
Justice S S Sodhi at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

STATUTORY AUDITORS / AUDITORS’ REPORT

As per the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, M/s S.R. Batliboi & 
Co., Chartered Accountants, hold offi ce as Statutory Auditors of your 
Company till the conclusion of the ensuing Annual General Meeting and 
have expressed their willingness to be re-appointed as the Auditors of 
the Company.

Your Company has received the Certifi cate from M/s S.R. Batliboi & 
Co., Chartered Accountants, as required under Section 224(1B) of the 
Companies Act, 1956, to the effect that their re-appointment, if made, 
will be within the limits as prescribed under the provisions thereof. 
Your Directors recommend their re-appointment as the Auditors of the 
Company for the fi nancial year 2010-11.

The Auditors have, in their report to the Board of Directors on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, its subsidiaries 
and associates, made the following comments:

5. (a)  The Delhi Development Authority (‘DDA’) had terminated the 
leases of certain land allotted by it to a society (later converted 
into the company) and then issued eviction notices to Escorts 
Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (a subsidiary of the 
Company) for vacation of these lands. The subsidiary company 
is in appeal against these actions by DDA which is pending with 
the court of law and has accordingly not made any adjustments 
to the carrying value of these lands or to the other assets, as the 
eventual outcome cannot be estimated presently. Further, in a 
related case fi led against Escorts Heart Institute and Research 
Centre Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) for provision of 
services from hospitals operated from these lands, no provisions 
are made by the subsidiary company as the amounts are 
currently unascertainable (also refer Note 8 of Schedule 25 of 
Notes to the Accounts of Consolidated Financial Statements). 

 (b)  Certain tax demands aggregating to Rs. 9,686.76 lacs (without 
considering the demand of Rs. 10,101.01 lacs raised twice 
in respect of certain years and after adjusting Rs. 13,282.38 
lacs for which the subsidiary company has a legal right to 
claim from erstwhile promoters as discussed in detail in Note 
9 of Schedule 25 of Notes to the Accounts of Consolidated 

Financial Statements), raised on Escorts Heart Institute and 
Research Centre Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) by the 
Income Tax Authorities are pending in appeals and the eventual 
outcome of the above matters cannot presently be estimated.

Accordingly, we are unable to express an opinion at this stage 
in respect of these matters reported in paragraphs (a) and (b) 
above and their consequential effect, if any, on the consolidated 
fi nancial statements. The same were also the subject matter of 
qualifi cation by us in the previous year as well.

As the matters are sub-judice and appeals against the demands are pending 
at various stages and based on the advice received from legal counsels, the 
management is confi dent that the matters shall get resolved in its favour.

DISCLOSURES UNDER SECTION 217 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1956 

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report, there have been 
no material changes and commitments, which can affect the fi nancial 
position of the Company between the end of fi nancial year and the date 
of this Report. As required under Section 217(2) of the Companies Act, 
1956, the Board of Directors informs the shareholders that during the 
fi nancial year under review, no changes have occurred in the nature of 
the Company’s business, in the Company’s subsidiaries or in the nature 
of business carried on by them and generally in the classes of business 
in which the Company has an interest. 

ENERGY CONSERVATION, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Particulars required under Section 217(1)(e) of the Companies Act, 
1956, read with the Companies  (Disclosure of Particulars in the Report 
of Board of Directors) Rules,1988, regarding conservation of energy, 
technology absorption and foreign exchange earnings & outgo, is given 
in Annexure I, forming part of this Directors’ Report.

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES  

Information in accordance with the provisions of Section 217(2A) of the 
Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies (Particulars of Employees) 
Rules, 1975, as amended, regarding employees have been set out in  
the Annexure to this Report. However, in terms of Section 219(1)(b)(iv) 
of the Companies Act,1956, the Report and Accounts are being sent to 
the Shareholders excluding this Information. Any Shareholder interested 
in obtaining such information may write to the Company Secretary at 
the registered offi ce of the Company. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors hereby confi rm:

I. that in the preparation of the Annual Accounts, the applicable 
Accounting Standards had been followed along with proper 
explanation relating to material departures;

II. that the directors had selected such Accounting Policies and 
applied them consistently and made judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the fi nancial 
year and of the profi t or loss of the Company for that period;

iii.  that the Directors had taken proper and suffi cient care for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities; and
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iv.  that the Directors had prepared the Annual Accounts on a going 
concern basis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Your Directors place on record there sincere appreciation for signifi cant 
contribution made by the employees at all levels through their dedication, 
hard work and commitment and look forward to their continued support. 
Your directors also take this opportunity to express sincere thanks to 
the medical fraternity and patients for their continued co-operation, 
patronage and trust reposed in the Company and its services.

Your Directors also wish to place on record their appreciation and 
acknowledge with gratitude the support and co-operation extended 
by banks, fi nancial institutions, government and shareholders and look 
forward to having the same support in all future endeavors. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Date : May 28, 2010 Malvinder Mohan Singh
Place: New Delhi Chairman 

ANNEXURE I TO DIRECTORS’ REPORT

INFORMATION AS PER SECTION 217(1)(e) READ WITH COMPANIES 
(DISCLOSURE OF PARTICULARS IN THE REPORT OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS) RULES, 1988 AND FORMING PART OF THE 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2010

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO:

A. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

a) Energy conservation measures taken:

 The Company accords highest priority to energy 
conservation and is committed for energy conservation 
measures including regular review of energy consumption 
and effective control on utilization of energy. The Company 
has designed its facilities keeping in view the objective of 
minimum energy losses. During the year, the Company has 
taken following energy conservation measures:

• Installation of energy effi cient fl orescent lights.
• Installation of “timer device” for regulating the operations 

of corridor lights.
• Generation of hot water without any energy consumption 

by recovery of heat from steam condenser.
• Saving of energy by plugging leakage of conditioned 

air from operation theater doors by installation of auto 
doors to ensure proper sealing.

b)  Additional investment and proposals, if any, being 
implemented for reduction of consumption of energy:
• Nil

c) Impact of measures at (a) & (b):

• The energy conservation measures taken from time to 
time have resulted in considerable reduction of energy 
and thereby reducing the cost.

B. TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

1. Research & Development (R & D):
• Nil

2. Technology Absorption, Adaptation & Innovation:

a) Efforts in brief, made towards technology absorption, 
adaptation & innovation

• To reduce the water consumption by treatment of waste 
water for use in cooling towers and fl ushing of toilets. 
This recycling of water has been approved by Infection 
Control Committee.

b) Benefi ts derived as a result of the above efforts, 
e.g. product improvement, cost reduction, product 
development, import substitution etc.

• Water conservation by reduction of ground water uses.

c) In case of imported technology (imported during last 
5 years reckoned from the beginning of the fi nancial 
year), following information may be furnished:

• Nil

C. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

a) Activities relating to exports : Initiatives taken to 
increase exports; development of new export markets 
for products and services; and export plans
• Nil

b) Total foreign exchange earned and used:

 (i) Earnings NIL 

 (ii) Expenditure CIF Value of — Rs. 10.62 Milion
  Imports

    Others     — Rs. 3.50 Million
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ANNEXURE II TO DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESOP Disclosure in Directors’ Report
Details of Employee Stock Option Plan 2007 for the year ended March 31, 2010
(As per Clause 12 of SEBI (ESOS and ESPS) Guidelines, 1999)

Particulars Details

Date of grant February 13, 2008 October 13, 2008 July 14, 2009

Number of 
options granted

Exercise 
price

Number of options 
granted

Exercise 
Price

Number of 
options granted

Exercise 
Price

The total number of options granted are 
12,55,700

458,500 Rs.71 33,500 Rs.50 763,700 Rs.77

Outstanding options as on April 1, 2009 350,500 30,000 N.A.

Pricing formula Latest available closing price of the equity shares of the Company, prior to the date of grant of 
options by the Remuneration Committee, on the Stock Exchange on which the shares of the 
Company are listed. 

The closing prices of the shares of the Company at the National Stock Exchange of India Limited 
on February 12, 2008, October 10, 2008 and July 13, 2009 was Rs. 70.95, Rs. 49.05 and Rs. 76.95 
per share respectively. Accordingly, exercise price of the options granted by the Remuneration 
Committee on February 13, 2008, October 13, 2008 and July 14, 2009 were fi xed at Rs. 71 per 
Equity Share, Rs. 50 per Equity Share and Rs. 77 per Equity Share respectively.

Total number of options vested during the 
year

60,500 valid options were 
vested on February 12, 2010

1,200 valid options were vested 
on October 12, 2009

Nil

Total number of options exercised 10,140 Nil Nil

Total number of options lapsed/forfeited/
cancelled as on March 31, 2010

68,400 24,000 123,000

Total number of Equity Shares arising 
as a result of the exercise of the options 
(assuming vesting of the valid options and 
exercise of all the valid options vested)

282,100 6,000 640,700

Total number of options in force as on 
March 31, 2010

271,960 6,000 640,700

Variation in the terms of the options None None None

Money realized by exercise of the options 719,940 Nil Nil

Person-wise details of options granted to:

a)  Directors and key managerial 
employees

21,800* Nil 188,600*

b)  Any other employee who received a grant 
in any one year of options amounting 
to 5% or more of the options granted 
during that year

Nil During the Financial Year 2008-
09, under this grant, more than 
5% of the options were granted 
to 8 employees aggregating 
33,500 options*.

During the Financial Year 2009-
10, under this grant, more than 
5% of the options were granted 
to 5 employees aggregating 
425,000 options*.

c)  Identifi ed employees who were granted 
options during any one year equal to or 
exceeding 1% of the issued Equity Share 
capital (excluding outstanding warrants 
& conversions) at the time of grant

Nil Nil Nil

Diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS), as 
reported on unconsolidated basis, pursuant 
to the issue of Equity Shares on exercise of 
the options calculated in accordance with 
AS 20 for the year ended March 31, 2010

Rs 1.13
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Particulars Details

Vesting schedule Except in cases of death and disability and subject to the right of the Human Resources 
& Remuneration Committee to, in its absolute discretion, vary or alter the vesting date for an 
employee or a class of employees, the options will vest in the ratio of 20% each at the end of the 
fi rst, second, third, fourth and fi fth years from the date of grant

Lock in Not Applicable

Impact on profi ts and EPS of the last three 
years

2009–10

Impact on Profi ts – Rs 5.17 
Million

Impact of EPS – Rs 0.02

2008–09

Impact on Profi ts – Rs 1.91 
Million

Impact of EPS – Negligible

2007–08

Impact on Profi ts – Rs 0.31 
Million

Impact of EPS –  Negligible

Difference, if any, between employee 
compensation cost calculated using the 
intrinsic value of stock options and the 
employee compensation cost calculated 
on the basis of fair value of stock options 

Employee compensation cost on the basis of the intrinsic value of stock options is zero while on 
the basis of the fair value of stock options is Rs. 5.17 Million

Impact on profi ts of the Company and on 
the EPS arising due to difference in the 
accounting treatment and for calculation 
of the employee compensation cost 
(i.e., difference of the fair value of stock 
options over the intrinsic value of the stock 
options) 

Impact on Profi ts – Rs 5.17 Million

Impact of EPS – Rs 0.02

Weighted average exercise price and 
weighted average fair value of options 
whose exercise price either equals or  
exceeds or is less than the market price of 
the stock

Weighted average exercise price: Rs.75.05

Weighted average fair value: Rs. 35.19

A description of the method and signifi cant assumptions used during the year to estimate the fair value of the options, including the 
following weighted-average information:

Method used The Company has used the intrinsic value method. However, for estimating the fair value of the 
options granted, the Black Scholes Option Valuation Model (“Black Scholes Model”) has been 
used

• Risk free interest rate 10 year zero coupon treasury rate has been utilized as the risk free rate applied to the Black 
Scholes Model

• Expected life The expected life of the options granted to the eligible employees is 5.5, 6.5, 7.5, 8.5 and 9.5 years 
from the date of grant for each round of vested options, respectively. This is based on various 
schemes launched by various organizations in the country

• Expected volatility Volatility is calculated on the movement of the Company’s (and comparable companies’) share 
price on the BSE in the past one year, and works out to 66.24%. The same volatility is applicable 
to the Black Scholes Model

• Expected dividends No dividend has been paid as yet

•  The price of the underlying share in the 
market at the time of option grant

Rs.70.95 on NSE on February 
12, 2008

Rs.49.05 on NSE on October 
10, 2008

Rs. 76.95 on NSE on July 13, 
2009

* Names of employees have not been given, keeping in view of the sensitivity.
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REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2009-10

1. COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance is an integral part of philosophy of Company in its pursuit of excellence, growth and value creation. The Company’s 
philosophy on Corporate Governance originates from the belief that attainment of the higher levels of transparency, disclosures, control and 
accountability are the pillars of any good Corporate Governance system.

Good Corporate Governance goes beyond compliance and involves a Company wide commitment. This commitment starts with the Board of 
Directors, which executes its Corporate Governance responsibilities by focusing on the Company’s strategic and operational excellence in the best 
interests of all its stakeholders and in particular, shareholders, employees and customers, in a balanced manner with long term benefi ts to all.

The core values of the Company’s Governance process include independence, intergrity, accountability, transparency, responsibility and 
fairness. Its business policies are based on ethical conduct, health, safety and a commitment to build long term sustainable relationships.

The Company is committed to evolve and adopt Corporate Governance best practices on continuous basis. The brand value and reputation 
of the Company are seen as the most valuable assets. The Company recognizes its economic, social and environmental responsibilities and 
continuously strives towards emulating the best practices in every sphere of its operations.

We believe that sound Corporate Governance is critical for enhancing and retaining investors’ trust. Accordingly, we always seek to ensure that 
we attain our performance goals with integrity. It is our endeavor to enhance long- term value for our shareholders and respect minority rights 
in all our business decisions.

2.  BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) is at the core of the Company’s Corporate Governance practices and oversees how Management serves 
and protects the long term interest of stakeholders. It brings in strategic guidance, leadership and an independent view to the Company’s 
Management while discharging its fi duciary responsibilities, thereby ensuring that Management adheres to highest standards of ethics, 
transparency and disclosure. 

Our policy towards the Composition of Board is to have an appropriate mix of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors to maintain 
the independence of Board and to separate its functions of Governance and Management.

Currently, the Board consists of 12 Members, of whom 1 (One) is an Executive Director designated as Managing Director and 11 (Eleven) are 
Non-Executive Directors including a Non-Executive Chairman. Amongst the Non-Executive Directors, 8 (Eight) are Independent Directors. The 
Non-Executive Directors bring an external and wider perspective in Board’s deliberations and decisions. 

The size and composition of the Board conforms to the requirements of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement with Stock Exchanges. Other 
details relating to the Directors as on March 31, 2010 is as follows:

Name of the Director Position held in the Company Directorship
in other 

Companies@

Committee 
Membership 

in other 
Companies#

Committee 
Chairmanship 

in other 
Companies#

Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh Non-Executive Chairman (Promoter ) 12 7 2
Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh Managing Director (Promoter) 11 3 -
Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon Non-Executive Independent 1 - 1
Mr. Gurcharan Das Non-Executive  Independent 4 - -
Mr. Harpal Singh Non-Executive Non- Independent 5 - -
Dr. P S Joshi Non-Executive  Independent 13 4 2
Mr. Ramesh L Adige Non-Executive  Independent 2 - 2
Mr. Rajan Kashyap Non-Executive  Independent - - -
Mr. Sunil Godhwani Non-Executive Non- Independent 14 5 2
Justice S S Sodhi Non-Executive  Independent - - -
Lt. Gen. T S Shergill Non-Executive  Independent 1 - -
Mr. V M Bhutani Non-Executive  Independent 3 2 -

@ Excluding private limited companies, foreign companies and companies under Section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956.
# Represents membership / Chairmanship of Audit Committee & Shareholders’ Grievance Committee of Indian public Limited Companies.
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None of the Directors on Board, is a member in more than ten committees and/or act as a Chairman of more than fi ve committees across all 
the Companies in which he is a Director.

Except Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh and Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh, who are brothers, and Mr. Harpal Singh, who is Mr. Malvinder Mohan 
Singh’s father-in-law, none of our Directors are related to one another.

Disclosure regarding appointment or re-appointment of Directors

According to the Articles of Association of the Company and Companies Act, 1956, at every Annual General Meeting, one-third of such of the 
Directors for the time being liable to retire by rotation, retire from offi ce and at the same Annual General Meeting such vacancy may be fi lled 
up by appointing the retiring director who shall be eligible for re-appointment. Accordingly, Mr. Harpal Singh, Mr. V.M. Bhutani, Mr. Ramesh 
L Adige and Justice S S Sodhi retire at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. Due to their pre-occupation, Mr. Ramesh L Adige and Mr. V M 
Bhutani have not offered themselves for re-appointment and thus, the Board has recommended the re-appointment of Mr. Harpal Singh and 
Justice S S Sodhi at the ensuing Annual General Meeting. In terms of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, the profi les of the Directors seeking 
appointments/re-appointment at this Annual General Meeting are provided in the Notice convening the meeting.

Board Functioning & Procedure

The probable dates of the Board Meetings for the forthcoming year are decided in advance and published in the Annual Report. The Board 
meets at least once a quarter, to review the performance of the Company and approve the quarterly fi nancial results and other agenda items. 
Whenever necessary, additional meetings are held. 

The agenda for each Board Meeting and the background papers to facilitate the meaningful discussion is circulated in advance to the Board 
Members. Every Board Member is free to suggest items for inclusion in the agenda. 

The Directors are provided free access to offi ces and employees of the Company. Management is encouraged to invite the Company personnel 
to such Board Meeting at which their presence and expertise would help the Board to have a full understanding of matters being deliberated.

Nine Board Meetings were held during the year ended 31st March 2010. These were held on (i) April 29, 2009 (ii) June 30, 2009 (iii) July 24, 2009 
(iv) August 24, 2009 (v) September 10, 2009 (vi) October 27, 2009 (vii) January 22, 2010 (viii) February 10, 2010 and (ix) March 15, 2010.

The following table gives the attendance record of the Directors in the Board Meetings and at the last Annual General Meeting:

Name of the Director No. of Board Meetings  held No. of Board Meetings 
attended

Attendance at last AGM

Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh 9 8 No

Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh 9 9 No

Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon 9 6 No

Mr. Gurcharan Das 9 6 Yes

Mr. Harpal Singh 9 7 No

Dr. P S Joshi 9 5 No

Mr. Ramesh L. Adige 9 6 Yes

Mr. Rajan Kashyap 9 8 Yes

Mr. Sunil Godhwani 9 8 No

Justice S S Sodhi 9 6 Yes

Lt. Gen. T S Shergill 9 7 Yes

Mr. V M Bhutani 9 9 No*

*The Chairman of the Audit, Risk & Controls Committee could not attend the AGM held on 25th September 2009 due to exigency of commitment. 
However, the CEO and the CFO of the Company were present at the AGM to answer the queries of shareholders.

Availability of information to Board Members:

The Board has complete access to any information within the Company and to any of its employees. The Board welcomes the presence of such 
offi cials of the Company in the Board Meetings, who can provide additional insight into the items being discussed in the Meeting.

As required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, to the extent applicable, following information is placed before the Board:

• Annual operating plans and budgets and any updates thereto.

• Capital budgets and any updates.

• Quarterly results for the Company and its operating divisions or business segments.

• Minutes of Committees Meetings of the Board.

•  The information on recruitment and remuneration of senior offi cers just below the Board level, including appointment or removal of Chief 
Financial Offi cer and the Company Secretary.
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• Show cause, demand, prosecution notices and penalty notices, which are materially important

• Fatal or serious accidents, dangerous occurrences, any material effl uent or pollution problems.

• Any material default in fi nancial obligations to and by the Company, or substantial non payment for services rendered by the company.

•  Any issue, which involves possible public or product liability claims of substantial nature, including any judgement or order which, may 
have passed strictures on the conduct of the company or taken an adverse view regarding another enterprise that can have negative 
implications on the company.

• Details of any joint venture or collaboration agreement.

• Transactions that involve substantial payment towards goodwill, brand equity, or intellectual property.

•  Signifi cant labour problems and their proposed solutions. Any signifi cant development in Human Resources/ Industrial Relations front like 
signing of wage agreement, implementation of Voluntary Retirement Scheme etc.

• Sale of material nature, of investments, subsidiaries, assets, which is not in normal course of business.

•  Quarterly details of foreign exchange exposures and the steps taken by management to limit the risks of adverse exchange rate movement, 
if material.

•  Non-compliance of any regulatory, statutory or listing requirements and shareholders service such as non-payment of dividend, delay in 
share transfer etc.

Statutory Compliances

The Board periodically reviews the Compliances with laws and regulations applicable to the Company as well as the steps taken by the 
Company to rectify the instances of non- compliances, if any.

Code of Conduct

The Board has prescribed a Code of Conduct (“Code”) for all employees of the Company including Senior Management and Board 
Members.

The Code covers the transparency, behavioral conduct, a gender friendly work place, legal Compliance and protection of the Company’s 
property and information. The code is also posted on the website of the Company.

All employees including Senior Management and Board Members have confi rmed the compliance with the Code for the fi nancial year 2009-10. 
A declaration to this effect signed by the Managing Director of the Company, is provided elsewhere in this Corporate Governance Report.

3.  AUDIT, RISK & CONTROLS COMMITTEE (AR&C COMMITTEE)

The Board of Directors of the Company in its Meeting held on 1st May 2010, redefi ned the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and 
renamed it as “Audit, Risk & Controls Committee.”   

Composition:

The AR&C Committee comprises of the following members, namely:

(i) Mr. V M Bhutani, Chairman

(ii) Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon

(iii) Mr. Harpal Singh

(iv) Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh

(v) Dr. P S Joshi

(vi) Mr. Rajan Kashyap

(vii) Lt. General T S Shergill

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Audit, Risk & Controls Committee.

All members are fi nancially literate and one member is having requisite accounting and fi nancial management expertise.

Terms of Reference: 

The constitution and terms of reference of the Audit, Risk & Controls Committee meet all requirements of Sec 292A of the Companies Act, 1956 
as well as clause 49 of the Listing Agreement.
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The Board of Directors has approved the following terms of reference for the AR&C Committee:

ACCOUNTABILITIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Audit, Risk & Controls Committee shall have the accountabilities and responsibilities set out below as well as any other matters that are 
specifi cally delegated to the Audit, Risk & Controls Committee by the Board. In addition to these accountabilities and responsibilities, the Audit, 
Risk & Controls Committee shall perform the duties required by an Audit, Risk and Controls Committee by applicable statutes, requirements of the 
stock exchanges on which the securities are listed and all other applicable laws.

(i) Financial Reporting 

(a)  General — The Committee is responsible for reviewing the integrity of the fi nancial reporting process and the fi nancial statements and 
disclosures. Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation and integrity of the fi nancial statements and fi nancial disclosures 
and for the appropriateness of the accounting principles and the reporting policies. The external auditors are responsible for auditing the 
annual consolidated fi nancial statements and for reviewing the un-audited interim fi nancial statements. 

(b)  Review of Annual Financial Reports — The Committee shall review the annual audited fi nancial statements of the company, the external 
auditors’ report thereon and the related management’s discussion and analysis of the fi nancial condition and results of operations and 
management’s report. The review will be done to assure that in all material respects the fi nancials are correct, suffi cient and credible, 
present a fair and full disclosure and that the statements are made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in which 
the fi nancial statements of the company are prepared from time to time. The review will also provide assurance and disclosure to the 
fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of the company.  After completing its review, if advisable, the Committee shall 
approve and recommend for Board approval the annual fi nancial statements and the related management analysis and discussion. 

(c)  Review of Interim Financial Reports — The Committee shall review the interim fi nancial statements of the company, the external 
auditors’ review report thereon and the related management discussion and analysis. The review will also provide assurance and 
disclosure to the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of the company.  After completing its review, if advisable, 
the Committee shall approve and recommend for Board approval the annual fi nancial statements and the related management 
analysis and discussion.

(d)  Review Considerations — In conducting its review of the annual fi nancial statements or the interim fi nancial statements, the Committee 
shall: 

(i) meet with management and the external auditors to discuss the fi nancial statements and management discussion and analysis; 

(ii) review the disclosures in the fi nancial statements;

(iii) review matters required to be included in the Director’s Responsibility Statement to be included in the Board’s report in terms of 
clause (2AA) of section 217 of the Companies Act, 1956. 

(iv) review the audit report or review report prepared by the external auditors; 

(v) discuss with management, the external auditors and internal legal counsel, as requested, any litigation claim or other contingency 
that could have a material effect on the fi nancial statements;

(vi) review critical or material accounting and other signifi cant estimates and judgments underlying the fi nancial statements as 
presented by management; 

(vii) review any material effects of regulatory accounting initiatives, signifi cant transactions or off-balance sheet structures on the 
fi nancial statements as presented by management; 

(viii) review any material changes in accounting policies and practices, the reason for the same and their impact on the fi nancial 
statements as presented by management or the external auditors; 

(ix) review signifi cant adjustments made in the fi nancial statements arising out of audit fi ndings.

(x) review disclosure of any related party transactions

(xi) review management’s and the external auditors’ reports on the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting; 

(xii) review results of investigation into any material fraud or Code of Conduct complaint and  

(xiii) review any other matters, related to the fi nancial statements, that are brought forward by the internal auditors, external auditors, 
management or which are required to be communicated to the Audit, Risk and Controls Committee under accounting policies, 
auditing standards or applicable law. This includes any qualifi cations in the draft audit report.

(e)  Approval of Disclosures — The Committee shall review and, if advisable, approve or recommend for Board approval all external fi lings, 
advisories or press releases which disclose fi nancial results or offer material disclosure of a fi nancial nature.
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(ii) External Auditors 

(a) General —The Committee shall be responsible for oversight of the work of the external auditors in auditing and reviewing the companies 
fi nancial statements and internal controls over fi nancial reporting including the resolution of disagreements between management and 
the external auditors regarding fi nancial reporting. 

(b) Appointment and Compensation — The Committee shall review and, if advisable, select and recommend: 

(i) for shareholder approval, the appointment (or re-appointment as the case may be) of the external auditors and 

(ii) for shareholder or Board approval, as applicable, the compensation of the  external auditors. 

(c) Annual Review Report — At least annually, the Committee shall obtain and review a report by the external auditors describing: (i) their 
internal quality–control procedures and (ii) availability of the peer review certifi cate and details on any material issues raised by their most 
recent internal quality-control review, peer review or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities within the 
preceding fi ve years respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the external auditors and any steps taken to deal with any 
of these issues. 

(d) Audit Plan — Annually, the Committee shall review the external auditors’ annual audit plan. The Committee shall consider and review 
with the external auditors any material changes to the scope of the plan.

(e) Independence of External Auditors — Annually, and before the external auditors issue their report on the annual fi nancial statements, 
the Committee shall: obtain from the external auditors a formal written confi rmation 

(i) as to the such relationships between the external auditors and a third party that may affect the objectivity and independence of the 
external auditors; 

(ii) that they are independent within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct/Code of Ethics adopted by the institute or order 
of chartered accountants to which they belong. 

(iii) that they are in compliance with all audit fi rm and regulatory requirements relating to partner rotation, peer review and quality reviews 
and that the engagement team collectively possesses the experience and competence to perform an appropriate audit. 

(f) Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services — The Committee shall pre-approve any retainer of the external auditors for any non-
audit service to the company or its subsidiaries in accordance with Position Paper adopted by the Committee and the Board. 

(g) Hiring Practices — The Committee shall review and approve guidelines regarding the hiring of employees or former employees of the 
external auditors or former external auditors.

(iii) Internal Audit Function 

(a) General —The Internal Audit function is responsible for providing independent and objective assurance and consulting services to add value 
and improve the operations of the company by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness 
of risk management, control and governance processes. The Committee shall review the independence of the internal auditors from 
management having regard to the scope, budget, planned activities and organization structure of the internal audit function. 

(b) Appointment and Compensation — The Committee shall review and, if advisable, select and recommend: 

(i) the appointment (or re-appointment as the case may be) of the internal auditors and 

(ii) for Board approval, as applicable, the compensation of the internal auditors.

(c)  Internal Audit Charter – The Committee is responsible for establishing and approving, the Internal Audit Charter and mandate, which 
will be reviewed annually and updated as required. 

(d) Chief Auditor — The Committee shall review and, if advisable, approve the appointment of the Chief Auditor. At least annually, the Audit 
Committee shall evaluate the performance of the Chief Auditor and shall meet with the Chief Auditor to discuss the execution of matters 
under his/her mandate. 

(e) Review — At least annually, the Committee shall consider and review with management and the Chief Auditor: 

(i) any diffi culties encountered in the course of internal audits, including any restrictions on the scope of internal audit work or access 
to required information; and

(ii) the compliance of internal audit with professional standards promulgated by the professional body regulating internal audits 

(iii) adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the internal audit department, staffi ng and seniority of the offi cial 
heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit.

(f) Audit Plans — The Committee approves the annual audit plan presented by the Chief Auditor.  The Chief Auditor, on a quarterly basis, 
will inform the Committee of the status of the Audit Plan and any scope slippage or changes needed. 
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(g)  Audit Reports – The Committee shall on a periodic basis review the fi ndings of internal audit, defi ciencies or opportunities for improvement 
notes, action plans agreed against status reports. In this regard the Committee can request for management to provide regular updates 
on corrective actions planned. 

(h)  Review Considerations - In conducting its review of the internal audit reports the Committee shall consider: 

(a) Management discussion and analysis of fi nancial condition and results of operations;

(b) Statement of signifi cant related party transactions (as defi ned by the committee), submitted by management;

(c) Management letters/letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory auditors;

(d) Internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses; and 

(e) Financial policies, processes, systems and controls covering, Accounting, Treasury, Taxation, Forex, Risk Management and Insurance.

Audit observations and progress to address the same will be tabled before the Committee at least 3 days in advance of the slotted meeting in 
order to allow members to review and discuss the same at the meeting. 

(iv) Risk Management and Internal Control Frameworks 

(a) Establishment, Review and Approval — The Committee shall require management to implement and maintain an appropriate Risk 
management and internal control framework in accordance with applicable laws, regulations and guidance, including internal control over 
fi nancial reporting and disclosure and will review, evaluate and, if advisable approve the frameworks with their associated procedures. At 
least annually, the Committee shall consider and review the Risk management and Internal Control Frameworks with management and 
the auditors relating to:  

(i) The ability of the framework to drive identifi cation and attention to primary business risks. 

(ii) The effectiveness of the risk framework to allow for risk mitigation strategies to be adopted and provide for an on-going monitoring 
mechanism to revalidate the risk assumptions / profi le of the organization.  

(iii) The design and operational effectiveness of the Internal Control framework and the effectiveness off, or weaknesses or defi ciencies 
in the design or operation of the internal controls; the overall control environment for managing business risks and accounting, 
fi nancial and disclosure controls (including, without limitation, controls over fi nancial reporting), operational controls, and legal and 
regulatory controls and the impact of any identifi ed weaknesses in internal controls on management’s conclusions;  

(iv) any signifi cant changes in the risk management framework (or risk appetite,  profi le) or internal control framework 

(v) any material design or operational issues raised by an incident, fraud or regulatory review 

(vi) adequacy of the internal control framework to address fraud prevention and detection, including defi ciencies in internal controls that 
may impact the integrity of fi nancial information, or may expose the company to other signifi cant internal or external fraud losses 
and the extent of those losses and any disciplinary action in respect of fraud taken against management or other employees who 
have a signifi cant role in fi nancial reporting or management; 

(vii) the business continuity management and insurance programs, including, reviewing and recommending for Board approval a 
resolution establishing certain limits of insurance, to meet the requirements of the established risk appetite 

(viii) any related signifi cant issues and recommendations of the external auditors and internal auditors together with management’s 
responses thereto, including the timetable for implementation of recommendations to correct weaknesses including those relating 
to risk management or internal controls over fi nancial reporting and disclosure controls. 

(ix) the self assessment, internal assessment and external assessment processes that constitute the continuous improvement cycle for 
the risk management and internal controls frameworks. 

(b) Policies and Procedures — The Committee shall review and, if advisable, approve key policies and procedures for the effective 
identifi cation, measurement, monitoring and controlling of the principal business risks (including reputation and legal risks) consistent 
with the approved risk limits and overall risk appetite.

(c) Reporting - The Committee shall report to the Board on all material risks reviewed by the Committee, which have the potential to impact 
the fi nancials of the company. 

(d) Outsourcing – At least annually, the Committee shall review all outsourcing arrangements established by management. 

(v)  Subsidiaries — The Committee shall be the audit committee for certain subsidiaries of the Company, as determined by the Committee from 
time to time. In meeting its responsibilities with respect to these subsidiaries, the Committee shall fulfi ll all responsibilities as if the present 
responsibilities applied to the said subsidiary. The Committee may however scale the scope of the responsibilities in keeping with the size and 
complexity of the subsidiary and re-scope the responsibilities accordingly but will at a minimum include:  

(a) review the annual fi nancial statements of the subsidiary prior to approval by its board of directors;

01_Directors_Report.indd   4301_Directors_Report.indd   43 8/21/2010   7:59:02 PM8/21/2010   7:59:02 PM



Fortis Healthcare Limited

44

(b) review regulatory returns of the subsidiary as required under applicable law; 

(c) require management of the subsidiary to implement and maintain appropriate internal controls over fi nancial reporting and fi nancial 
disclosure controls and procedures and approve, review and evaluate these procedures; 

(d) review the effectiveness of the subsidiary’s internal control over fi nancial reporting and fi nancial disclosure, including computerized 
information system controls and security, the overall control environment and accounting and fi nancial controls (including, without 
limitation, controls over fi nancial reporting), and the impact of any identifi ed weaknesses in internal control over fi nancial reporting 
on management’s conclusions with respect to their effectiveness;  

(e) review any related signifi cant issues and recommendations of the external and internal auditors together with management’s 
responses thereto, including the timetable for implementation of recommendations to correct weaknesses in internal controls; 

(f) review investments and such transactions that could adversely affect the well being of the subsidiary; and 

(g) meet with the external auditors of the subsidiary to discuss the annual fi nancial statements and the returns and transactions of such 
subsidiary, if applicable. 

(vi)  Regulatory Reports and Returns — The Committee shall provide or review, as applicable, all reports and returns required of the Audit, 
Risk and Controls Committee under applicable law.

(vii)  Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements — The Committee shall receive and review regular reports from the 
management on the legal or compliance matters that may have a material impact on the company; the effectiveness of the 
compliance policies; and any material reports received from regulators. The Committee shall review management’s evaluation of and 
representations relating to compliance with specifi c regulatory requirements, and management’s plans to remediate any defi ciencies 
identifi ed. 

  The Committee shall review management’s assessment of compliance with laws and regulations and report any material fi ndings to the 
Board and recommend changes it considers appropriate.

(viii)  Whistle blowing Procedures— The Committee shall review and approve the procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of 
complaints received by the Company from employees or others, confi dentially and anonymously, regarding accounting, internal accounting 
controls, or auditing matters.  

(ix)  Approval of Appointment of Chief Financial Offi cer (i.e. the whole-time Finance Director or any other person heading the fi nance 
function or discharging that function) before fi nalization of the same by the management. The Audit, Risk & Controls Committee, while 
approving the appointment of CFO shall assess the qualifi cations, experience & background etc.

(x)  Delegation — The Committee may designate a sub-committee to review any matter within this mandate as the Committee deems 
appropriate.

Investigative Power – The Committee shall have the authority:

(a) to investigate into any matter in relation to the items specifi ed herein or referred to it by the Board of Directors.

(b) to seek information from any employee and have full access to the information in the records of the Company.

(c) to obtain external professional advice.

(d) to secure attendance of outsiders with relevant expertise, if it considers necessary.

Review of information by AR&C Committee

Apart from other matters, as per Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, to the extent applicable, the AR&C Committee also reviews the following 
information:

1. Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial condition and results of operations;

2. Statement of signifi cant related party transactions, submitted by Management;

3. Internal Audit Reports relating to internal control weaknesses; and

4. The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of internal auditors.

Reporting to the Board- The Chairman of AR&C Committee shall report to the Board on matters arising at the Committee Meetings and, 
whereever applicable, shall present the Committee’s recommendations to the Board for its approval.  

Meetings of AR&C Committee and attendance during the year

Six AR&C Committee Meetings were held during the year ended March 31, 2010. These were held on (i) June 29, 2009 (ii) July 23, 2009 (iii) 
October 26, 2009 (iv) December 8, 2009 (v) January 22, 2010 and (vi) March 15, 2010.
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The attendance of members of the AR&C Committee at the said meetings was as follows:

S. No. Name of the Member No. of meetings 
held

No. of Meetings 
attended

1. Mr. V M Bhutani, Chairman 6 6

2. Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon 6 5

3. Mr. Harpal Singh 6 6

4. Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh 6 6

5. Dr. P.S. Joshi 6 5

6. Mr. Rajan Kashyap 6 6

7. Lt. Gen. T S Shergill 6 6

The Statutory Auditors, Internal Auditors, Managing Director (MD), Chief Executive Offi cer (CEO), Chief Financial Offi cer (CFO) and the Chief 
Financial Controller (CFC) are the permanent invitees to the meetings of Audit, Risk & Controls Committee.

4. SHAREHOLDERS’ / INVESTORS’ GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE: The Shareholders’/Investors’ Grievance Committee comprises of the following 
members:

(i) Dr. P. S. Joshi, Chairman

(ii) Mr. Harpal Singh

(iii) Mr. Ramesh L. Adige

(iv) Mr. Rajan Kashyap

(v) Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh

Ms. Ruchi Mahajan, Company Secretary acts as the Secretary to the Shareholders’ / Investors’ Grievance Committee as well as the Compliance 
Offi cer pursuant to Clause 47(a) of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges.

Terms of Reference 

— To approve/refuse/reject registration of transfer/transmission of Shares;

— To authorize issue of Duplicate Share Certifi cates and Share Certifi cates after Split / Consolidation/ Replacement/Re-materialization etc;

— To issue and allot shares and authorize printing of Share Certifi cates;

— To affi x or authorize affi xation of the Common Seal of the Company on Share Certifi cates of the Company;

— To authorize to sign and endorse Share Transfers and issue Share Certifi cates approved by the Committee on behalf of the Company;

— To authorize Managers/Offi cers/Signatories for signing Share Certifi cates;

—  To monitor redressal of shareholders’ and investors’ complaints about transfer of shares, non-receipt of balance sheet, non-receipt of 
declared dividends etc;

— Such other functions as may be assigned by the Board:

Details of investors’ grievances received during the year 2009-10:

S.No. Nature of Complaints Received Resolved / Attended Pending

1 Non receipt of Refund Order 07 07 Nil

2 Non receipt of credit of shares in Demat Account 08 08 Nil

3 Correction on Refund Order 0 0 Nil

4 Non receipt of credit of refund through ECS 0 0 Nil

5 Miscellaneous 04 04 Nil

TOTAL 19 19 Nil

The Company gives utmost priority to the redressal of Investors’ Grievances which is evident from the fact that all complaints received from the 
investors were resolved expeditiously, to the satisfaction of the investors.

There were ‘Nil’ share transfers lying pending as on March 31, 2010.

Four Shareholders’/Investors’ Grievance Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31st March 2010. These were held on (i) April 
29, 2009, (ii) July 24, 2009, (iii) October 27, 2009 and (iv) January 22, 2010.

5. HUMAN  RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (HR&R COMMITTEE): The Board of Directors of the Company in its meeting held on 1st 
May, 2010, redefi ned the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and renamed it as “Human  Resources and Remuneration Committee.”
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Composition

The HR&R Committee comprises of the following members:

(i)      Dr. P. S. Joshi, Chairman

(ii) Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon

(iii) Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh

(iv) Justice S. S. Sodhi

Terms of Reference

The Board of Directors has approved the following terms of reference for HR&R Committee: 

(i) Board of Directors

(a)  Board Nomination- The HR&R Committee shall assist the Board and its Chairman in identifying and fi nalizing suitable candidates as 
members of the Board. The Committee shall establish and recommend for Board approval appropriate criteria for the selection of Board 
and Board committee members, including competencies and skills that the Board, as a whole, should possess.

  The Committee is responsible for submitting nominations for consideration by the Board based on a review of the required skill sets 
and competencies. In making such nomination and if required, the Chairman of the Board and the Chair of the Human Resources and 
Remuneration committee would meet with the candidate to assess suitability, commitment and to obtain consent to serve on the Board 
before making such nomination. In making an assessment on suitability the committee will review the educational qualifi cations, integrity, 
potential confl icts and any independence concerns that may arise. It would be accepted best practice for the committee to maintain a list 
of potential candidates to facilitate nomination and ensure succession planning. 

(b)  Re-appointment proposals - The HR&R Committee is responsible for recommending reappointment of existing members for re-election. 
In making such recommendation the committee reviews the age, skill set, contribution, attendance and length of service on the Board of 
the candidates.

(c)  Board Compensation - The HR&R Committee recommends the compensations norms for members of the Board on an annual plan. In 
making such proposal the committee considers and is bound by statutory requirements, workload of Board members as a collective or as 
individuals, time commitment and responsibility, skill’s brought to compliment existing profi le and industry norms. It is to be ensured that 
no member is involved in deciding upon his/her own compensation. 

(d)  Orientation and Development - The Committee through the Chairman of the Board shall co-ordinate orientation and continuing Director 
development and education programs relating to the Boards mandate.

(e)  Evaluation - At least annually, the Committee shall conduct an assessment of the performance of the Board, the directors, each Board 
committee and the Chair of the Board against criteria the Committee considers appropriate. The Committee shall report its fi ndings to the 
Board and, based on those fi ndings, recommend any action plans that the Committee considers appropriate.

(f)  External Advisors - The Committee may retain and seek help of external consultants in data collection and recommendation formulation 
for the Board compensation policy and practices.  

(ii) Targets & Evaluation, Compensation, Employment Arrangements, Severance and Succession Planning  

(a)  Target Setting, Appraisal and Evaluation Process – The Committee shall upon recommendation of the management, review and 
approve the periodic target setting, appraisal and evaluation processes. These processes would establish requirements for management 
to set targets, measure performance against the same and base the payable remuneration to the degree of achievement. The supervisory 
and review responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure adequacy of design and operational effectiveness in the process rather than 
over the actual targets themselves. 

(b)  MD/CEO Compensation — At least annually, the Committee shall review, and, if advisable, approve and recommend for approval 
by the non-management members of the Board, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Offi cer’s compensation packages. The 
compensation package recommendation shall be based on their performance evaluation conducted pursuant to this mandate, as well as 
other factors and criteria, as may be determined by the Committee from time to time.  

(c)  MD/CEO Employment Arrangements — The Committee shall review, and, if advisable, approve and recommend for Board approval 
any arrangement with the Managing Director and Chief Executive Offi cer relating to employment terms, termination, severance, change 
in control or any similar arrangements. In undertaking this review, the Committee shall take into account the overall structure, costs and 
general implications of these arrangements. 

(d) Senior Management Compensation and Employment Arrangements — At least annually, the Committee shall review and, if advisable, 
approve the compensation and other employment arrangements of the senior management. The annual compensation recommendations 
shall be based on the performance evaluations conducted, as well as other factors and criteria, as may be directed by the Committee from 
time to time. 
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(e) Human Resource Plans — Prior to making any annual compensation determinations, the Committee shall review a comprehensive 
assessment from the Chief Financial Offi cer and the Chief People Offi cer on the performance of the company, strategic plans for the 
company in relation to manpower and skill set needs, market and industry norms relating to compensation, any human resource and 
compensation plans and recommendations on allocation towards spend. 

(f) Terminations and Severances — The Committee shall also review all terminations / severance of employments where such has been 
occasioned for cause of breach of policy. The decision on communication (internal and external) and if thought advisable, manner in 
which such communication relating to such terminations / severances is to be done rests with the Committee. 

(g) Succession Planning — At least annually the Committee shall review and approve a succession and emergency preparedness plan 
as presented by the Chief Executive Offi cer for the Chief Financial Offi cer and all senior management reporting directly to the Chief 
Executive Offi cer. The Committee shall review the succession pools for the balance of senior management and review progress against 
any corresponding development plans to address succession gaps. Upon the vacancy of any senior management position reporting 
directly to the Chief Executive Offi cer, the Committee, with the recommendation of the Chief Executive Offi cer, may make a replacement 
recommendation for Board approval based on the succession plan. 

(h) Share Ownership — The Committee shall review the share holdings of the CEO and such senior management as report directly to the 
MD/Chief Executive Offi cer, as well as a summary reports of other management at the Facility Director level and above. 

(i)  Stock Options – The Committee shall review and recommend to the Board for approval the grant of stock options or pension rights 
to the employees and/or Directors of the Company and subsidiary companies and perform such other functions as are required under 
Employees Stock Options Schemes of the Company, if any.

(j) Gratuities - The Committee shall review and recommend to the Board for approval the grant or payment of any gratuities, pension 
and allowances to any person or persons, their widowed spouses, children and dependents as may appeal to the Committee just 
and proper, whether any such person or persons is/are still in the service of the Company or has/have retired from its services 
and to make contribution to / from any other funds and pay premium for the purpose or for provision for such gratuity, pension or 
allowances.

(iii) Development Plans

At least annually, the Committee shall review the senior management development plans. These plans are to be formulated in alignment with 
the appraisal process and succession plans respectively. 

The review will include coverage of all internal and external training programs, coaching initiatives, high potential talent pool development and 
such development initiatives as may be in operation from time to time.    

(iv) Internal Controls, Regulatory Compliance and Human Resource Risks 

(a)  Assessment of Risk and Internal Controls — At least annually, the Committee shall review management’s assessment 
of significant human resource risks and the effectiveness of related internal controls and shall review a report on critical 
employee matters.  

(b) Assessment of Regulatory Compliance — The Committee shall review management’s assessment of compliance with laws and 
regulations as they pertain to responsibilities under this mandate, report any material fi ndings to the Board and recommend changes it 
considers appropriate. 

(c) Organization Changes — The Committee shall review and, if advisable, approve or recommend for Board or Management Committee 
approval any signifi cant organization changes, provided the Audit, Risk and Controls Committee shall review and approve any such 
change that impacts controls or the independence of key control groups such as internal audit, fi nance, legal, compliance and risk 
management. 

(d)  Human Resource Policies and Procedures - The Committee shall review and, if advisable approve human resource related policies 
and procedures before recommending the same to the Board for approval.     

(v) Residual – The Committee shall discharge such other function(s) or exercise such power(s) as may be delegated to the Committee by the 
Board from time to time.

(vi) Reporting to the Board- The Chair shall report to the Board on material matters arising at the Committee meetings and, where applicable, 
shall present the Committee’s recommendations to the Board for its approval. 

Meetings of HR&R Committee and attendance during the year

Two HR&R Committee Meetings were held during the year ended 31st March 2010. These were held on (i) June 29, 2009 and (ii) October 27, 
2009.
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The attendance of members of the HR&R Committee at these meetings was as follows:

S. No. Name of the Member No. of Meetings 
held

No. of Meetings 
attended

1. Dr. P S Joshi, Chairman 2 2

2. Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon 2 2

3. Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh 2 2

4. Justice S S Sodhi 2 2

The Company Secretary acts as the Secretary to the HR&R Committee.

Remuneration Policy & criteria of making payments to Executive and Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration policy of the Company is aimed at rewarding performance based on review of achievements on a regular basis and is in 
consonance with the existing industry practice.

The Directors’ remuneration policy of your Company conforms to the provisions of Companies Act, 1956. The Company is having only 
one Executive Director, designated as Managing Director. The remuneration paid/payable to the Managing Director is as recommended 
by the HR&R Committee, decided by the Board and approved by the Shareholders and if required by the Central Government and the 
same is reviewed periodically on the basis of qualifi cation, experience, responsibilities, performance of the concerned Director and 
industry practices.

The non-executive Directors are being paid sitting fees for attending the meetings of Board of Directors and various Committees of Board  
viz. Audit Risk & Controls Committee, Shareholders’/Investors’ Grievance Committee, Human Resources & Remuneration Committee and 
Management Committee.

The key components of the Company’s Remuneration Policy are:

• Compensation will be based on credentials and the major driver of performance.

• Compensation will be competitive and benchmarked with industry practice.

• Compensation will be fully transparent and tax compliant.

Remuneration to Directors

Executive Directors 

None of the Directors other than Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh, Managing Director is drawing any remuneration from the Company.

The Central Government had, vide its letter dated November 7, 2007, approved the payment upto a maximum of Rs. 27,014,400 p.a. for a 
period of three years with effect from November 13, 2006, to Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh. 

The details of remuneration paid to Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh during the fi nancial year ended March 31, 2010 is as under: 

(Amount in Rs.)

Salary Perquisites Commission / Performance 
Incentives

Others Total

7,674,000 15,027,000 0 10,20,000 23,721,000

The Company has made an application to the Central Government, seeking its approval for the payment of increased remuneration 
to Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh w.e.f. April 1, 2008 for his remaining tenure till November 12, 2009.

The Company has also made an application to the Central Government, seeking its approval for the re-appointment of Mr. Shivinder Mohan 
Singh as the Managing Director for a period of 3 years w.e.f. 13th November, 2009, at the increased remuneration.

The terms of re-appointment and the proposed increased remuneration payable to Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh for the aforesaid periods are 
given in the Notice of this Annual General Meeting.

Non-Executive Directors

Only sitting fees is being paid to Non-Executive Directors. The sitting fees paid to the Non- executive Directors for the fi nancial year ended 
March 31,2010 and their shareholding as on that date is given hereinafter:
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Name of Director Sitting
Fees*(Rs. in Lacs)

Shareholding in the Company as 
on  March 31, 2010

Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh 1.89 8,951

Mr. Balinder Singh Dhillon 1.62 22,000

Mr. Gurcharan Das 0.81 10,000

Mr. Harpal Singh 1.93 58,003

Dr. P S Joshi 1.57 33,000

Mr. Ramesh L Adige 1.08 800

Mr. Rajan Kashyap 1.98 6,800

Mr. Sunil Godhwani 1.17 38,500

Justice S S Sodhi 0.99 4,000

Lt. Gen T S Shergill 1.48 16,000

Mr. V M Bhutani 1.75 10,102

 *For attending the Board Meetings, Audit Risk & Controls Committee, Management Committee, Shareholders’ / Investors’ Grievance Committee Meetings and 

Human Resources & Remuneration Committee Meetings. 

The Company has not granted any stock options to any of its Directors.

Except the sitting fees being paid to the Directors from the Company / or its subsidiaries, as the case may be, there were no other pecuniary 
relationships or transactions of the Non-executive Directors vis-à-vis the Company.

6. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The Company is having two material non-listed subsidiaries i.e. Escorts Heart Institute And Research Centre Limited (EHIRCL) and Fortis 
Hospotel Ltd (FHTL). Dr. P.S. Joshi, who is an Independent Director on the Board of the Company is also a Director on the Board of EHIRCL 
and FHTL. The Audit, Risk & Controls Committee of the Company reviews the Financial Statements and investments made by the unlisted 
subsidiary companies. The minutes of the Board Meetings as well as the statements of signifi cant transactions and arrangements entered into 
by the unlisted subsidiaries, if any, are placed before the Board of Directors of the Company from time to time.

7. MD / CFO CERTIFICATION

The MD & CFO certifi cation as stipulated in the Clause 49 (V) of the Listing Agreement was placed before the Board alongwith Financial 
Statements for the year ended March 31, 2010. The Board reviewed and took the same on records. The said certifi cate is provided elsewhere 
in this Annual Report. 

8. AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As required by clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, the Auditors’ Certifi cate is given elsewhere in this Annual Report.

9. GENERAL BODY MEETINGS

The location and time of the Annual General Meetings and Extra- Ordinary General Meetings held during the preceding three fi nancial years 
are as follows:

Financial
Year

Date Time Venue Special Resolutions passed

Annual General Meetings

2006-07 27-09-2007 10.30 A.M. Air Force Auditorium, 
Subroto Park, 
New Delhi – 110 010

-  Inter-corporate investment in Religare Insurance Holding 
Company Limited

-  Alteration in Article 3 of Articles of Association relating to 
Authorized Share Capital of the Company.

- Authorization for issue of Securities
- Approval of Employee Stock Option Plan 2007
-  Consent to extend the benefi t of Employee Stock Option Plan 

2007 to the employees of Subsidiary Companies

2007-08 20-09-2008 3.30 P.M. Air Force Auditorium, 
Subroto Park, 
New Delhi – 110 010

-  Providing a Corporate Guarantee in favour of Yes Bank Limited 
(the Bank) in respect of term loan of Rs. 25 Crores sanctioned 
by the Bank to Escorts Heart Institute And Research Centre 
Limited (Passed through Postal Ballot)

-  Providing a Corporate Guarantee in favour of Indusind Bank 
Limited (the Bank) in respect of Credit Facilities of Rs. 100 
Crores sanctioned by the Bank to Company and certain 
subsidiaries of the Company (Passed through Postal Ballot)
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Financial
Year

Date Time Venue Special resolution passed

2008-09 25-09-2009 10.30 A.M Air Force Auditorium, 
Subroto Park, 
New Delhi – 110 010

-  Increase in remuneration payable to Mr. Shivinder Mohan 
Singh, for his remaining tenure as Managing Director of the 
Company.

-  Re-appointment of Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh, Managing 
Director of the Company for a period of 3 years w.e.f November 
13, 2009.

-  Ratifi cation of all actions taken for implementation for 
“Employee Stock Option Plan- 2007.”

Extra-Ordinary General Meetings

2006-07 25-09-2006 10.00 A.M. Library Hall, II Floor, 
Escorts Heart Institute 
And Research Centre, 
Okhla Road, 
New Delhi – 110 025

-  Alteration of Capital Clause of Memorandum of Association of 
the Company.

-  Consequent Alteration of Articles of Association of the Company.
-  Approval for issue and allotment of redeemable preference 

shares.

26-12-2006 9.30 A.M. Auditorium, New 
Basement, Escorts 
Heart Institute And 
Research Centre, 
Okhla Road, 
New Delhi – 110 025

-  Inter-corporate loan and investment pursuant to Section 372A 
of the Companies Act, 1956 in Hiranandani Healthcare Private 
Limited.

-  Increase in remuneration of Mr. Harpal Singh.
-  Re-appointment of Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh as Managing 

Director of the Company.
- Issue and allotment of shares on preferential basis.

26-02-2007 12.30 A.M. Escorts Heart Institute 
And Research Centre, 
Okhla Road, 
New Delhi – 110 025

-  Issue and allotment of shares on preferential basis.
-  Authorisation to make inter-corporate investments/loans 

pursuant to Section 372A of the Companies Act, 1956 in 
Sunrise Medicare Private Limited.

-  Authorisation to place inter-corporate deposits with Religare 
Finvest Limited.

10 DETAILS OF RESOLUTIONS PASSED BY WAY OF POSTAL BALLOTS

During the year ended March 31, 2010, pursuant to Section 192A of the Companies Act, 1956 read with Companies (Passing of Resolutions 

by Postal Ballots) Rules, 2001, the shareholders of the Company have approved following resolutions by means of postal ballots, vide Notice 

of Postal Ballots dated February 10, 2010 and whose results were declared on 22nd March 2010, at the registered offi ce of the Company at 

Escorts Heart Institute And Research Centre, Okhla Road, New Delhi-110025:

(i) Special Resolution under Section 81(1A) for issue of securities upto Rs.1250 Crores (Rupees One Thousand Two Hundred Fifty Crores). 

(ii)  Ordinary Resolution under Section 293(1)(d) for increasing the borrowing powers of the Company upto Rs. 3000 Crores (Rupees Three 

Thousand Crores only).

(iii)  Ordinary Resolution under Section 293(1)(a) for approving the creation of mortgage, charge or hypothecation (from time to time) on the 

movable or immovable properties of the Company.

Details

For the conduct of Postal Ballot exercise, Mr. Vineet K Choudhary of M/s V.K. Choudhary & Co, Company Secretary in practice, was appointed 

as Scrutinizer.

Summary of the results of the aforementioned Postal Ballots, announced by Mr. V M Bhutani, Director of the Company, on March 22, 2010 is 

as follows:

S.No. Item No. of valid postal ballot 
forms received

Votes cast in favour of the 
resolution

Votes against the 
resolution

1. Special Resolution under Section 81(1A) for 
issue of securities

1129
(representing 24,42,81,267 

equity shares)

1093
(representing 24,29,42,230 

equity shares)

36
(representing 13,39,037 

equity shares)

2. Ordinary Resolution under Section 293(1)(d) 
for increasing the Borrowing Powers of the 
Company

1105
(representing 24,42,78,318 

equity shares)

1060
(representing 24,42,70,541 

equity shares)

45
(representing 7,777 equity 

share)

3. Ordinary Resolution under Section 293(1)(a) 
to approve creation of mortgage, charge or 
hypothecation (from time to time) on the moveable 
or immovable properties of the Company

1102
(representing 24,42,77,735 

equity shares)

1043
(representing 24,42,68,107 

equity shares)

59
(representing 9,628 equity 

shares)
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Procedure for voting by Postal Ballots: The Notice of Postal Ballot along with the Explanatory Statement pertaining the draft resolution(s) 

explaining in detail the material facts alongwith the Postal ballot Form and the self-addressed , postage prepaid business reply envelope, are 

sent to all the members, under Certifi cate of Posting.

The Shareholder are required to carefully read the instructions printed in the Postal Ballot Form, fi ll up the Form, give their assent or dissent 

on the resolution(s) at the end of the Form and sign the same as per the specimen signature available with the Company or Depository 

Participants, as the case may be, and return the form duly completed in the attached self-addressed  postage prepaid envelope so as to reach 

the scrutinizers before the close of working hours of the last date fi xed for the purpose. Postal Ballots Forms received after this date are strictly 

treated as if the forms have not been received from the member.

The scrutinizer appointed for the purpose scrutinizes the postal ballots received and submits his report to the Company.

Voting rights are reckoned on the basis of number of shares and paid-up value of shares registered in the name of the shareholders as on a 
specifi ed date. A resolution is deemed to have been passed as special resolution if the votes cast in favour are at least three times more than 
the votes cast against and in case of ordinary resolution, the resolution is deemed to have been passed, if the votes cast in favour are more 
than the votes cast against.

Further, presently no resolution has been proposed to be passed through Postal Ballot. 

11. DISCLOSURES

Related parties transactions: The details of the transactions with related parties or others, if any, as prescribed in the Listing Agreement 
are placed before the Audit, Risk & Controls Committee periodically. During the year under review, the Company has not entered into any 
transaction of material nature with its Subsidiaries, Promoters, Directors or the Management, their relatives etc. that may have any potential 
confl ict with the interest of the Company at large.

Accounting Treatment: While in the preparation of fi nancial statements, no treatment different from that prescribed in an Accounting Standards 
has been followed.

Utilization of Proceeds from Issue: The proceeds from the Initial Public Offering (IPO), Rights Issue of Equity Shares with detachable warrants 
and Issue of Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds are being utilized as per the objects of the respective issue and the same are placed before 
the AR&C Committee periodically for its review.

Compliances by the Company The Company has complied with requirements of the Stock Exchanges, SEBI and other statutory authorities 
on all matters relating to capital markets during the last three years.

No penalties or strictures have been imposed on the Company by the Stock Exchanges, SEBI and other statutory authorities relating to the above.

Corporate Governance Voluntary Guidelines 2009

During the year, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, published the Corporate Governance Voluntary Guidelines 2009. These 
Guidelines have been published keeping in view the objective of encouraging the use of better practices through voluntary adoption, which 
not only serve as a benchmark for the corporate sector but also help them in achieving the highest standard of corporate governance. These 
guidelines provide corporate India a framework to govern themselves voluntarily as per the highest standards of ethical and responsible conduct 
of business. The Ministry hopes that adoption of these guidelines will also translate into a much higher level of stakeholders’ confi dence which 
is crucial to ensure the long-term sustainability and value generation by business. The guidelines broadly focuses on areas such as Board 
of Directors, responsibilities of the Board, audit committee functions, roles and responsibilities, appointment of auditors, Compliance with 
Secretarial Standards and a mechanism for whistle blower support. 

The Company’s policies and practices embrace some of the elements of the Corporate Governance Voluntary Guidelines 2009 issued by the 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs. The Company will be reviewing its Corporate Governance parameters in the context of the other recommendations 
under the said Guidelines for appropriate adoption in keeping with the Company’s business model.

12. MANAGEMENT

(A) Management Discussion and Analysis forms part of this Annual Report. 

(B) During the year under review, no material fi nancial and commercial transaction has been entered by  Senior Management personnel, 
where they have any personal interest that may have potential confl ict of the Company at large. The Company has obtained requisite 
declarations from all senior management personnel in this regard and the same were duly placed before the Board of Directors on 
periodic basis.

13. OTHER DISCLOSURES

1. Pursuant to the Letter of offer dated September 22, 2009 (the “ Letter of offer”), the Company had issued and allotted 
90,646,936 equity shares of Rs. 10 each at a premium of Rs. 100 per share alongwith equal number of detachable warrants. 
Pursuant to a resolution dated April 29, 2010, the Issue Committee of the Board of Directors have approved the conversion 
of warrants into equity shares at an exercise price of Rs.153. For this purpose, the Company had fixed May 17, 2010 as the 
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record date for determining the warrant holders who are entitled to exercise the conversion of Detachable Warrants and their 
respective entitlements and notice period for exercise of warrants has been fixed as from May 21, 2010 to June 19, 2010. 
Other than the aforesaid detachable warrants and stock options issued by the Company under “Fortis Employee Stock Option 
Plan 2007,” of the Company details whereof is given in Directors’ Report, as on March 31, 2010, no GDR’s / ADR’s / warrants 
or any other convertible instrument is outstanding.

2. In terms of Shareholders Agreements entered into by a subsidiary of the Company, Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (FGHML) 
with Newbridge Singapore Co Investment Pte Ltd, Newbridge Singapore Healthcare Partners Pte Ltd and Newbridge Singapore Medical 
Partners Pte Ltd, FGHML had acquired 23.84% stake in Parkway Holdings Limited (PHL) on March 19, 2010. FGHML has further 
acquired 0.85 stake in PHL through purchase from open Market till March 31, 2010. And thus, PHL has become an associate of the 
Company with effect from March 19, 2010.

3. The Company has issued 1,000, 5.00 percent Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds of US $ 1,00,000 each aggregating US $ 100 Million 
in May, 2010 due for redemption on May 18, 2013. These bonds are listed on Luxembourg Stock Exchange and are convertible at the 
option of the bondholders between May 2013 to May 2015.

4. Subject to necessary approvals, the Company proposes to issue 2,23,52,940 (Nos) equity shares of Rs. 10 each at a premium of 
Rs. 160 per share on Preferential Basis to Lathe Investment Pte Ltd, an affi liated investment vehicle of GIC Special Investment Pte Ltd, 
Singapore. The Board has also decided to convene an Extra- ordinary General Meeting of the Company on June 9, 2010 for obtaining 
approval of the shareholders for this purpose.

5. Companies from which the Promoters have dis-associated in the last three years

Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh and Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh have disassociated from Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited on November 7, 
2008. Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh and Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh sold 2,120,742 and 2,668,362 equity shares held by them respectively 
in Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited on November 7, 2008.  Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh and Shivinder Mohan Singh resigned from the board 
of Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited with effect from May 24,2009 and December 19, 2008 respectively.

14. PROHIBITION OF INSIDER TRADING:

In compliance with SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 1992, as amended from time to time, the Company has instituted a 
comprehensive code of conduct for its management and staff. The Code lays down the guidelines, which advises them on procedures to be 
followed and disclosures to be made, while dealing with the shares of the Company.

15. MEANS OF COMMUNICATION:

a) Quarterly Results: The quarterly fi nancial results are generally published in Business Standard/Economic Times/Financial Express/Jansatta.

b) Website: The quarterly, half yearly and annual fi nancial statements are posted on the Company’s website viz. www.fortishealthcare.com

c) News Release, Presentations: The Company also makes a presentation to the investors and analysts after taking on record the quarterly 
results by the Company. The press releases/offi cial news, detailed presentation made to media, analysts, institutional investors etc are displayed 
on the Company’s website. Offi cial Media Releases are also sent to the Stock Exchanges before dissemination to the media.

d) Intimation to the Stock Exchanges:  The Company also intimates the Stock Exchanges all price sensitive information or such other 
matters which in its opinion are material and of relevance to the Shareholders.

16. GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual General Meeting

i) Date of AGM

  The Annual General Meeting is proposed to be held on September 18, 2010 at 11.00 A.M. at Air Force Auditorium, Subroto Park, New 
Delhi-110010.

 Posting of Annual Report  On or before August 25, 2010

 Last date of receipt of Proxy Form September 16, 2010 till 11.00 A.M.

ii) The Financial Year of the Company is starting from April 1 and ending on March 31 of next year.

iii) Financial Calendar 2010-2011 (tentative & subject to change) 

S. No. Tentative Schedule Tentative Date (on or before)

1. Financial Reporting for the quarter ending 30th June, 2010 14th August, 2010

2. Financial Reporting for the quarter ending 30th September, 2010 15th November, 2010

3. Financial Reporting for the quarter ending 31st December, 2010 14th February, 2011

4. Financial Reporting for the quarter ending 31st March, 2011* 14th May, 2011

5. Annual General Meeting for the year ending 31st March, 2011 End of September, 2011

*As provided in Clause 41 of Listing Agreement, Board may also consider submission of Audited Financial Results for the year 2010-11, in lieu of Unaudited 
Financial Results for the fourth quarter, on or before 14th May, 2011(or such other period as may be stipulated from time to time).
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iv) Date of Book Closure

  The Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will remain closed from Wednesday, September 15, 2010 to 
Saturday, September 18, 2010 (both days inclusive).

v) Listing on Stock Exchanges 

  The Company’s Equity Shares are listed on the following Stock Exchanges:

 •  National Stock Exchange of India Limited.(NSE), Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra(E), Mumbai-400051

 • The Bombay Stock Exchange Limited(BSE),PJ Towers, Dalal Street, Fort, Mumbai-400001

Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds of the Company are listed on Luxembourg Stock Exchange (LSE)  and are admitted to trading on 
the EURO MTF market of the LSE.

The Company has paid listing fees to all the above Stock Exchanges and there are no outstanding payment as on date.

vi) Stock Code of Equity Shares / FCCBs

 Trade Symbol at National Stock Exchange of India Limited is FORTIS

 Stock Code at Bombay Stock Exchange Limited is 532843

 ISIN for Equity INE061F01013

 ISIN for FCCBs: XS0508392817

 Common code for FCCBs: 0508339281

vii)  Stock Market Data / Liquidity: The Company’s shares are among the actively traded shares on NSE & BSE. The monthly trading volumes 
of the Company’s shares on these exchanges and comparison with broad-based indices,viz. NSE Nifty and BSE Sensex is as follows.

Month Share Price (Rs.) at BSE Share Price (Rs.) at NSE

High Low Volume High Low Volume

April 2009 75.20 65.25 107,615,527 74.90 65.10 2,972,637

May 2009 109.70 67.75 892,037,183 109.75 67.45 14,083,274

June 2009 126.45 94.05 1,698,168,034 126.00 94.25 24,574,259

July 2009 106.45 76.15 776,945,297 106.40 76.00 14,740,051

August 2009 121.35 98.00 1,264,276,474 121.40 96.00 23,317,819

September 2009 115.30 108.00 420,730,555 116.50 103.65 7,688,154

October 2009 116.30 101.10 384,072,756 116.85 101.00 7,423,734

November 2009 114.80 96.50 256,617,892 114.25 96.15 5,344,057

December 2009 138.40 107.50 1,485,270,863 138.50 92.00 24,780,576

January 2010 150.00 132.60 1,095,864,617 149.90 130.20 15,540,485

February 2010 162.45 135.10 1,962,868,681 170.00 136.40 26,411,016

March 2010 187.50 156.70 3,370,440,836 187.50 156.80 54,343,714

Stock Price Performance - FHL Vs BSE Sensex
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Stock Price Performance - FHL Vs NSE Nifty
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viii) Registrar and Transfer Agent

 Link Intime India Private Limited (formerly known as Intime Spectrum Registry Limited) are acting as  Registrar and Transfer Agents(RTA) for 
handling the shares related matters both in physical as well as dematerialized mode. All work relating to equity shares are being handled by 
them. The Shareholders are therefore, advised to send all their correspondence directly to the RTA. The address for communication is:

 Link Intime India Private Limited
 A-40, 2nd Floor, Naraina Industrial Area, Phase – II, 
 Near Batra Banquet Hall, New Delhi – 110028
  +91 11 41410592/93/94  +91 11 41410591
 Email: delhi@linkintime.co.in

  However, for the convenience of shareholders, correspondence relating to shares received by the Company is forwarded to the RTA for 
necessary action thereon.

ix) Nomination Facility

 The shareholders holding shares in physical form may, if they so want, send their nominations in prescribed Form 2B of the Companies 
(Central Government’s)General Rules and Forms,1956,(which can be obtained from the Company’s RTA or downloaded from the 
Company’s website www.fortishealthcare.com) to the Company’s RTA. Those holding shares in dematerialized form may contact their 
respective Depository Participant (DP) to avail the nomination facility.

x) Dematerialization of Shares

 As on March 31, 2010, 3,161,785,160 Equity shares representing 99.64% of the paid up Equity Capital of the Company had been de-
materialized.

 The Company’s Equity shares have been allotted ISIN (INE061F01013) both by the National Securities Depository Ltd. (NSDL) and 
Central Depository Services (India) Ltd. (CDSL). 

xi) Elimination of Duplicate Mailing

 The shareholders who are holding Shares in more than one folio in identical name or in joint holders’ name in similar order, may send the 
share certifi cate(s) along with request for consolidation of holding in one folio to avoid mailing of multiple Annual Reports.

xii) Share Transfer System

  The Company’s share transfer authority has been delegated to the Managing Director. The delegated authority attends the share transfer 
formalities on fortnighty basis to expedite all matters relating to transfer, transmission, transposition, split and rematerialization of shares 
and taking on record status of redressal of Investors’ Grievance, etc., if any. The share certifi cate received by the Company/RTA for 
registration of transfers, are processed by RTA (on a fortnightly basis) and transferred expeditiously and the endorsed Share Certifi cate(s) 
are returned to the shareholder(s) by registered post.

 As per the requirements of clause 47(c) of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchanges, the Company has obtained the half yearly 
certifi cates from a Company Secretary in Practice for due compliance of share transfer formalities.
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xiii) Secretarial Audit

 The Secretarial Audit as stipulated under Regulation 55A of SEBI(Depositories and Participants) Regulations,1996, was carried out by 
a Practicing Company Secretary  for each of the quarter in the fi nancial year 2009-10, to reconcile the total issued capital, listed capital 
and capital held by depositories in dematerialized form. The Secretarial Audit Reports confi rms that the total issued/paid up capital is in 
agreement with the total number of shares in physical form and the total number of dematerialized shares held with the depositories. The 
Secretarial Audit Report for each quarter of the Financial Year ended March 31, 2010, has been fi led with Stock Exchanges within one 
month of end of the respective quarter.

xiv) Demat Suspense Account as per Amended Clause 5A of the Listing Agreement:

 Pursuant to the insertion of Clause 5A in the Listing Agreement, the Company has opened a Demat Suspense Account–“Fortis 
Healthcare Limited IPO Suspense Account” and other information as required under amended Clause 5A of the Listing Agreement 
is as follows: 

i. Aggregate Number of the Shareholders and the outstanding shares in the suspense account lying at the beginning of the year i.e. 
April 01, 2009: 67 shareholders and 7599 shares.

ii. Number of shareholders who approached issuer for transfer of shares from suspense account during the year: 12 Shareholders for 
2112 Shares.

iii. Number of shareholders to whom shares were transferred from suspense account during the year: 11 Shareholders for 2052 Shares.

iv. Aggregate number of Shareholders and the outstanding shares in the suspense account lying at the end of the year i.e. March 31, 
2010: 56 Shareholders and 5547 shares.

 The voting rights of these shares shall remain frozen till the rightful owners of such shares claim the subject shares. The details of the 
shares that have not been credited to Demat Account and are lying in “Fortis Healthcare Limited IPO Suspense Account” can be viewed 
at Investor Section on the Company’s website www.fortishealthcare.com and the concerned persons are requested to apply to the 
Company/RTA with requisited documents for transfer of shares to their Demat Account.

xv) Share Dematerialization System

 The requests for dematerialization of shares are processed by RTA expeditiously and the confi rmation in respect of dematerialization 
is entered by RTA in the depository system of the respective depositories, by way of electronic entries for dematerialization of shares 
generally on weekly basis. In case of rejections, the documents are returned under objection to the Depository Participant with a copy to 
the shareholder and electronic entry for rejection is made by RTA in the Depository System.

xvi) Distribution of Shareholding as on 31st March, 2010

Number of equity shares held No. of Shareholders % age of Shareholders Amount ( in Rs.) (%) to Total
Upto 2,500 78,890 81.18 6,88,92,630 2.17

2,501 to 5,000 11,909 12.25 4,35,65,910 1.37
5,001 to 10,000 3,417 3.52 2,78,68,380 0.88
10,001 to 20,000 1,444 1.49 2,23,18,050 0.70
20,001 to 30,000 492 0.51 1,27,41,550 0.40
30,001 to 40,000 184 0.19 66,52,510 0.21
40,001 to 50,000 224 0.23 1,07,84,870 0.34

50,001 to 1,00,000 276 0.28 2,15,45,890 0.68
1,00,001 and above 343 0.35 295,88,66,300 93.25

Total 97,179 100.00 317,32,36,090 100.00

xvii) Pattern of Shareholding as on 31st March, 2010

S.No. Category Number of Shareholders No. of Shares held % of Shareholding
1. Promoters and Promoter Group 10 242,648,645 76.47
2. Mutual Funds and UTI 16 2,954,070 0.93
3. Banks, Financial Institutions 7 3,425,954 1.08
4. FII’s/Foreign Companies 29 11,333,750 3.58
5. Indian Body Corporates 1,417 21,542,219 6.79
6. NRIs/Foreign Nationals 1,136 893,182 0.28
7. Indian Public 91,841 24,056,901 7.58
8. Others 2,723 10,468,888 3.29

Total 97,179 317,323,609 100.00

xviii) Lock-in of Equity shares 

 Pursuant to the Initial Public Offer of 4,59,96,439 Equity shares in April, 2007, as per SEBI (DIP) Guidelines 2000, 4,53,33,307 pre-issue 
Equity Shares, held by the promoters, were locked in till May 3, 2010.
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xix) Employee Stock Options

 The Company has in place the Employee Stock Option Plan 2007 under which a permanent employee of the Issuer or the Subsidiaries, 
whether working in India or abroad and directors of the Issuer and the Subsidiaries (other than an employee who is a Promoter or part 
of the Promoter Group, or a Director who directly or indirectly holds more than ten per cent of the outstanding equity share capital of 
the Issuer) is eligible for stock options. The grant of these options to eligible employees shall not exceed one per cent of the issued and 
subscribed equity share capital of the Issuer at the time that the options were granted to such employees. Detailed information relating 
to ESOPs, has been given as an Annexure II to the Directors’ Report.

xx) Hospital Location

 Fortis Hospital-Mohali
 Sector-62, Phase-VIII,
 SAS Nagar, Mohali,
 Punjab-160062 

xxi) Address for Correspondence: 

For share transfer/dematerialization of shares, 
payment of dividend and any other query relating 
to shares 

Link Intime India Private Limited
A-40, 2nd Floor, Naraina Industrial Area, Phase – II, 
Near Batra Banquet Hall, New Delhi – 110028
Telephone No.:+91 11 41410592/93/94 
Fax No.:+91 11 41410591
Email: delhi@linkintime.co.in

For Investor Assistance The Company Secretary,
Fortis Healthcare Limited
Escorts Heart Institute And Research Centre,
Okhla Road, New Delhi 110025
Telephone No.: +91 11 2682 5000 
Fax No.: +91 11 4162 8435
Email:secretarial@fortishealthcare.com
Website: www.fortishealthcare.com

17. NON-MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS UNDER CLAUSE 49

Board of Directors Governance Standards

A.  On May 1, 2010, the Board adopted Standards for its Governance, named as “Board Governance Standards” formulating therein the standards 
relating to its composition, its responsibilities, expectations from Board Members, tenure of Board Members, compensation, board evaluation 
and training, Director’s orientation and education etc. The said Governance Standards is available on our website.

B. Remuneration Committee

  The Board of Directors has constituted a HR&R Committee, of which majority is composed of Independent Directors. The details of HR&R 
Committee and its powers have already been discussed in this report.

C. Shareholders Rights

  The quarterly/half-yearly results, after they have been taken on record by the Board of Directors, are sent forthwith to the Stock Exchanges 
where Company’s shares are listed. The results in the prescribed performa are published in leading English and Hindi dailies. The results 
are also made available on Company’s website www.fortishealthcare.com.

Declaration as required under Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement

All Directors and Senior Management personnel of the Company have affi rmed compliance with the provisions of the Fortis Code of Conduct for 
the fi nancial year ended March 31, 2010.

 Sd/-
 Shivinder Mohan Singh
May 18, 2010, New Delhi Managing Director
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MD AND CFO CERTIFICATE

To the Board of Directors of Fortis Healthcare Limited

We, Shivinder Mohan Singh, Managing Director and Yogesh Sareen, Chief Financial Offi cer, certify that:

(a) We have reviewed fi nancial statements and the cash fl ow statement for the year ended March 31, 2010 and that to the best of our knowledge 
and belief:

(i) these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements that might be 
misleading;

(ii) these statements together present a true and fair view of the company’s affairs and are in  compliance with existing Accounting Standards, 
applicable laws and regulations. 

(b) There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year which are fraudulent, illegal or 
violative of the Company’s Code of Conduct.

(c) We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for fi nancial reporting and have evaluated the effectiveness of 
internal control systems of the Company pertaining to fi nancial reporting and we have disclosed to the auditors and the Audit, Risks & Controls 
Committee, defi ciencies in the design or operation of such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps they have taken or 
propose to take to rectify these defi ciencies.

(d) We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit, Risks & Controls Committee that:

(i) there has not been any signifi cant change in internal control over fi nancial reporting during the year under reference;

(ii) there has not been any signifi cant changes in accounting policies except to the extent already disclosed in the fi nancial statement(s); and 

(iii) there are no instances of signifi cant fraud of which we had become aware and the involvement therein, if any, of the management or an 
employee having a signifi cant role in the company’s internal control system over fi nancial reporting.

Place: New Delhi
Date : May 24, 2010

Shivinder Mohan Singh 
Managing Director

Yogesh Sareen
Chief Financial Offi cer

AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE

To 
The Members of Fortis Healthcare Limited

We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Fortis Healthcare Limited, for the year ended on March 31, 2010, as 
stipulated in clause 49 of the Listing Agreement of the said Company with stock exchanges.

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management. Our examination was limited to procedures and 
implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of the Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit 
nor an expression of opinion on the fi nancial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company has complied with the 
conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above mentioned Listing Agreement. 

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the effi ciency or effectiveness with which 
the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.
Firm registration number: 301003E
Chartered Accountants

per Pankaj Chadha
  Partner 
Membership No.: 91813

Place: Gurgaon
Date : May 28, 2010
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HEALTHCARE SECTOR: CURRENT STATUS & RECENT 
DEVELOPMENTS

Healthcare Sector: Asia

Healthcare Sector is emerging as one of the fast growing service 
sector globally spurred primarily by a growing population, increase in 
disposable income, predominance of lifestyle related ailment and an 
aging population. The current dynamics of the health care industry in 
Asia are creating great opportunities because of:

(i) Rapidly escalating demand for health care services within Asia 
and abroad,

(ii) Comparative cost advantages of health care delivery services in 
Asia and 

(iii) Faster economic growth and increase in disposable income.

In addition, the developed economies such as United Kingdom and 
United States are experiencing rising cost of healthcare deliveries 
leading them to seek low cost alternatives. American and European 
patients are increasingly looking towards Asia’s emerging economies 
as a new destination for low cost quality medical services.

The high demand for healthcare services and relatively leaner to 
cost structures have led Asian countries to develop infrastructure, 
high-quality supply of health care services. India and other emerging 
economies in the region are well positioned to capitalize the increasing 
demand.

Healthcare Sector: India

The health care system in India is characterized by multiple systems 
of medicine, mixed ownership patterns and different kinds of delivery 
structures. Public sector ownership is divided between Central and 
State Governments, Municipal and Panchayat Local Governments. 
Public health facilities include teaching hospitals, secondary level 
hospitals, fi rst-level referral hospitals (CHCs or rural hospitals), 
dispensaries, primary health centres (PHCs), sub-centres, and health 
posts. Also included are public facilities for selected occupational 
groups like organized work force (ESI), defence, government employees 
(CGHS), railways, post and telegraph and mines among others. The 
private sector (for profi t and not for profi t) is the dominant sector with 
50 per cent of people seeking indoor care and around 60 to 70 per 
cent of those seeking ambulatory care (or outpatient care) from private 
health facilities. While India has made signifi cant gains in terms of 
health indicators - demographic, infrastructural and epidemiological, 
it continues to grapple with the challenges of affordability and 
accessibility. 

India spends about 5.3% of GDP on health. The spend on 
healthcare by the state accounts for 20% of the same. Further, the 
Indian healthcare plagued with shortages of infrastructure, talent, 
absence of robust regulatory framework.

OUTLOOK & OPPORTUNITIES

Growing Economy

Since the year 1990, India has emerged as one of the fastest growing 
economies in the world. Indian economy has witnessed signifi cant 
growth rate of more than 6% over past six years.

GDP Growth of India
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With a growing economy, increased urbanization and of higher 
disposable income, the demand for healthcare is expected to increase 
at faster pace. This will further lead to investment in creation of additional 
bed capacity and technologies. 

Population Growth

With a population of 1.17 billion in 2009, India represents almost 17% of 
the world population and is the second most populated country in the 
world. The large growing population resulted in an increase of India’s 
overall healthcare spend from less than USD20 billion in 2000 to USD 
35 billion for the year 2008. The Indian healthcare sector employs over 
four million people, making it one of the largest service industries in the 
economy. However, the most pronounced comparative advantage the 
Indian Healthcare posses is “cost”.

Changing Population Demographics

The population growth coupled with increased live expectancy, has led 
to a rise in the elderly population. As a result, India has the second 
largest geriatric population in the world. This population (of people 
aged over 65 years) shall continue to grow over the next few decades 
leading to an enormous requirement for greater healthcare infrastructure 
catering to the disease profi le of this age group.

The present infant mortality rate (IMR) of India is 32.31 per 1000 live 
births, a signifi cant reduction from an IMR of 64.9 in the year 2000. 
However, it is still much higher than that of many other developing 
countries and refl ects the need to improve accessibility to healthcare 
in all parts of the country. 

Further, India has one of the largest middle class populations in the 
world. With a growing economy and rising income levels, this group is 
likely to fuel demand for better quality healthcare.

Disease Profi le

Communicable Disease: India traditionally has a high incidence 
of infectious and chronic degenerative disease. While majority of 
ailments such as leprosy, polio, tetanus are soon to be eliminated 
due to aggressive public healthcare initiatives, some communicable 
diseases such as dengue fever, malaria, tuberculosis and pneumonia 
have developed resistance to drugs or diagnostic tools and have been 
spreading with increased vigor. In addition to infectious diseases, India 
is battling with the emergence of diseases such AIDS as well as food 
and water borne diseases. The rural population is most affected by the 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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spread of these types of disease. These diseases are mostly treated by 
out-patient departments; however, the testing of these diseases alone 
requires signifi cant investment in healthcare.

Non Communicable & Lifestyle Diseases: As affl uence amongst the 
Indian population increases along with the adoption of western diets 
and increase in sedentary lifstyle, a higher incidence of diseases 
such as hypertension, diabetes and cancer are reaching epidemic 
proportions. These diseases demand a higher cost in treatment as 
well as specialized care and will signifi cantly contribute to increased 
demand for novel therapies and better quality healthcare.

Public and Private Investment in Healthcare

There has been a signifi cant increase in public healthcare infrastructure 
with the number of hospital beds increasing from 3.2 per 10000 
population in 1947 to 9 per 10000 population today. However this still 
remains far below WHO recommended norms of 33 bed per 10,000. The 
Government share of the healthcare delivery market is approximately 
20%. Recognizing the importance of healthcare in the process of 
improving the quality of life as also the Economic & Social Development 
of our citizens, the Government of India is running various schemes:

a. National Rural Health Mission(NRHM): Launched in April 2005, 
with the goal to improve the availability of and access to quality 
health care by people, especially for those residing in rural areas, 
the poor, women and children. 

b. Janani Sursksha Yojna (JSY): Within the umbrella of NRHM, 
Scheme was launched to provide comprehensive medical care 
during pregnancy and child birth and thereby endeavor to improve 
the level of institutional deliveries in low performing states to 
reduce maternal mortality.

c. Rashtriya Swasthaya Bima Yojna (RSBY): Initiated in April 
2008, the objective of RSBY is to provide the insurance cover to 
below poverty line (BPL) households from major health shocks 
that involve hospitalization etc.

Public Sector: Healthcare Infrastructure

Particulars Budget FY10
(in INR/ mn)

National Rural Health Mission 141270

Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojna 3500

Ayush 7340

Institutes like AIIMS in Tier II Cities 14480

Medical Education for OBC 1000

Other Heads 43540

Total 211130

Whilst the Government of India has increased the spend on healthcare, 
however it is still far from the desired levels. Further, most of the spend 
focuses towards the primary and secondary care leaving the private 
sector to pitch in for providing facilities for tertiary and quaternary care. 
Unlike in most of the developed nations, the private healthcare industry 
in India benefi ts from low government interference and fewer regulations. 
The wide usage of private healthcare results in an increasingly cost 
competitiveness and  quality consciousness in the industry in India. The 
healthcare market in India is expected to touch USD 77 billion by 2012.

Brand Consciousness

With increase in demand of quality healthcare within and from overseas, 
industry is receiving lot of attention and investment from Private players. 

Most of big corporate players are expanding their operations not only across 
the country but also outside the Indian boundaries. People are becoming 
more conscious of their health and preferring the branded hospitals having 
specialized services with latest technology and talent pool.

Support from Government 

The government has identifi ed strategies like the NRHM and schemes 
like RSBY to facilitate healthcare growth. Apart from reforms on the 
public healthcare front, there are initiatives by the Central Government 
which promote private participation in the sector. Government is giving 
tax incentives under Section 80IB of Income Tax Act to encourage setting 
up new hospitals of 100 beds or more anywhere in India. Similarly, the 
government is providing incentives under section 35D of Income Tax 
Act where under the whole of capital expenditure would be allowed as 
deductible expenditure in the year the hospital commences operations. 

Private Health Insurance:

India is a low-income country with 26% population living below the 
poverty line and 35% illiterate population with skewed health risks. 
Insurance is limited to only a small proportion of people in the organized 
sector covering less than 10% of the total population. Currently, there 
is no mechanism or infrastructure for collecting mandatory premium 
among the large informal sector. There continues to be lack of awareness 
among people about health insurance. Health insurance further suffers 
from problems like adverse selection, moral hazard, cream-skimming 
and high administrative costs. Much of the focus of the existing schemes 
is on hospitalization expenses.

Healthcare expenses in India are primarily borne out-of-pocket by the 
patients. With most of the healthcare requirements being met by private 
healthcare service providers, usually cost burden is high resulting in 
foregoing of hospital care in some cases. With private insurance players 
entering the market, it is expected that the monetary burden of treatment for 
the common man will reduce substantially. This in turn will drive more people 
to seek healthcare services, thus aiding in growth of the private sector. 

Medical Tourism

Medical tourism is increasingly becoming a popular option for elective 
treatments by the patients across the globe leading to rapid growth in Indian 
healthcare sector. The availability of high healthcare sector at fraction of the 
cost to developed nation provide the patients with the value proposition 
which blends leisure with medical care in a wholsome manner.

Medical Tourism industry in India is evolving though it existed here for 
centuries. Indian advantage is slowly getting refl ected in getting patients 
for medical treatment from countries like Bangladesh, Pakistan and 
Middle East. NRIs have become another major source. However, there 
exists tremendous scope for increasing patients fl ow from developed 
as well as healthcare defi cient nation.
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RISK, CHALLENGES & THREATS

The healthcare sector faces various challenges also, as the country 
looks forward to growth and better standards of medical care. Poor 
infrastructure, the demand-supply gap in healthcare, geographical 
accessibility are some notable challenges before the sector. 

Government Funding & Initiatives

Despite the high rate of growth witnessed by India in past few years 
the growth in social development has been comparatively low. The 
resource allocation to social sectors particularly health and education 
continue signifi cantly lower than desired levels. As stated earlier, public 
expenditure on health services as a percentage of Gross Domestic 
Product (GDP) in India is less than 1 percent.

Health Care Infrastructure 

India tags behind developed economies and emerging economies such 
as Brazil, Russia and China in provision and availability of adequate 
health care infrastructure. The current bed to population ratio of 9 is 
way below the global average of 33 beds per 10,000 population.

Number of Hospital Beds per 10,000

Country Beds/10,000

Japan 141

France 73

Switzerland 57

Australia 40

USA 32

Thailand 29

Malaysia 18

India 9

(Source: WHO)

Talent Pool

India currently has about 600,000 doctors and about 1.6 million nurses. 
As per the WHO norms for developing countries, this translates to a 
shortfall of 1.4 million and 2.8 million doctors and nurses respectively. 
Besides doctors and nurses there is also a shortage of paramedical and 
administrative staff.

Affordability

Since independence, the issue of poverty within India has remained a 
persistent concern. As of 2010, more than 37% of India’s population still 
lives below the poverty line. More than 22% of the entire rural population 
and 15% of the urban population of India exists in this diffi cult physical 
and fi nancial predicament. Affordability of standard medical services 
rendered by private sectors is matter of great concern.

Accessibility

Some of the healthcare facilities available in the eight metro cities in 
India can be considered of international standards. However, this level 
of health care has not yet percolated to the Tier II, III Cities and Rural 
India. People residing in Tier II, Tier III Cities and especially Rural India 
have to travel long distances to access quality healthcare services.

Financing Infrastructural Needs

Healthcare sector is a capital intensive sector and requires tremendous 
outlay at the initial stages. The biggest portion of this capital expenditure 
is typically spent on land acquisition and building infrastructure. The 
other option with health care services providers is to acquire real estate 
properties on lease at a reasonable cost. This was aptly brought out 
in the forefront by the retail industry. The challenge is more in the 
healthcare sector where gestation periods are long and accessibility is 
of prime importance.

The healthcare industry in India has a clear divide. On one hand there 
are state of the art facilities that cater to the middle and upper class 
and medical tourists with high – quality medical care. On other end of 
the spectrum, a majority of the population has limited or no access to 
quality care. 

Overall, the emerging scenario in Asia Pacifi c economies offers exciting 
opportunities to expand depth and width of their services, investing 
health care education and deploy and cutting edge technologies to 
cater increasing patient base. 

THE COMPANY

The Company is one of the leading operators in tertiary care healthcare 
delivery market. The Company is committed to deliver quality 
healthcare services to patients in modern facilities through the use of 
advanced technology and has a team of doctors, nurses and healthcare 
professionals who follow international protocol. The management team 
of the Fortis Group has a disciplined approach to capital deployment 
which has created signifi cant value for its shareholders over time. The 
Company had an eventful year wherein it made big strides in positioning 
Fortis as a serious international player. The Company also continued its 
growth momentum on the domestic front and most of the hospitals 
reported improved performance. 

Acquisition of Wockhardt Hospitals

During the year, the Company consummated the acquisition of 
Greenfi eld Hospitals division of Wockhardt Hospitals Ltd. comprising 
of 10 hospitals in metro cities of Mumbai, Bengaluru  and Kolkata 
(including 2 under construction), on a going-concern basis. The 
acquisition augmented bed capacity by 1902 beds (including 534 beds 
in 2 under construction projects) and provides signifi cant presence in 
southern, western and eastern India. The acquisition was made under a 
wholly owned subsidiary, Fortis Hospitals Ltd and funded partly by the 
recently concluded Rights Issue, internal accruals and debt.

This acquisition is in line with Fortis’s strategy of deep penetration in 
key metro cities. With the acquisition, the Company has established 
its presence across India with a network of 48 hospitals (including 9 
hospitals under various stages of construction) and an installed bed 
capacity of ~ 7700 beds. Fortis will now have 6 hospitals in Bengaluru, 
4 hospitals in Mumbai and 3 hospitals in Kolkata apart from a signifi cant 
presence in NCR. The acquired hospitals are delivering high end 
critical care to both domestic and international patients in the areas 
of Cardiac, Neuro Sciences, Orthopedics, Minimal Invasive Surgery, 
Renal Sciences, Kidney and Liver transplants. Two of the acquired 
Wockhardt hospitals have the coveted international accreditation by 
JCI (Joint Commission International). With this the Company now have 
4 JCI accredited hospitals in its network. This positions the Company 
strongly as a quality destination of choice for medical value travel.
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The existing talented team of medical and non-medical professionals 
of  wockhardt have transitioned to Fortis’s system and continue to run 
the operations to consistently deliver compassionate and high quality 
patient care. 

Footprints Outside India

After Fortis Clinique Darné in Mauritius, in a landmark deal, the Company  
acquired a strategic stake (23.8%) in Parkway Holdings Limited (PHL), 
Singapore in a deal valued at US$685.3 million on March 19, 2010 from 
TPG Capital. Incorporated in 1974, Parkway is the leading healthcare 
provider in Singapore and Malaysia. However, subsequent to Fortis 
acquiring a strategic stake in PHL @ S$3.56 per share in March’10; 
M/s Khazanah, a sovereign fund of the Malaysian government and the 
second largest shareholder in PHL, came out with a Voluntary Partial 
Conditional Open Offer (VPO) on 27th May to increase its stake to 
51.5%. The offer was made at a price of S$3.78 per share representing 
a 26% premium to the then existing market price. Your Company is 
evaluating various options to repond to this VPO.

Expansion and Upcoming Projects

Shalimar Bagh hospital is complete in all respects and is awaiting a 
few statutory clearances prior to commencement of operations. The 
hospital is spread over an area of approximately 7.34 acres of land and 
will have 350 beds in 1st phase. On commissioning it will offer super-
specialty healthcare services in Cardiac Sciences, Orthopedics, Neuro-
Sciences, Renal care, Mother and Child care and Gastroenterology.

Fortis International Institute of Bio Medical Science (FIIBMS): The 
construction of the fl agship hospital is progressing as per schedule. 
This will be a premium multi super-specialty hospital spread over 11 
acres of land with bed capacity of 450 in phase I. The hospital would 
be equipped with other modern infrastructure state of our technology 
and is expected to be completed during the Q4 FY2011. The hospital 
will have “Centers of Excellence” in Oncology, Trauma, Paediatrics’, 
Mother & Child care, Cosmetology, Gastroenterology, Neuro-sciences 
and Renal care. The hospital is designed to offer best medical care as 
per international protocols and shall also be focusing on medical value 
travel. 

Kolkata Project: This is one of the under construction hospital bought 
from Wockhardt and the work has been kick-started post acquisition. 
The 414 bedded hospital at EM Bypass road is planned to be 
commissioned in Q2 FY2011 and would be a “Centre of Excellence” 
in Cardiac Sciences, Brain & Spine, Bone & Joints as well as Minimal 
Access Surgeries for the eastern India.

Mulund Expansion Project: The Mulund Hospital had started 
construction of a radiation oncology unit and the project was stalled for 
want of fi nances for over a year by erstwhile Promoters. The expansion 
involves the addition of 335 beds in phases, to decongest the existing 
hospital and to add more critical care beds. Phase I involving setting up 
of a radiation oncology unit consisting of a high end linear accelerator 
and a brachy therapy system which shall supporting existing surgical 
and medical oncology programmes. The radiation oncology unit is 
expected to be commissioned by Q2 FY2011.

Others: The Cunningham Road hospital at Bangalore is also undergoing 
a refurbishing and upgrade exercise which is expected to be completed 
by Q3 FY11. Furthermore, the Company has also taken up projects 
involving enhancement of operational bed capacity at Jaipur and Fortis 
Escorts Heart Institute, Delhi.

STRENGTHENING OPERATIONAL PROCESSES

IT Project (FORTIS NXT)

Project “Next” kicked off during the Q3 FY2010 with a dedicated 28 
member team and technical members from HCL. The Project is aimed 
at standardizing processes and improving the control environment in 
order to facilitate delivery of high quality services in a consistent and 
effi cient manner. Further it enables centralisation of shared services 
and provide analytical capabilities to identify and replicate best 
practices amongst the network hospitals. The project is expected to 
be completed by Q1FY 2012 with role out optimized solution in all the 
key facilities.

Project JOSH

This project was aimed at simplifi cation and standardization of nursing 
processes to improve patient outcomes, increase quality of patient 
care and increasing effi ciency. Post implementation, units have 
clearly observed improved quality of patient care and higher level of 
productivity. 

FINANCIALS

The Company has reported consolidated total Income of Rs.988 Crores 
(a growth of +49%) and Earning before Interest, Depreciation and Tax 
of Rs.191 Crores, (+67%). The Company has reported cash profi t of 
Rs.69.5 Crores as against Rs.20.8 Crores for previous year, refl ecting 
a growth of 234%. 

Your company initiated several new medical programs and performed 
various complex surgeries during the year. The oncology block at 
Noida hospital was commissioned in January, 2010 offering services in 
medical oncology, radiation therapy and surgical oncology with plans 
to offer a bone marrow transplant of international standards. This has 
state-of-the-art technology including PET CT scan and IGRT, triology. 
The Malar hospital received the heart transplant license during the last 
quarter of the fi nancial year and the fi rst transplant was performed in 
Q1 FY2011. The hospitals across the network performed over 39,000 
cardiac procedures, over 3,000 Neurological and over 7,000 orthopaedic 
procedures.

Fortis Escorts Heart Institute received the prestigious “Joint Commission 
International” Certifi cation which represents the ‘international gold 
standard in quality for healthcare delivery organizations. Four hospitals 
of the Fortis network were conferred the prestigious, “FICCI Healthcare 
Excellence” awards. The FICCI Healthcare Excellence Awards aims 
at recognizing organizations across India for their contributions to 
healthcare services to masses; commemorate the increased effi ciency 
and improved performance of healthcare sector and honour those who 
have resolved key challenges faced by Indian healthcare industry.

The Company during the year successfully completed fund raising 
exercise through Right Issue for its expansion plans. The Company 
allotted 9,06,46,936 Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each to the shareholders 
of the Company as on record date and/or to their renounces, at a 
premium of Rs.100/- per equity share, for an amount aggregating to 
Rs. 9971 million, on a rights basis. Further, the Company has also 
issued and allotted one Detachable Warrant for every one Equity 
Share allotted as above to the eligible shareholders and/or to their 
renounces and accordingly, 9,06,46,936 detachable warrants have 
been issued and allotted to the eligible shareholders and/or to their 
renounces.
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In order to fund the future acquisitions, the company initiated the 
process for offering 5% Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds to be 
listed at the Luxembourg stock exchange. The issue was successfully 
concluded in the May 2010.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR ADEQUACY

The Company believes that its internal control systems and procedures 
are commensurate with its size and provides, among others, a 
reasonable assurance that transactions are executed with Management 
authorization and ensure preparation of fi nancial statements are 
prepared conformity with established accounting principles and that the 
assets of the Company are adequately safeguarded against signifi cant 
misuse or losses.

The internal control systems are supplemented through an extensive 
internal audit program and periodic review by the Audit Committee. The 
Internal Audit function at the group is outsourced to professional auditing 
fi rms and the extensive program of Internal Audits is simultaneously 
supplemented by periodical management reviews and a tight budgetary 
control mechanism. During the year, services of Walker Chandiok & 
Company and JRA & Associates were retained and M/s BMR, Sanjeev 
Khanna & Associates were engaged for carrying out internal audit of 
various functions and processes at our network hospitals.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Company believes that the Human Resources represent the most 
valuable assets which provide and edge over its competitors. During 

the year, approximate 5.37 man-days of training were imparted to the 
employees of the Company. This excludes time spent on specialized 
training and academic research related to doctors where continuous 
medical education, medical symposiums, guest lectures are organized 
on routine basis. The total manpower of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as on March 31, 2010 stood at 11049.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT 

Except for the historical information contained herein, statements in 
this discussion which contain words or phrases such as ‘will’, ‘would’, 
‘indicating’, ‘expected to’ etc., and similar expressions or variations of 
such expressions may constitute ‘forward-looking statements’. These 
forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties 
and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those suggested by the forward-looking statements. These 
risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to our ability to 
successfully implement our strategy, future business plans, our growth 
and expansion in business, the impact of any acquisitions, our fi nancial 
capabilities, technological implementation and changes, the actual 
growth in demand for our products and services, cash fl ow projections, 
our exposure to market risks as well as other general risks applicable 
to the business or industry. The Company undertakes no obligation to 
update forward-looking statements to refl ect events or circumstances 
after the date thereof. These discussions and analysis should be read 
in conjunction with the Company’s fi nancial statements included herein 
and the notes thereto.
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Auditors’ Report

To 

The Members of Fortis Healthcare Limited 

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of Fortis Healthcare 1. 
Limited (‘the Company’) as at March 31, 2010 and also the Profi t 
and Loss account and the Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 
on that date annexed thereto. These fi nancial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on 
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 2. 
generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement.  
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall fi nancial statement presentation.  We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 (as 3. 
amended) issued by the Central Government of India in terms of 
sub-section (4A) of Section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956, we 
enclose in the Annexure a statement on the matters specifi ed in 
paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order.

Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to above, we 4. 
report that:

i. We have obtained all the information and explanations, which 
to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for 
the purposes of our audit;

ii. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law 
have been kept by the Company so far as appears from our 
examination of those books;

iii. The balance sheet, profi t and loss account and cash fl ow 
statement dealt with by this report are in agreement with the 
books of account;

iv. In our opinion, the balance sheet, profi t and loss account 
and cash fl ow statement dealt with by this report comply 
with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section 
(3C) of section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956.

v. On the basis of the written representations received from the 
directors, as on March 31, 2010, and taken on record by the 
Board of Directors, we report that none of the directors is 
disqualifi ed as on March 31, 2010 from being appointed as 
a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section (1) of section 
274 of the Companies Act, 1956.

vi. In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the said accounts 
give the information required by the Companies Act, 1956, 
in the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India;

in the case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs a) 
of the Company as at March 31, 2010; 

in the case of the profi t and loss account, of the profi t b) 
for the year ended on that date; and

in the case of cash fl ow statement, of the cash fl ows for c) 
the year ended on that date.

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.
Firm registration number: 301003E 
Chartered Accountants

per Pankaj Chadha
Partner 
Membership No.: 91813

Place: Gurgaon
Date: May 28, 2010
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Annexure referred to in paragraph 3 of our report of even date

Re: Fortis Healthcare Limited (‘the Company’)

(i) (a)  The Company has maintained proper records showing full 
particulars, including quantitative details and situation of 
fi xed assets.  

 (b) The Company has a policy of verifying the fi xed assets once 
in two years. Fixed assets have been physically verifi ed by 
the management during the current year. The frequency of 
physical verifi cation, in our opinion, is reasonable having 
regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its 
assets. As informed, no material discrepancies were noticed 
on such verifi cation.

 (c) There was no substantial disposal of fi xed assets during 
the year. 

(ii) (a) The management has conducted physical verifi cation of 
inventory at reasonable intervals during the year.

 (b) The procedures of physical verifi cation of inventory followed 
by the management are reasonable and adequate in relation 
to the size of the Company and the nature of its business. 

 (c) The Company is maintaining proper records of inventory 
and no material discrepancies were noticed on physical 
verifi cation.

(iii) (a) As informed, the Company has not granted any loans, 
secured or unsecured to companies, fi rms or other parties 
covered in the register maintained under section 301 of the 
Companies Act, 1956. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 
4(iii) (a), (b), (c) and (d) of the Companies (Auditors Report), 
2003 are not applicable to the Company.

 (b) The Company has taken loan, in the form of unsecured 
debentures from a company covered in the register 
maintained under section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956. 
The maximum amount involved during the year was Rs. 
26,000 lacs and the year-end balance of loans taken from 
such party was Rs. 26,000 lacs.

 (c) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the rate of interest and other terms 
and conditions for such loans are not prima facie prejudicial 
to the interest of the Company.

 (d) In respect of loans taken, repayment of the principal amount 
is as stipulated and payment of interest have been regular.                                                                                            

(iv) As per the information and explanations given to us, certain items 
of inventory and fi xed assets, due to their unique, specialized or 
proprietary nature, are purchased without inviting comparative 
quotations. Read with the above, in our opinion, there is an 
adequate internal control system commensurate with the size 
of the Company and the nature of its business with regard to 
purchase of inventory and fi xed assets and for the sale of goods 
and services. During the course of our audit, no major weakness 
has been noticed in the internal control system in respect of these 
areas. During the course of our audit, we have not observed any 
continuing failure to correct major weakness in internal control 
system of the company.

(v) (a)  According to the information and explanations provided by 
the management, we are of the opinion that the particulars 
of contracts or arrangements referred to in section 301 of 
the Act  that need to be entered into the register maintained 
under section 301 have been so entered.

 (b) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the transactions made in 
pursuance of such contracts or arrangements exceeding 
value of Rupees fi ve lakhs have been entered into during the 
fi nancial year at prices which are reasonable having regard 
to the prevailing market prices at the relevant time.

(vi) The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public.

(vii) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system 
commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

(viii)  To the best of our knowledge and as explained, the Central 
Government has not prescribed maintenance of cost records 
under clause (d) of sub-section (1) of section 209 of the Companies 
Act, 1956 for the products / services of the Company.

(ix) (a) The Company is generally regular in depositing with 
appropriate authorities undisputed statutory dues including 
provident fund, investor education and protection fund, 
employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, wealth-
tax, service tax, customs duty, cess and other material 
statutory dues applicable to it. The provisions relating to 
excise duty are not applicable to the Company.  Further, 
since the Central Governent has till date not prescribed 
the amount of cess payable under section 441 A of the 
Companies Act,1956, we are not in a position to comment 
upon the regularity  or otherwise of the company in 
depositing the same.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to us, 
no undisputed amounts payable in respect of provident fund, 
investor education and protection fund, employees’ state 
insurance, income-tax, wealth-tax, service tax, sales-tax, 
customs duty, cess and other undisputed statutory dues were 
outstanding, at the year end, for a period of more than six 
months from the date they became payable. The provisions 
relating to excise duty are not applicable to the Company.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given to 
us, there are no dues of income tax, sales-tax, wealth tax, 
service tax, custom duty and cess which have not been 
deposited on account of any dispute. The provisions relating 
to excise duty are not applicable to the Company.

(x) The Company’s accumulated losses at the end of the fi nancial 
year are less than fi fty per cent of its net worth and it has not 
incurred cash losses in the current and immediately preceding 
fi nancial year. 

(xi) Based on our audit procedures and as per the information and 
explanations given by the management, we are of the opinion 
that the Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to a 
fi nancial institution, bank or debenture holders.

(xii)  Based on our examination of documents and records, we are of 
the opinion that the Company has maintained adequate records 
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where the Company has granted loans and advances on the basis 
of security by way of pledge of shares, debentures and other 
securities.

(xiii) In our opinion, the Company is not a chit fund or a nidhi / mutual 
benefi t fund / society. Therefore, the provisions of clause 4(xiii) of 
the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 (as amended) are 
not applicable to the Company.

(xiv)  In our opinion, the Company is not dealing in or trading in shares, 
securities, debentures and other investments. Accordingly, the 
provisions of clause 4(xiv) of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2003 (as amended) are not applicable to the Company.

(xv) According to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has given guarantee for loans taken by others from 
banks or fi nancial institutions, the terms and conditions whereof 
in our opinion are not prima-facie prejudicial to the interest of the 
Company.

(xvi) Based on information and explanations given to us by the 
management, term loans were applied for the purpose for which 
the loans were obtained.

(xvii) According to the information and explanations given to us and 
on overall examination of the balance sheet of the Company we 
report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been used 
for long-term investment.

(xviii)  The Company has not made any preferential allotment of shares 
to parties or companies covered in the register maintained under 
section 301 of the Companies Act, 1956.

(xix)  During the period covered by our audit report, the Company 
has issued 260 unsecured debentures of Rs. 10,000,000 each. 
These debentures are to be redeemed at various dates between 
November 25, 2010 and November 25, 2014. Accordingly, the 
Company was not required to create any security or charge in 
respect of these debentures.

(xx) We have verifi ed that the end use of money raised by way of 
public issues is as disclosed in  Note 14 of Schedule 24 to the 
fi nancial statement.

(xxi)  Based upon the audit procedures performed for the purpose of 
reporting the true and fair view of the fi nancial statements and as 
per the information and explanations given by the management, 
we report that no fraud on or by the Company has been noticed 
or reported during the course of our audit.

For S.R. Batliboi & Co. 
Firm registration number: 301003E 
Chartered Accountants

per Pankaj Chadha
Partner 
Membership No.: 91813 

Place: Gurgaon
Date: May 28, 2010
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STANDALONE BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2010
(Rs. in lacs)

Schedules As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SOURCES OF FUNDS 

Shareholders’ Funds  

  Share Capital 1 32,165.00 23,870.65 

  Reserves & Surplus 2 137,362.52 70,437.79 

169,527.52 94,308.44 

Loan Funds  

  Secured Loans 3 4,965.52 11,393.51 

  Unsecured Loans 4 119,240.00 17,101.89 

124,205.52 28,495.40 

TOTAL 293,733.04 122,803.84 

APPLICATION OF FUNDS 

Fixed Assets

  Gross Block 5 14,016.95 13,294.61 

  Less : Accumulated depreciation and amortisation 6,795.86 5,785.72 

  Net Block 7,221.09 7,508.89 

  Capital Work in Progress including Capital Advances 57.68 39.79 

7,278.77 7,548.68 

Investments 6 139,543.30 75,198.04 

Current Assets, Loans & Advances 

  Inventories 7 312.03 259.53 

  Sundry Debtors 8 4,882.43 4,472.55 

  Cash and Bank Balances 9 1,039.64 4,686.61 

  Other Current Assets 10 369.15 278.68 

  Loans and Advances 11 138,063.43 28,380.44 

144,666.68 38,077.81 

Less : Current Liabilities & Provisions 

  Current Liabilities 12 8,522.79 11,775.77 

  Provisions 13 625.07 596.92 

9,147.86 12,372.69 

Net Current Assets 135,518.82 25,705.12 

Miscellaneous Expenditure 
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

14 104.86 50.06 

Profi t and Loss Account 11,287.29 14,301.94 

TOTAL 293,733.04 122,803.84 

Notes to Accounts 24

The schedules referred to above and notes to accounts form an integral part of the Balance Sheet.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Firm registration number: 301003E  
Chartered Accountants 
 Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh  
 Chairman Managing Director
per Pankaj Chadha  
Partner 
Membership No. 91813  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
 Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place : Gurgaon Place : New Delhi
Date : May 28, 2010 Date : May 28, 2010
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STANDALONE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
(Rs. in lacs)

Schedules   For the 
Year Ended 

March 31, 2010

  For the
Year Ended

March 31, 2009 
INCOME 

  Operating Income 15 20,981.61 17,445.50 

  Other Income 16 4,114.68 1,899.72 

25,096.29 19,345.22 

EXPENDITURE

  Materials Consumed 17 5,491.09 5,264.12 

  Personnel Expenses 18 4,722.97 4,255.30 

  Operating Expenses 19 5,562.19 4,237.38 

  Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 20 2,972.62 2,887.34 

18,748.87 16,644.14 

Profi t before Financial Expenses, Depreciation and Amortisation 6,347.42 2,701.08 

  Financial Expenses 21 2,227.58 2,194.65 

Profi t before Depreciation and Amortisation 4,119.84 506.43 

  Depreciation and Amortisation 5 1,078.52 1,154.03 

Profi t / (Loss) before Tax and Prior Period Items 3,041.32 (647.60)

  Fringe Benefi t Tax - 50.87 

Net Profi t / (Loss) after Tax and before Prior Period Items 3,041.32 (698.47)

  Less : Prior Period Items 22 26.67 16.50 

Net Profi t / (Loss) for the year 3,014.65 (714.97)

  Add: Balance brought forward from previous year (14,301.94) (13,586.97)

Net Profi t / (Loss) carried over to the Balance Sheet (11,287.29) (14,301.94)

Earnings / (Losses) Per Share [Nominal value of shares Rs. 10/- each 
(Previous Year Rs. 10/-)]

23

Basic 1.14 (0.32)

Diluted 1.13 (0.32)

Notes to Accounts 24 

The schedules referred to above and notes to accounts form an integral part of the Profi t and Loss Account.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Firm registration number: 301003E  
Chartered Accountants 
 Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh  
 Chairman Managing Director
per Pankaj Chadha  
Partner 
Membership No. 91813  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
 Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place : Gurgaon Place : New Delhi
Date : May 28, 2010 Date : May 28, 2010
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STANDALONE CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars Year Ended
March 31, 2010

Year Ended
March 31, 2009 

A. Cash fl ow from operating activities 
Net profi t / (loss) before tax and prior period items  3,041.32  (647.60)
Less: Prior period items  (26.67)  (16.50)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and Amortisation  1,078.52  1,154.03 
Loss on sale of fi xed assets  47.68  101.28 
Profi t on sale of investments  (630.17)  (5.39)
Provision for doubtful debts  483.36  282.79 
Bad debts / sundry balances written off  17.46  28.14 
Arrangement fee written off  25.20  22.82 
Foreign exchange fl uctuation (gain)/ loss  (25.03)  213.00 
Unclaimed balances and excess provisions written back  (7.93)  (16.19)
Wealth tax  4.18  1.92 
Interest income  (3,331.84)  (1,816.44)
Interest expense  2,103.14  2,094.68 
Operating profi t before working capital changes 2,779.22 1,396.54 
Movements in working capital :
Increase in sundry debtors  (910.69)  (1,196.48)
Increase in inventories  (52.50)  (11.43)
(Increase) / Decrease in loans and advances  (455.61)  370.41 
Increase in other current assets  (103.46)  (44.06)
Increase in current liabilities and provisions  396.72  509.82 
Cash generated from operations 1,653.68 1,024.80 
Direct taxes paid (including Fringe Benefi t Tax)  (67.48)  (81.86)
Net cash from operating activities (A) 1,586.20 942.94 

B. Cash fl ows from investing activities 
Purchase of fi xed assets  (232.32)  (869.70)
Proceeds from sale of fi xed assets  123.57  207.94 
Fixed deposits with banks (maturity of more than 3 months)*  (624.86)  -   
Loans to subsidiaries (net)  (111,105.92)  (6,702.46)
Deposits with bodies corporate and others (net)  1,944.10  4,838.25 
Purchase of investments in subsidiaries and associates  (58,295.89)  (4,189.11)
Investments in mutual funds (net)  (5,419.20)  5.39 
Proceeds from sale of investments of subsidiaries  -    60.00 
Interest received  3,344.84  2,259.13 
Net cash used in investing activities (B) (170,265.68) (4,390.56)

C. Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities 
Proceeds from issuance of equity share capital including premium (net of issue expenses)  98,454.45  -   
Proceeds from issuance of preference share capital including premium  26,000.00  1,450.00 
Redemption of non-cumulative redeemable preference shares including premium  (53,731.18)  (1,451.05)
Proceeds from issuance of non convertible debentures  26,000.00  10,000.00 
Redemption of non convertible debentures including premium  -    (10,301.37)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  90,000.00  7.34 
Repayment of long-term borrowings  (10,009.89) (4,353.91)
(Repayments) / Proceeds of short-term borrowings (net)  (10,254.97) 14,368.21 
Loan arrangement fees paid  (20.00) -   
Interest paid  (2,030.75) (2,073.44)
Net cash from fi nancing activities (C) 164,407.66 7,645.78 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C) (4,271.82) 4,198.16 
Total cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4,686.61 488.45 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 414.79 4,686.61 
Components of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in hand 17.52 15.02 
Cheques in hand 6.93 0.27 
Balances with scheduled banks on current and cash credit accounts 154.07 106.16 
Balances with scheduled bank on deposit account 236.27 4,565.16 
Total 414.79 4,686.61 

*(includes Rs. 573.09 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 3,863.98 lacs) unutilised funds from IPO)  

Notes: 
1. The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in the Accounting Standard 3 on Cash Flow Statement.
2. Negative fi gure have been shown in brackets.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Firm registration number: 301003E  
Chartered Accountants 
 Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh  
 Chairman Managing Director
per Pankaj Chadha  
Partner  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
Membership No. 91813  Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place : Gurgaon Place : New Delhi
Date : May 28, 2010 Date : May 28, 2010
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

   As at
March 31, 2010

 As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 1 :
SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised:
 600,000,000 (Previous Year 600,000,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each  60,000.00  60,000.00 
 200 (Previous Year 200) Class ‘A’ Non-Cumulative Redeemable 

Preference Shares of Rs. 100,000 each
 200.00  200.00 

 11,498,846 (Previous Year 11,498,846) Class 'B' Non-Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each

 1,149.88  1,149.88 

 64,501,154 (Previous Year 64,501,154) Class 'C' Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each

 6,450.12  6,450.12 

67,800.00  67,800.00 
Issued:
 317,323,609* (Previous Year 226,666,533) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  31,732.36  22,666.65 
 1,600,000 (Previous Year 1,750,000) Class 'C' Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 

Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each
 160.00  175.00 

 3,196,000** (Previous Year 11,600,000) Class 'C' Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each

 287.64  1,044.00 

32,180.00 23,885.65 
Subscribed & Paid Up:
 317,323,609 (Previous Year 226,666,533) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  31,732.36  22,666.65 
 1,450,000 (Previous Year 1,600,000) Class 'C' Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 

Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each
 145.00  160.00 

 3,196,000** (Previous Year 11,600,000) Class 'C' Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each

 287.64  1,044.00 

Of the above:
 i) 242,193,340 (Previous Year 154,795,150) Equity Shares are held by Fortis 

Healthcare Holdings Limited, the holding company.
 ii) 520,000 (Previous Year 520,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each are allotted as fully 

paid up pursuant to the order of Hon'ble High Court of Delhi dated October 7, 
2005, for consideration other than cash.

 iii) Previous Year 600,000 Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each were held by Fortis 
Healthcare Holdings Limited, the holding company. 32,165.00 23,870.65

* Excludes 90,646,936 detachable warrants issued and outstanding as at March 31, 2010 (Refer note 
21 of Schdule 24)

** Refer note 15 and 16 of  Schedule 24
For details of outstanding Stock options , refer note 11 of Schedule 24.

SCHEDULE 2 :
RESERVES & SURPLUS 
Amalgamation Reserve 156.00 156.00 
 (Pursuant to the order of the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi dated 

October 07, 2005 in respect of amalgamation of an erstwhile 
subsidiary with the Company)

Securities Premium Account
 Balance as per last account 70,281.79 
 Add : Premium received during the year on issue of Redeemable 

Preference Shares (Refer note 18 of Schedule 24)
25,974.00 

 Add : Premium received during the year on issue of Equity Shares 
( Refer note 21 of Schedule 24)

90,652.39 

 Less: Accrual for premium payable on redemption of Non-
Convertible Debentures (Refer note 19 of Schedule 24)

1,027.27 

 Less: Accrual for premium payable on redemption of Redeemable 
Preference Shares (Refer note 22 of Schedule 24)

7,305.82

 Less: Applied for premium on redemption of Redeemable 
Preference Shares ( Refer note 15,16,17 & 18 of  Schedule 24)

40,103.39   

 Less : Expenses incurred for issue of  equity shares ( Refer note 
20 of Schedule 24)

1265.18 137,206.52 

137,362.52

70,281.79 

70,437.79
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 3 :
SECURED LOANS*
Term Loans from Banks - 282.87
External Commercial Borrowing from a bank - 490.97 
Short Term Loans from Bank
    Bank Overdraft - 653.02 
Commercial Papers (Short term) - 2,500.00 
(Maximum amount outstanding during the year Rs. 5,000.00 lacs)
(Previous Year Rs. 5,000.00 lacs)
Loans For Vehicles - 55.68 
Term Loans from Bodies Corporate 4,965.52 7,410.97 

4,965.52 11,393.51 

* For details of Secured Loans, refer note 8 of Schedule 24 

SCHEDULE 4 :
UNSECURED LOANS
Term Loan from a Bank 3,000.00 9,999.95 
(Amount repayable within one year Rs. 3,000 lacs,
(Previous Year Rs. 9,999.95 lacs))
Term Loans from Bodies Corporate 90,000.00 7,100.00
(Amount repayable within one year Rs. 40,000 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 7,100 lacs))
Interest Accrued and Due 240.00 -
From a Subsidiary (repayable on demand) - 1.94 
Non Convertible Debentures (Refer note 19 of Schedule 24) 26,000.00 -

119,240.00 17,101.89 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 6 :
INVESTMENTS
Long Term Investments (At cost)
Unquoted, fully paid-up

Trade
A. Investment in Associates 
 Sunrise Medicare Private Limited 440.04 440.04 
 (4,400,364 (Previous Year 4,400,364) Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)

 Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited 40.00 40.00
 (400,000 (Previous Year 400,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)
 (Of the above, 3 shares are jointly held with nominee share holders)

B. In Subsidiary Companies
 Escorts Heart Institute and Research Center Limited 58,894.80 58,894.80 
 (1,800,260 (Previous Year 1,800,260) Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)

 International Hospital Limited 4,021.09 4,021.09 
 (4,025,123 (Previous Year 4,025,123) Equity Shares of Rs. 100/- each)
 (Of the above, 4,033 shares have been acquired without any consideration)
 (Of the above, 6 shares are held by nominee shareholders)

 Fortis Hospotel Limited 35,093.00 11,802.11 
 (141,311,990 (Previous Year 118,021,100)  Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)
 (Of the above, 24 (Previous Year 100) shares are held by nominee shareholders)

 Fortis Hospitals Limited 35,005.00 -
 (20,050,000 (Previous year Nil) Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)
 (150 (Previous year Nil) 11% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures of Rs. 10,000,000/- each)

Current Investment
 Mutual Funds* 6,049.37 -
 47,789,037.04 units of Rs. 10 each  in Religare Ultra Short Term Fund-Institutional Growth
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 139,543.30 75,198.04 

* includes Rs. 346.52 unutilised proceeds from Rights Issue. Refer Note 14 in Schedule 24
For details of units purchased and sold during the year, refer note 5 of Schedule 24
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 7 :
INVENTORIES (at lower of cost and net realisable value)
Medical Consumables and Drugs 274.28 239.30 
Stores and spares  37.75 20.23 

312.03 259.53 

SCHEDULE 8 :
SUNDRY DEBTORS 
Debts outstanding for a period exceeding Six Months  
Unsecured, Considered Good 1,851.46 1,484.94 
Considered Doubtful 884.37 402.51

Other Debts
Unsecured, Considered Good 3,030.97 2,987.62 
Considered Doubtful - 0.69 

5,766.80 4,875.76 
Less : Provision for Doubtful Debts 884.37 403.21 

4,882.43 4,472.55 

Included in Sundry Debtors are:
i)  Dues from company under the same management as per Section 370 (1B) of the Companies 

Act, 1956
 Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited 39.00 -
 (Maximum amount outstanding during the year Rs. 39.00 lacs; Previous Year Rs. Nil)

SCHEDULE 9 :
CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash in hand  17.52  15.02 
Cheques in hand  6.93  0.27 
Balances with Scheduled Banks
 - On Current Accounts  154.07  105.75 
 - On Cash Credit Accounts  -  0.41 
 - On Deposit Accounts*  861.12  4,565.16 
*(includes Rs. 573.09 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 3,863.98 lacs) unutilised funds from IPO) 1,039.64  4,686.61 
(Refer Note 14 in Schedule 24)

SCHEDULE 10 :
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Interest Accrued but Not Due on Loans and Deposits  2.97  15.97 
Accrued Operating Income  366.18  262.71 

 369.15  278.68 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 11 :
LOANS AND ADVANCES
Secured, Considered Good
Loans to Bodies Corporate & Others  80.85  70.76 

Unsecured, Considered good
Loans to Subsidiaries  134,460.06  23,354.14 
Loans to Bodies Corporate and Others  2,190.96  4,145.15 
Advances Recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received  376.65  306.47 
Advance Tax and Tax Deducted at Source  390.58  325.02 
Balances with Customs, Excise and Other Authorities  124.69  36.39 
Security Deposits  439.64  142.51 
Unsecured, Considered Doubtful
Advance Tax and Tax Deducted at Source  20.62  20.62 

 138,084.05  28,401.06 
Less : Provision for Doubtful Advances  20.62  20.62 

138,063.43  28,380.44 
Included in Loans and Advances are:
i) Dues from company under the same management as per Section 370 (1B) of the Companies 

Act, 1956
 Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited
 (Maximum amount outstanding during the year Rs. 4,102.94 lacs; Previous Year Rs. 6,236.60 lacs) 2,049.90 4,079.74 

SCHEDULE 12 :
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Sundry Creditors
 (a) total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises (Refer Note 25 in Schedule 24)  -    -   
 (b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small Enterprises  2,997.66  2,264.48 
Book Overdraft  383.13  27.52 
Advances from Patients  332.51  220.24 
Security Deposits  9.93  8.82 
Interest Accrued but Not Due on Loans  153.82  81.44 
Premium Payable on Redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares (Refer note 22 of Schedule 24)  3,394.08  8,917.96 
Premium Payable on Redemption of Unsecured Non Convertible Debentures (Refer note 19 of Schedule 24)  924.54  -   
Other Liabilities  327.12  255.31 

8,522.79 11,775.77 

SCHEDULE 13 :
PROVISIONS
Wealth Tax  4.19  1.93 
Fringe Benefi t Tax  159.19  159.19 
Gratuity  245.93  229.91 
Leave Encashment  215.76  205.89 

625.07 596.92 

SCHEDULE 14 :
MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE 
(To the extent not written off or adjusted)
Arrangement Fees on Term Loans

Balance Brought Forward  50.06  72.88 
Incurred during the year  80.00  -   

130.06 72.88 
Less : Written off during the year  25.20  22.82 

104.86  50.06 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

For the
 Year Ended 

March 31, 2010

For the 
Year Ended 

March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 15 :
OPERATING INCOME
In Patient  14,791.31  13,880.53 
Out Patient  2,078.85  1,708.73 
Income From Medical Services  2,744.05  811.50 
Management Fees from Hospitals  375.82  211.00 
Income from Rehabilitation Centre  123.04  78.03 
Income from Rent (Refer Note 6 (b)(i) of Schedule 24)  38.64  32.65 
Equipment Lease Rental (Refer Note 6 (b)(ii) of Schedule 24)  702.77  671.52 
Pharmacy  459.33  288.76 

 21,313.81  17,682.72 
Less: Discounts  332.20  237.22 

20,981.61  17,445.50 

SCHEDULE 16 :
OTHER INCOME
Profi t on Redemption of Mutual Funds (Refer Note 5 of Schedule 24)  630.17  5.39 
Interest
 -Bank Deposits (Tax Deducted at Source Rs. 18.41 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 4.74 lacs ))  142.18  36.42 
 -On loans to subsidiaries and bodies corporate  3,189.66  1,780.02 
Unclaimed Balances and Excess Provisions Written Back  7.93  16.19 
Foreign exchange fl uctuation gain (net)  22.33  -   
Miscellaneous Income  122.41  61.70 

 4,114.68  1,899.72 

SCHEDULE 17 :
MATERIALS CONSUMED
Medical Consumables and Drugs:
Opening Stock  239.30  233.18 
Add: Purchases  5,526.07  5,270.24 
Less: Closing Stock  274.28  239.30 

5,491.09  5,264.12 

SCHEDULE 18 :
PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
Salaries, Wages and Bonus  4,166.71  3,908.15 
Gratuity  22.19  2.43 
Leave Encashment  48.29  (56.47)
Contribution to Provident & Other Funds  225.45  204.43 
Staff Welfare Expenses  182.46  130.16 
Recruitment & Training  77.87  66.60 

 4,722.97  4,255.30 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

For the
 Year Ended 

March 31, 2010

For the 
Year Ended 

March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 19 :
OPERATING EXPENSES
Contractual Manpower  145.27  133.24 
Power & Fuel  434.83  385.03 
Housekeeping Expenses including Consumables  170.29  175.20 
Patient Food & Beverages  167.64  151.55 
Pathology Laboratory Expenses  170.07  164.86 
Radiology Expenses  600.13  504.00 
Consultation Fees to Doctors  388.45  387.72 
Professional Charges to Doctors  1,206.24  1,034.08 
Repairs & Maintenance
 - Building  45.00  29.74 
 - Plant & Machinery  231.66  278.82 
Rent
 - Hospital Building (Refer note 6(a) of Schedule 24)  1,940.70  947.67 
 - Equipments (Refer note 6(a) of Schedule 24)  61.91  45.47 

 5,562.19  4,237.38 

SCHEDULE 20 :
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Donations  2.50  6.43 
Legal & Professional Fee  970.91  1,031.75 
Travel & Conveyance  517.16  398.74 
Repairs & Maintenance - Others  51.21  56.64 
Rates & Taxes  29.37  21.28 
Directors' Sitting Fees  18.10  10.80 
Insurance  122.58  96.85 
Rent (Refer note 6(a) of Schedule 24)  43.53  56.82 
Marketing & Business Promotion  376.16  264.25 
Wealth Tax  4.18  1.92 
Loss on Sale of Assets (net of gain)  47.68  101.28 
Auditors' Remuneration (as auditors) (Refer note 20 of Schedule 24)
 -Audit Fee   10.00  10.00 
 -Limited Review Fees  9.00  7.27 
 -Fees for Audit of Consolidated Financial Statement  3.00  3.00 
 -Tax Audit Fee  2.50  2.67 
 -Certifi cation Fee  1.56  3.25 
 -Out of Pocket Expenses  1.38  0.33 
Foreign exchange fl uctuation loss (net)  -    213.07 
Bad Debts and Sundry Balances written off  17.46  28.14 
Provision for Doubtful Debts  483.36  282.79 
Miscellaneous Expenses  260.98  290.06 

 2,972.62  2,887.34 

SCHEDULE 21 :
FINANCIAL EXPENSES
Interest
 - On Term Loans  1,765.84  1,846.65 
 - Others  337.29  248.03 
Finance Charges  75.73  63.80 
Arrangement Fees Written off  25.20  22.82 
Bank Charges  23.52  13.35 

 2,227.58  2,194.65 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

For the
Year Ended 

March 31, 2010

For the 
Year Ended 

March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 22 :
PRIOR PERIOD ITEMS
Repairs & Maintenance - Others  26.67  -   
Power & Fuel  -    16.50 

 26.67  16.50 

SCHEDULE 23 :
EARNINGS / (LOSSES) PER SHARE
Net profi t/(loss) as per profi t and loss account  3,014.65  (714.97)
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating Basic EPS  265,413,205  226,666,533 
Add: Weighted average number of equity shares which would be issued on the allotment  408,314  -   
   of equity shares against stock option granted under ESOP 2007
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating Diluted EPS 265,821,519  226,666,533 
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SCHEDULES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SCHEDULE 24: 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Nature of Operations

 Fortis Healthcare Limited (‘FHL’ or the ‘Company’) was incorporated in the year 1996 and commenced its hospital operations in year 2001 
with the fl agship of Multi-Specialty Hospital at Mohali and has thereafter set up / acquired/ taken over the management of other hospitals 
in different parts of the country. As part of its business activities, the Company holds interests in its subsidiary and associate companies 
through which it manages and operates a network of multi-specialty hospitals. The Company’s equity shares are listed on both Bombay Stock 
Exchange and National Stock Exchange.

2. Statement of Signifi cant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of preparation

 The fi nancial statements have been prepared to comply in all material respects in accordance with the Notifi ed Accounting Standards 
by Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 (as amended) and the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. The fi nancial 
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention on an accrual basis. The accounting policies have been consistently 
applied by the Company and are consistent with those used in the Previous Year.

(b) Use of estimates

 The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date 
of the fi nancial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. Although these estimates are based upon 
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ from these estimates.

(c) Fixed Assets

 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any 
directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Borrowing costs relating to acquisition of fi xed 
assets which take substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent they relate to the period till 
such assets are ready to be put to use.

(d) Depreciation

i. Depreciation on Leasehold Improvements is provided over the primary period of lease or over the useful lives of the respective fi xed 
assets, whichever is shorter.

ii. Depreciation on all other fi xed assets is provided using the Straight Line Method as per the useful lives of the assets estimated by 
the management, or at the rates prescribed under Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, whichever is higher.

iii. Individual assets not exceeding Rs. 5,000 are depreciated fully in the year of purchase.

(e) Intangibles

 Technical Know-how Fees

 Technical know-how fees is amortized over a period of 3 years.

 Software

 Cost of software is amortized over a period of 6 years, being the estimated useful life as per the management estimate.

(f) Impairment

i) The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date if there is any indication of impairment based on internal/ 
external factors.  An impairment loss is recognised wherever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s net selling price and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash fl ows are discounted to their present value at the weighted average cost of capital.

ii) After impairment, depreciation is provided on the revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life.

(g) Leases

 Where the Company is the lessee

 Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefi ts of ownership of the leased items are classifi ed as 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Profi t and Loss account on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.
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 Where the Company is the lessor

 Assets subject to operating leases are included in fi xed assets. Lease income is recognised in the Profi t and Loss account on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Costs, including depreciation are recognised as expense in the Profi t and Loss account.

(h) Investments 

 Investments that are readily realisable and intended to be held for not more than a year are classifi ed as current investments. All other 
investments are classifi ed as long-term investments. Current investments are carried at lower of cost and fair value determined on an 
individual investment basis. Long-term investments are carried at cost. However, provision for diminution in value is made to recognise 
a decline other than temporary in the value of such long term investments.

(i) Inventories

 Inventory of Medical Consumables, Drugs, Stores and Spares are valued at Lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined 
on Weighted Average basis.Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(j) Revenue Recognition

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured.

 Operating Income

 Operating Income is recognised as and when the services are rendered / pharmacy items are sold. Management fee from hospitals and 
income from medical services is recognised as per the terms of the agreement with respective hospitals.

 Rehabilitation Centre Income

 Revenue is recognised as and when the services are rendered.

 Equipment Lease Rentals

 Revenue is recognised in accordance with the terms of lease agreements entered into with the respective lessees.

 Interest 

 Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rate applicable.

 Dividends

 Dividend is recognised if the right to dividend is established by the balance sheet date.

(k) Miscellaneous Expenditure (not written off)

 Cost incurred in raising funds (Arrangement fees on term loan) is amortised over the period for which the funds are obtained.

(l) Foreign Currency Transactions  

i)  Initial recognition

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate 
between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

 ii) Conversion

 Foreign currency monetary items are reported using the closing rate. Non-monetary items that are carried in terms of historical cost 
denominated in a foreign currency are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

 iii) Exchange Differences

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting company’s monetary items at rates different from 
those at which they were initially recorded during the year, or reported in previous fi nancial statements, are recognised as income or 
as expenses in the year in which they arise. 

(m) Employee benefi ts:

i) Contributions to Provident fund

 The Company makes contributions to statutory provident fund in accordance with Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act, 1952. Provident Fund is a defi ned contribution scheme and the contributions are charged to the Profi t and Loss 
account of the year when the contributions to the respective funds are due. The provident fund contribution of certain employees 
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is being deposited with “Fortis Healthcare Limited Provident Fund Trust” managed by the Company; such contribution to the 
trust additionally requires the Company to guarantee payment of interest at rates notifi ed by the Central Government from time 
to time, for which shortfall, if any has to be provided for as at the balance sheet date. There are no other obligation other than the 
contribution payable to the fund.

ii) Gratuity 

 Gratuity liability is a defi ned benefi t obligation and is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation made at the end of the year 
using projected unit credit method.

iii) Compensated Absences

 Long term compensated absences are provided for based on actuarial valuation made at the end of the year using projected unit 
credit method. Short term compensated absences are provided for based on estimates.

iv) Actuarial gains/losses

 Actuarial gains/losses are recognised in the Profi t and Loss Account as they occur.

(n) Income Taxes

 Tax expense comprises current, deferred and fringe benefi t tax. Current income tax and fringe benefi t tax is measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961. Deferred income tax refl ect the impact of 
current year timing differences between taxable income and accounting income for the year and reversal of timing differences of earlier 
years. 

 Deferred tax is measured based on the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that suffi cient future taxable income will be available against 
which such deferred tax assets can be realised. In situations where the Company has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward tax 
losses, all deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that they can be realised 
against future taxable profi ts.

 At each balance sheet date, the Company re-assesses and recognises unrecognised deferred tax assets. It recognises unrecognised 
deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that suffi cient future taxable 
income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. The Company writes-down the carrying amount 
of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that suffi cient future 
taxable income will be available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down is reversed to the extent that it 
becomes reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that suffi cient future taxable income will be available.

 Minimum Alternative Tax (‘MAT’) credit is recognised as an asset only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that the 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specifi ed period.  In the year in which the MAT credit becomes eligible to be recognized 
as an asset in accordance with the recommendations contained in Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India (‘ICAI’), the said asset is created by way of a credit to the profi t and loss account and shown as MAT Credit Entitlement.

(p) Earnings Per Share

 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profi t or loss for the year (including prior period items, if any) attributable to 
the equity shareholders (after deducting preference dividends and attributable taxes, if any) by the weighted average number of equity 
shares outstanding during the year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, net profi t or loss for the year attributable 
to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive 
potential equity shares.

(q) Provisions

 A provision is recognised when an enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past event and it is probable that an outfl ow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made.  Provisions are not discounted 
to its present value and are determined based on best estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.  These are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to refl ect the current best estimates.

(r) Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents in the cash fl ow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less.

3. Segment Reporting

 As the Company’s business activity primarily falls within a single business and geographical segment, there are no additional disclosures to 
be provided in terms of Accounting Standard 17 on ‘Segment Reporting’.
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4. Related Party Transactions

 Names of Related parties (as certifi ed by the management)

Holding Company Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited
Subsidiary Companies a) International Hospital Limited (‘IHL’).

b) Fortis Hospotel Limited (‘FHTL’).
c) Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (‘EHIRCL’). 
d) Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (‘LHPL’), (with effect from January 30, 2009)
e) Escorts Hospital and Research Centre Limited (‘EHRCL’).
f) Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited (‘EHSSIL’).
g) Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital Limited (‘EHSSHL’).
h) Escorts Heart Centre Limited (‘EHCL’).
i) Fortis Health Management Limited (‘FHML’), (with effect from April 7, 2008)
j) Fortis Healthcare International Limited (‘FHIL’), (with effect from November 25, 2008)
k) Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (‘FMHL’) (formerly Malar Hospitals Limited) with effect from October 1, 

2009 
l) Fortis Hospitals Limited (‘FHsL’) with effect from June 18, 2009
m) Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited with effect from October 7, 2009
n) Kanishka Housing Development Company Limited with effect from December 17, 2009
o) Fortis Hospital Management Ltd. (from April 9, 2008 to March 25, 2010)
p) Fortis Emergency Services Limited with effect from April 30, 2009
q) Malar Stars Medicare Limited with effect from October 1, 2009
Companies (f) and (h) above are subsidiaries of EHIRCL; Companies (d), (e), (g), (j), (k), (o) and (p) above are 
subsidiaries of IHL and Company (i) above is the subsidiary of FHTL; Company (m) above is the subsidiary of 
FHIL; Company (n) is the subsidiary of FHsL; Company (q) is the subsidiary of FMHL; Companies (e) and (g) 
above have become subsidiaries of IHL with effect from July 3, 2008 and July 7, 2008 respectively, prior to 
that these were the subsidiaries of EHIRCL.

Fellow Subsidiaries a) Fortis Health Staff Limited
b) Religare Wellness Limited
c) Medsource Healthcare Private Limited
d) SAK Consumer Retail Services Limited (till February 4, 2010)
e) Lifetime Healthcare Private Limited (till February 4, 2010)
f) Pills and Powder Private Limited (till February 4, 2010)
g) Hospitallia Eastern Private Limited (with effect from February 23, 2009)

Associates a) Sunrise Medicare Private Limited
b) Fortis Hospital Management Limited with effect from March 26, 2010 (subsidiary for the period April 8, 

2008 to March 25, 2010)
c) Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited
d) Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (‘FMHL’)  (formerly known as Malar Hospitals Limited) till September 30 2009
e) Medical and Surgical Centre Limited, Mauritius (Associate of Fortis Healthcare International Limited) with 

effect from January 28, 2009.
f) Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (‘LHPL’), (till January 29, 2009)
g) Parkways Holdings Limited with effect from March 19, 2010
Companies (b), (d) & (f) are associates of International Hospital Limited. Company (e) is an associate of Fortis 
Healthcare International Limited. Company (g) is an associate of Fortis Global Healthcare Mauritius Limited.

Key Management 
Personnel (‘KMP’)

Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh - Chairman
Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh - Managing Director

Enterprises owned or 
signifi cantly infl uenced 
by key management 
personnel or their relatives

a) Super Religare Laboratories Limited
b) Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited
c) RHC Holding Private Limited
d) Fortis Nursing and Education Society
e) Religare Securities Limited
f) Religare Commodities Limited
g) Religare Finvest Limited
h) Religare Travels (India) Limited
i) Religare Technova IT Services Limited
j) Oscar Investments Limited
k) Religare Aviation Limited (formerly Ran Air Services Limited)
l) Malav Holdings Limited
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The schedule of Related Party Transactions is as follows:
(Rs. in lacs)

Transactions details Year ended 
March 31, 2010

Year ended 
March 31, 2009

Transactions during the year   

Expenses allocated to related parties

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 179.52 170.49

Super Religare Laboratories Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)** - 53.26

International Hospital Limited ( Subsidiary) - 75.00

Operating income (including Income from Medical services, Management fees from hospitals, 
Income from Rehabilitation centre, Rental and Pharmacy income)
International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 910.00 116.00

Sunrise Medicare Private Limited (Associate) 276.03 218.00

Escorts Hospital and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 622.83 0.72

Others 144.82 149.52

Interest income on loans and advances to

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 221.16 298.58

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 1,738.34 443.42

Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 941.32 -

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 448.02 507.79

Religare Finvest Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 692.19

Others 51.54 97.32
Consultation fees to doctors

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 3.36 6.60

Interest expense on loan taken from

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) - 52.75

Oscar Investments Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 270.74 54.15

RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 45.63 28.77

Sale of fi xed assets

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 5.25 7.16

Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary)***** - 44.26

Escorts Hospital and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 3.85 17.68

Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited (Subsidiary) - 106.79

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 87.96 -

Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 13.46 -

Loans/ advances given

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 101,608.35 21,194.25

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 2,064.11 11,442.00

Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 13,039.50 -

Religare Finvest Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 12,771.00

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) - 2,694.00

Loans/ advances received back 

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 2,600.00 11,225.00

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 6,007.00 10,335.00

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 2,500.00 2,500.00

Religare Finvest Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 21,446.00

Others 135.00 2,000.00

Loans taken 

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) - 2,610.00

Oscar Investments Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 6,100.00

RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* - 1,000.00
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(Rs. in lacs)

Transactions details Year ended 
March 31, 2010

Year ended 
March 31, 2009

Loans repaid 

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) - 2,610.00

Oscar Investments Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 6,100.00 -

RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 1,000.00 -

Pathology laboratory expenses
Super Religare Laboratories Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)** 169.96 164.39

Travel and conveyance expenses
Religare Travel (India) Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 30.09 86.30
Religare Aviation Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 38.92 -
Ran Air Services Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 3.57

Purchase of fi xed assets
Religare Technova IT Services Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 74.52 78.23
Fortis HealthStaff Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 22.08 -

Repairs and maintenance expenses
Religare Technova IT Services Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 7.82 2.58

Purchases of medical consumables and pharmacy items
Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 211.55

Managerial remuneration
Shivinder Mohan Singh (KMP) (Refer note b below) 816.20 816.20

Directors’ sitting fees
Malvinder Mohan Singh (KMP) 2.10 1.20

Legal and professional fee
Religare Technova IT Services Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 7.96 9.88

Subscription of share capital (including premium)
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 96,138.01 -
Others 117.84 -

Issue of preference share capital (including premium)
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 26,000.00 -

Redemption of preference share capital (including premium)
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 27,438.39 76.05
RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 3,452.86 812.50
Oscar Investments Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 4,927.25 562.50

Issue of non convertible debentures
RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 26,000.00 -

Corporate Guarantees given to banks for loans availed by
Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 6,000.00 10,000.00
Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited (Subsidiary) - 2,500.00
Guarantee given to IndusInd Bank (Refer note c below) - 10,000.00
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) - 4,500.00
Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 50,000.00 -
International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 40,000.00 -
Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (Subsidiary) 104,092.63 -

Corporate guarantee received for loans taken
Malav Holdings Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 981.94
Guarantee given to IndusInd Bank (Refer note c below) - 10,000.00

Corporate guarantee withdrawn for loans taken
Malav Holdings Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 981.94 -
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(Rs. in lacs)
Transactions details Year ended 

March 31, 2010
Year ended 

March 31, 2009
Investments made in equity
Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 23,290.89 4,189.11
Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 20,005.00 -

Investment made in Compulsorily Convertible Debentures
Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 15,000.00 -

Investments sold 
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) - 60.00

Personal guarantee for loans taken
Managing Director (KMP) - 5,000.00
License user agreement fees

RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 1.00 1.00

(Rs. in lacs)

Balance outstanding at the year end As at 
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009

Loans / advances recoverable

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 5,517.00 9,039.73

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 114,844.68 14,093.53

Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 14,088.77 -

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 2,049.90 4,079.74

Others 116.44 289.35
Sundry debtors

Sunrise Medicare Private Limited (Associate) 197.39 219.18

Escorts Hospital and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 621.00 -

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 910.00 -

Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (Subsidiary)**** 15.11 47.40

Others 57.86 23.83

Sundry creditors

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 39.90 -

Fortis Health Staff Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 21.89 -

Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 42.49

Super Religare Laboratories Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)** 10.26 27.85

Others 4.93 8.84

Unsecured loans

Oscar Investments Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 6,100.00

RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 26,000.00 1,000.00

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) - 1.94

Investments

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (Subsidiary) 58,894.80 58,894.80

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 4,021.09 4,021.09

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 35,093.00 11,802.11

Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 35,005.00 -

Sunrise Medicare Private Limited (Associate) 440.04 440.04

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 40.00 40.00

Corporate guarantee for loans taken

RHC Holding Private Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)* 750.00 750.00

Malav Holdings Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 981.94

Guarantee given to IndusInd Bank (Refer note c below) 10,000.00 10,000.00

Corporate guarantee given for loans availed by

Fortis Hospotel Limited (Subsidiary) 8,000.00 10,000.00

Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited (Subsidiary) 2,500.00 2,500.00
Guarantee given to IndusInd Bank (Refer note c below) 10,000.00 10,000.00
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Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 6,000.00 6,000.00

Fortis Hospitals Limited (Subsidiary) 50,000.00 -

International Hospital Limited (Subsidiary) 40,000.00 -

Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (Subsidiary) 104,092.63 -
Personal guarantee for loans taken

Managing Director (KMP) - 12,928.53
Notes:   
* Formerly Ranbaxy Holding Company   
** Formerly SRL Ranbaxy Limited   
*** Formerly Fortis Healthworld Limited   
****Associate for the period from August 4, 2008 to January 29, 2009, and Subsidiary with effect from January 30, 2009.
***** Formerly Malar Hospitals Limited, Associate up to September 30, 2009, and Subsidiary with effect from October 1, 2009
****** Subsidiary up to March 25, 2010, and Associate with effect from March 26, 2010
a) Expenses incurred on behalf of / by related parties, and later reimbursed by / to them have not been considered above.
b) Amount for the year ended March 31, 2010 includes Rs. 637.80 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 623.24 lacs) provided at the year end which is 

subject to Central Government approval.

c) Includes Guarantee given by the Company and EHRCL to IndusInd Bank for loan jointly availed by the Company, EHIRCL, EHRCL, EHSSIL, 
EHSSHL and IHL.

5. The following current investments have been purchased and sold during the year:

Mutual Fund Scheme  No. of units 
purchased 

 Purchase price 
(Rs. in lacs) 

 No. of units sold/ 
redeemed 

 Sales/ Redemption 
value (Rs. in lacs) 

DSP Black Rock Cash Manager Funds - 
Institutional Plan - Daily Dividend

363,134.41 3,900.00 363,152.43 3,900.35

DSP Black Rock Floating rate Funds - Institutional 
Plan - Daily Dividend

73,505.04 735.05 73,513.50 738.27

DSP Black Rock Money Manager Funds - 
Institutional Plan - Daily Dividend

189,866.13 1,900.18 190,053.00 1,902.05

DSP Black Rock Mutual Funds - Institutional Plan 
- Growth

153,774.81 2,000.17 153,774.81 2,000.43

Kotak Flexi Debt scheme Institutional  - Growth 65,888,939.53 7,315.32 65,888,939.53 7,315.98

Kotak Liquid (Institutional Premium) - Growth 78,240,492.11 14,267.41 78,240,492.11 14,315.60

LICMF Income Plus Fund - Daily dividend plan 25,075,311.46 2,500.00 25,075,311.46 2,507.53

LICMF Income Plus Fund - Growth Plan 241,030,963.54 29,203.79 241,030,963.54 29,225.33

LICMF Liquid Fund - Growth Plan 165,417,224.65 27,400.00 165,417,224.65 27,403.49

Religare Liquid fund - Super Institutional Growth 903,412,454.81 112,928.36 903,412,454.81 112,944.50

Religare Ultra short term fund - Institutional Growth 702,795,034.99 87,689.70 702,795,034.99 88,089.22

UTI Liquid Cash Plan  - Institutional Growth Option 336,309.56 5,000.00 336,309.56 5,000.55

UTI Treasury Advantage Fund - Institutional Plan 
(Growth Option)

412,231.76 5,000.55 412,231.76 5,001.25

Religare Short Term Plan-Institutional Growth 302,729,272.83 37,855.71 302,729,272.83 37,981.85

6. Leases

 (a) Assets taken on Operating Lease:

 Hospital/ Offi ce premises and few medical equipments are obtained on operating lease. In all the cases, the agreements are further 
renewable at the option of the Company. There is no escalation clause in the respective lease agreements. For all cases, there are no 
restrictions imposed by lease arrangements and the rent is not determined based on any contingency. The total lease payments in 
respect of such leases recognised in the profi t and loss account for the year are Rs. 2,046.14 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 1,049.96 lacs).

 The total future minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating leases are as under:
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009

Minimum lease payments:

Not later than one year 1,951.23 1,981.91

Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 7,681.77 7,713.00

Later than fi ve years 7,200.00 9,120.00

(b) Assets given on Operating Lease

i) The Company has sub- leased some portion of hospital premises. In all the cases, the agreements are further renewable at the option of the 
Company. There is no escalation clause in the respective lease agreements. There are no restrictions imposed by lease arrangements and 
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the rent is not determined based on any contingency. All these leases are cancellable in nature. The total lease income received / receivable 
in respect of the above leases recognised in the profi t and loss account for the year are Rs. 38.64 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 32.65 lacs).

ii) The Company has leased out certain capital assets on operating lease to a Trust managing hospital operations and one of its Associates. 
The lease term is for 3 years and thereafter renewable at the option of the lessor. There are no restrictions imposed by the lease 
arrangements and the rent is not determined based on any contingency. There is no escalation clause in the lease agreements. The 
lease arrangement is non-cancellable in nature. The details of the capital assets given on operating lease are as under:

           (Rs. in lacs))

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009

Gross Block Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Block Gross Block Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Block

Software 3.46 2.07 1.39 3.46 1.74 1.72
Plant & Machinery 96.66 37.21 59.45 96.66 27.23 69.43
Medical Equipments 3,117.75 998.80 2,118.95 2,996.93 778.74 2,218.19
Furniture & Fittings 177.73 78.39 99.34 177.06 70.27 106.80
Computers 119.92 71.57 48.35 119.92 53.68 66.24
Offi ce Equipments 27.55 5.22 22.33 27.55 3.94 23.61
Vehicles 37.25 14.03 23.22 33.55 10.11 23.43
Total 3,580.32 1,207.29 2,373.03 3,455.14 945.71 2,509.43

 The total lease payments received in respect of such leases recognised in the profi t and loss account for the year are Rs. 702.77 lacs (Previous 
Year Rs. 671.52 lacs).

 The totals of future minimum lease payments receivable under the non-cancellable operating leases are as under: 
 (Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009

Minimum lease payments :

Not later than one year 725.71 173.78

Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 907.13 -

7. Deferred Tax Assets / (Liability) consists of:
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2009 Current Year (Charge)/ Credit As at March 31, 2010
 Book/ Tax depreciation difference (810.28) 57.58 (752.70)
 Provision for leave encashment 69.98 1.69 71.67 
 Provision for gratuity 78.15 3.54 81.69 
 Provision for doubtful advances 7.01 (0.16) 6.85 
 Provision for doubtful debts 137.05 156.72 293.77 
 Unabsorbed depreciation/losses 6,137.13 (1,966.52) 4,170.61 
 Total Deferred Tax Asset 5,619.04 (1,747.15) 3,871.89 

 In accordance with Accounting Standard 22 ‘Accounting for Taxes on Income’, in view of the large amount of accumulated losses carried 
forward at the close of the year, deferred tax assets on timing differences, on carried-forward losses and unabsorbed depreciation have not been 
accounted for in the books since it is not virtually certain whether the Company will be able to use such losses / unabsorbed depreciation.

8. Secured Loans 

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at 
March 31, 2009

Term Loan from Bank secured by way of fi rst and exclusive charge on specifi c medical equipments 
of the Company

- 282.87

External Commercial Borrowing from a Bank secured by fi rst charge by way of hypothecation 
of all present and future moveable properties of the Company which inter alia include plant and 
machinery, medical equipments, computers, furniture and fi xtures and other fi xed assets installed / 
stored at Fortis Hospital, Mohali or kept at any other hospital site excluding vehicles hypothecated 
against specifi c loans

- 490.97

Overdraft facility from Bank secured by fi rst pari passsu charge over moveable fi xed assets at Fortis 
Hospital, Mohali and charge over stock and book debts of the Company

- 653.02

Commercial Papers secured by way of subservient charge on the moveable fi xed assets of the Company. - 2,500.00

Loans for Vehicles secured by hypothecation of respective vehicles - 55.68
Term Loan from a Body Corporate secured by :-

 - fi rst charge by way of hypothecation of specifi c equipments of the Company 679.81 982.40

 - way of subservient charge on present and future fi xed assets of the Company 4,285.71 6,428.57
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9. Capital Commitment
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at 
March 31, 2009

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (Net of Capital 
Advances of Rs. 20.11 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 13.80 lacs))

591.88 168.03

10. Contingent liabilities (not provided for) in respect of:
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at 
March 31, 2009

Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts (in respect of compensation demanded 
by the patients / their relatives for negligence). The cases are pending with various Consumer 
Disputes Redressal Commissions. Based on expert opinion obtained, the management believes 
that the Company has good chance of success in these cases 

378.06 326.85

Bank Guarantee executed in favour of National Stock Exchange towards listing of the shares of 
the Company with the exchange

700.00 -

Corporate guarantee given to fi nancial institutions/ banks in respect of fi nancial assistance 
availed by subsidiaries and associates of the Company

  - IDBI Bank 4,500.00 4,500.00

  - Yes Bank 2,500.00 7,500.00

  - IndusInd Bank 20,000.00 10,000.00

  - Axis Bank 5,000.00 5,000.00

  - ABN Amro Bank 1,500.00 1,500.00

  - HDFC Bank Limited 15,000.00 -

  - Central Bank of India 20,000.00 -

  - Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 5,000.00 -

  - Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited 30,000.00 -

  - ING Vysa Bank Limited 10,000.00 -

  - The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc. 104,092.63 -

Others 11.80 11.23

11. Employee Stock Option Plan

 The Company has provided share-based payment scheme to the eligible emplyoees and directors of the company / its subsidiaries. During 
the year ended March 31, 2008, 458,500 options (Grant I) were granted to the employees under Plan ‘A’. Under the same plan, 33,500 options 
(Grant II) were granted to the employees in the previous year and 763,700 (Grant III) in the current year. As at March 31, 2010, the following 
scheme was in operation:

Particulars Grant I Grant II Grant III

Date of grant 13-Feb-08 13-Oct-08 14-Jul-09

Date of Board Approval 30-Jul-07 30-Jul-07 30-Jul-07

Date of Shareholder’s approval 27-Sep-07 27-Sep-07 27-Sep-07

Number of options granted 458,500 33,500 763,700

Vesting Period February 13, 2009 to February 
12, 2013

October 13, 2009 to October 
12, 2013

July 14, 2010 to July 
13, 2014

Exercise Period up to 12-Feb-18 12-Oct-18 13-Jul-19

FORTIS.indd   87FORTIS.indd   87 8/21/2010   7:56:00 PM8/21/2010   7:56:00 PM



Fortis Healthcare Limited

88

 The details of activity under the Plan have been summarized below:

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (Rs.)

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (Rs.)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 380,500 69.34 458,500 71.00

Granted during the year 763,700 77.00 33,500 50.00

Forfeited during the year 215,400 72.09 111,500 70.34

Exercised during the year 10,140 71.00 - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year 918,660 75.05 380,500 69.34

Exercisable at the end of the year 113,160 70.78 70,100 71.00

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 8.87 - 8.93 -

Weighted average fair value of options granted (in Rs.) 35.19 - 25.86 -

 The details of exercise price for stock options outstanding at the end of the year are: 

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Range of exercise prices Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 77.00 Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 71.00

Number of options outstanding 918,660 380,500

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options (in years) 8.87 8.93

Weighted average exercise price (in Rs.) 75.05 69.34

 Stock Options granted

 The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year is Rs. 39.04 (Previous Year: Rs. 18.65). The Black - Scholes valuation 
model has been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering the following inputs: 

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Exercise Price Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 77.00 Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 71.00

Expected Volatility 66.24% 34%

Life of the options granted (Vesting and exercise period) in years 6.5 years 6.5 years

Expected dividends - -

Average risk-free interest rate 7.50% to 8.70% 7.95% to 8.70%

Expected dividend rate - -

 In March 2005, the ICAI has issued a guidance note on ‘Accounting for Employees Share Based Payments’ applicable to employee based 
share plan, the grant date in respect of which falls on or after April 1, 2005. The said guidance note requires the Proforma disclosures of the 
impact of the fair value method of accounting of employee stock compensation accounting in the fi nancial statements. Applying the fair value 
based method defi ned in the said guidance note, the impact on the reported net profi t and earnings per share would be as follows: 

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Profi t/ (Loss) as reported 3,014.65 (714.97)

Add: Employee stock compensation under intrinsic value method - -

Less: Employee stock compensation under fair value method (51.68) (19.08)

Proforma Profi t/ (Loss) 2,962.97 (734.05)

Earnings / (Loss) Per Share (In Rs.)

Basic

 - As reported 1.14 (0.32)

 - Pro forma 1.12 (0.32)

Diluted

 - As reported 1.13 (0.32)

 - Pro forma 1.11 (0.32)

 The fair value of total option outstanding at the year end is Rs. 323.26 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 98.41 lacs) and these shall vest over a period of 5 
years. Accordingly, the charge for the current year in relation to employee stock compensation on a straight line basis under fair value method 
would have been Rs. 51.68 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 19.08 lacs).
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12. Disclosures under Accounting Standard - 15 (Revised) on ‘Employee Benefi ts’:

 Defi ned Benefi t Plan

 The Company has a defi ned benefi t gratuity plan, where under employee who has completed fi ve years or more of service gets a gratuity on 
departure at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service.

 The Company also provides leave encashment benefi t to its employees which is unfunded.

 The following table summaries the components of net benefi t expenses recognised in the profi t and loss account and the amounts recognized 
in the balance sheet.

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars Gratuity
(Unfunded) 

March 31, 2010

Gratuity 
(Unfunded

March 31, 2009
Net employee benefi t expenses (recognized in Personnel Expenses)

Current service cost 60.42 49.62

Interest cost on benefi t obligation 17.66 18.96

Expected return on plan assets NA NA

Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised during the year (54.95) (65.45)

Past service cost - -

Net benefi t expense ( refer note c) 23.13 3.13

Balance Sheet

Details of Provision for Gratuity at March 31, 2010

Present value of defi ned benefi t obligation 245.93 229.91

Fair value of plan assets NA NA

Defi cit of funds (245.93) (229.91)

Net liability (245.93) (229.91)

Changes in present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation are as follows:

Opening defi ned benefi t obligation 229.91 251.89

Current Service cost 60.42 49.62

Interest Cost on benefi t obligation 17.66 18.96

Benefi ts paid (7.11) (25.11)

Actuarial loss/ (gain) recognised during the year (54.95) (65.45)

Closing defi ned benefi t obligation 245.93 229.91

 The Principal assumptions used in determining gratuity obligation for the Company’s plan are shown below:

Discount rate 8.00% 7.80%

Expected rate of return on plan assets NA NA

Expected rate of salary increase 7.50% 7.50%

Mortality table referred LIC (1994-96) duly modifi ed LIC (1994-96) duly modifi ed

Withdrawal / Employee Turnover Rate

Age upto 30 years 18% 18%

Age from 31 to 44 years 6% 6%

Age above 44 years 2% 2%

Notes:

a) The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of infl ation, seniority, promotion and other 
relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market.

b) The Company’s expected contribution to the fund in the next year is not presently ascertainable and hence, the contributions expected 
to be paid to the plan during the annual period beginning after the balance sheet date as required by Para 120 (o) of the Accounting 
Standard 15 (Revised) on Employee Benefi ts are not disclosed.

c) Rs. 0.94 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 0.70 lacs) out of the net benefi t expenses, as above, has been allocated to a subsidiary.

13. The Company has entered into ‘Operation and Management’ agreement with entities which are into hospital operations, in terms of which, 
the Company is responsible for developing and providing maintenance support and related services necessary to support, manage and 
maintain the hospital as may be required.  The management fee in this case is generally based on gross billing of the hospital subject to certain 
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conditions as per the underlying agreement. The gross billing of the hospital is considered based on the unaudited fi nancial statements of the 
respective entity. The management does not anticipate any material changes in the amounts considered in fi nancial statements.

14. The Company raised Rs. 49,676.15 lacs and Rs. 99,711. 60 lacs from the Initial Public Offer (IPO) in April 2007 and Rights Issue in October 
2009 respectively. The status of fund utilization out of Public Offer proceeds as at the end of March 31, 2010 is as follows:

(Rs. in lacs))

S. 
No.

Expenditure Program Amount expended till March 31, 2010 out of Amount expended till 
March 31, 2009 out of

IPO Proceeds Rights Issue Proceeds IPO Proceeds

1 Construction and development of the planned 
hospital to be located at Shalimar Bagh, New Delhi 
by one of its subsidiaries

10,593.00 - 7,302.11

2 Refi nancing of funds availed for the acquisition of 
Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited

35,231.15 - 35,231.15

3 IPO Issue Expenses 3,278.91 - 3,278.91

4 Investment in wholly owned subsidiary (Fortis 
Hospotel Limited) to fi nance the construction and 
development of a greenfi eld hospital project in 
Gurgaon, Haryana

- 20,000.00 -

5 Acquisitions and other strategic initiatives - 20,000.00 -

6 Redemption of Preference Shares (Class C), along 
with the premium on such redemption

- 26,000.00 -

7 Repayment and prepayment of existing short term 
loans of the Company

- 17,099.90 -

8 General corporate purpose - 15,000.00 -

9 Rights Issue expenses - 1,265.18 -

 Total 49,103.06 99,365.08 45,812.17

 The Company is having unutilised funds of Rs. 919.61 lacs as on March 31, 2010 out of public issue proceeds. The funds of Rs. 573.09 lacs 
and Rs. 346.52 lacs have been invested as Fixed Deposit with a Scheduled Bank and Mutual Funds respectively.

15. During the previous year, the Company had partly redeemed 100,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of 
Rs. 10 each, to the extent of Re.1 each per such share at a premium of Rs. 12.55 per share. During the year, the Company has redeemed 
balance Rs.9 each at a premium of Rs. 98.35 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 12.55 lacs in the previous year and Rs. 98.35 lacs in 
the Current year on these shares have been adjusted against the liability for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares and 
the Securities Premium.

16. During the previous year, the Company had partly redeemed 11,500,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares 
of Rs. 10 each, to the extent of Re.1 each per such share at a premium of Rs. 11.50 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 1,322.50 lacs 
on these shares has been adjusted against the liability for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares.

 Out of the above 11,500,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares, the Company has during the year redeemed 
8,304,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each, to the extent of balance of Rs. 9 each at a 
premium of Rs. 98.50 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 8,179.44 lacs on these shares has been adjusted against the liability for 
premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares and the Securities Premium.

17. During the year, the Company has fully redeemed 150,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each 
at a premium of Rs. 11,931.78 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 17,897.67 lacs on these shares has been adjusted against the liability 
for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares and the Securities Premium.

18. During the year, the Company has issued 260,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each at a 
premium of Rs. 9,990 per share, which have been redeemed at a premium of Rs. 10,291.37 per share. The total redemption premium of Rs. 
26,757.26 lacs has been adjusted against the Securities Premium Account as permitted by Section 78 of the Companies Act, 1956.

19. During the year, the Company has issued 260, Zero Percent Unsecured Non- Convertible Debentures of Rs. 10,000,000 each. These debentures 
are to be redeemed at various dates between November 25, 2010 to November 25, 2014 at an aggregate premium of Rs. 14,879.14 lacs. 
The Company has accrued the redemption premium and debited the same to Securities Premium Account as permitted by Section 78 of the 
Companies Act, 1956.

20. The Company has incurred expenses aggregating to Rs. 1,265.18 lacs (including Rs 62.41 lacs paid to auditors) in connection with its Rights 
Issue. In terms of Section 78 of the Companies Act, 1956, the same has been adjusted against the Securities Premium.

21. During the year, pursuant to the Letter of offer dated September 22, 2009 and in accordance with the basis of allotment approved by the 
National Stock Exchange (Designated Stock Exchange), the Issue Committee of Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on 
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October 27, 2009 allotted on Rights Basis 90,646,936 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each at a premium of Rs. 100 per Equity Share aggregating to 
Rs. 99,711.63 lacs and 90,646,936 Detachable Warrants (as an eligible Equity Shareholder is entitled to receive one Detachable Warrant for 
every one Equity Share allotted in the Issue). The Detachable Warrants so issued can be freely and separately traded until they are tendered 
for exercise. The warrant exercise period shall commence after six months from date of allotment of the Equity Shares up to 18 months from 
the date of allotment of the Equity Shares. The Detachable Warrants may be exercised at any time prior to the expiry of a notice period within 
the Warrant Exercise Period.

 The Warrant Exercise Price for the Detachable Warrants shall be the average of (i) average of the weekly closing prices of the Equity Shares 
on the NSE in the 26 weeks immediately preceding the date fi xed by the Company for the determination of the Warrant Exercise Price of the 
Detachable Warrants (the “Relevant Date”) and (ii) average of the weekly closing prices of the Equity Shares on the NSE in the two weeks 
immediately preceding the Relevant Date.

 For purposes of determining the Warrant Holders and their respective entitlements, the Company shall fi x the record date(s) during the Warrant 
Exercise Period for the Detachable Warrants (the “Warrant Record Date”), subject to the approval of the Stock Exchanges of such Warrant 
Record Date.

22. The Company has provided for Premium on Redemption of preference shares and Debentures. However, same has not been provided through 
redemption reserves as per the provisions of Section 117C of the Companies Act, 1956, as the Company does not have suffi cient profi ts for 
the same.

23. During the year, the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary, Fortis Hospitals Limited, has acquired 10 Hospitals (including 2 under 
construction) (“Business Division”) and Kanishka Housing Development Company Limited (‘KHDCL’) from Wockhardt Hospitals Limited vide 
Business Transfer Agreement executed on August 24, 2009, such acquisition being effected on December 17, 2009 on a going concern basis. 
The purchase consideration paid for the acquisition of the above Business Division and KHDCL amounted to Rs. 88,948.24 lacs.

24. In terms of Shareholders agreement entered into by the Subsidiary of the Company, Fortis Global Healthcare Mauritius Limited (FGHL) 
with Newbridge Singapore Co-Investment Pte. Ltd., Newbridge Singapore Healthcare Partners Pte. Ltd. and Newbridge Singapore Medical 
Partners Pte. Ltd., FGHL has acquired 23.84% stake in Parkways Holdings Limited (‘PHL’) on March 19, 2010. FGHL has further acquired 
0.85% stake in PHL through purchase from open market till March 31, 2010.

25. Details of dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006

 Government of India has promulgated an Act namely The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 which comes into 
force with effect from October 2, 2006. As per the Act, the Company is required to identify the Micro, Small and Medium suppliers and pay 
them interest on overdue beyond the specifi ed period irrespective of the terms agreed with the suppliers. The management has confi rmed 
that none of the suppliers have confi rmed that they are registered under the provision of the Act. In view of this, the liability of the interest and 
disclosure are not required to be disclosed in the fi nancial statements.

26. Particulars of Un-hedged Foreign Currency Exposure:
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009

ECB Loan including interest accrued but not due - 500.15

27. Details of loans given to subsidiaries and associates and fi rms/ companies in which directors are interested

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars Maximum Amount Outstanding Closing Balance

March 31, 
2010

March 31, 
2009

March 31, 
2010

March 31, 
2009

Dues from Associates

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited 4,102.94 6,236.60 2,049.90 4,079.74

Dues from Subsidiaries

Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited 100.11 1,055.13 - -

International Hospital Limited 114,837.42 33,563.63 114,837.42 14,093.53

Fortis Hospotel Limited 9,479.93 15,146.91 5,517.00 9,039.73

Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital Limited 141.09 141.86 2.91 135.00

Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited 75.88 105.88 1.18 75.88

Escorts Hospital and Research Centre Limited 9.77 16.16 5.08 9.77

Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited 2.27 0.23 1.43 0.23

Fortis Hospitals Limited 14,088.77 - 14,088.77 -

Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (formerly Malar Hospitals Limited) 14.38 32.63 1.27 14.38

Fortis Emergency Services Limited 4.96 - 4.96 -

Fortis Health Management Limited 0.04 - 0.04 -
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28. Supplementary Statutory Information

28.1 (Rs. in lacs)

Directors’ Remuneration 2009-10 2008-09

Salaries, Wages & Bonus 800.00 800.00

Contribution to Provident & Other Funds 16.20 16.20

Total 816.20 816.20

a) Total remuneration of Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh, Managing Director of the Company, for the year 2009-10 includes provision of 
Rs. 637.80 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 623.24 lacs) for which the Company has applied for re consideration of remuneration to Central 
Government, which is pending for approval.

b) As the liability for Gratuity and leave encashment is provided on an actuarial basis for the Company as a whole, the amount pertaining 
to the Director is not ascertainable and, therefore, not included above.

28.2 (Rs. in lacs)

Expenditure in Foreign Currency (on accrual basis) 2009-10 2008-09

Marketing & Business Promotion 14.17 2.38

Travel & Conveyance 1.60 14.54

Legal & Professional Fees - 12.26

Interest 10.36 37.85

Miscellaneous Expenses 8.86 1.42

Total 34.99 68.45

28.3 (Rs. in lacs)

Value of imports calculated on CIF basis 2009-10 2008-09

Capital goods 106.21 130.28

 

28.4 Material Consumed (including consumables) (Rs. in lacs)

% of  Total Consumption Value (Rs. in lacs)

 2009-10 2008-09 2009-10 2008-09

Indigenous* 100.00 100.00 5,545.86 5,326.96

Imported - - - -

Total 100.00 100.00 5,545.86 5,326.96

 *Including consumables of Rs. 54.77 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 62.84 lacs) debited to housekeeping expenses.

 Note: Material consumption consists of items of various nature and specifi cations and includes medical consumables, pharmaceuticals etc. 
Hence, it is not practicable to furnish the item wise details.

28.5 The Company is a Service Company and is in the business of providing healthcare services to people at large. Hence, no disclosures are 
required to be given for quantitative information as per the requirements of Part II of Schedule VI of the Companies Act, 1956.

29. Previous Year’s fi gures have been regrouped / recasted, wherever necessary to conform to current year’s classifi cation.

As per our report of even date attached

For S. R. Batliboi & Co. For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
Firm registration number: 301003E 
Chartered Accountants   

per Pankaj Chadha Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh
Partner Chairman Managing Director
Membership No. 91813

  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
  Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place: Gurgaon Place: New Delhi
Date: May 28, 2010 Date: May 28, 2010

FORTIS.indd   92FORTIS.indd   92 8/21/2010   7:56:01 PM8/21/2010   7:56:01 PM



14th Annual Report 2009-10

93

 BALANCE SHEET ABSTRACT AND COMPANY'S GENERAL BUSINESS PROFILE

I. Registration Details: 

  Registration No.  76704   State Code   55

  Balance Sheet Date  31.03.2010

II. Capital Raised during the Year (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

   Public Issue     Right Issue

   -     906,469

   Bonus Issue     Private Placement  

   -     2,701

III. Position of Mobilisation and Deployment of Funds (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

   Total Liabilities     Total Assets

   28,244,576     28,244,576

 Sources of Funds

   Paid-up Capital      Reserve & Surplus 

   3,216,500     13,736,252

   Secured Loans     Unsecured Loans  

   496,552      11,924,000

 Application of Funds

   Net Fixed Assets     Investments

   727,877      13,954,330

   Net Current Assets     Misc. Expenditure 

   13,551,882      10,486  

   Accumulated Losses

   1,128,729  

IV. Performance of Company (Amount in Rs. Thousands) 

   Turnover/Income     Total Expenditure  

   2,509,629      2,208,164

 
 +  - 

 Profi t/(Loss) Before Tax  
 +  -

  Profi t/(Loss) After Tax

 √   301,465    √   301,465 

 
 +  -

  Earning per share in Rs.    Dividend Rate% 

 √   1.14     -

V. Generic Names of Three Principal Products/Service of Company - Healthcare Services

Item Code No. (ITC Code)       Not Applicable

Product Description        Not Applicable
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF FORTIS HEALTHCARE LIMITED ON THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
FORTIS HEALTHCARE LIMITED, ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
AND ASSOCIATES

We have audited the attached consolidated balance sheet of Fortis 1. 

Healthcare Limited (“FHL” or the “Company”), its subsidiaries 

and associates (collectively, the “Fortis Group”) as at March 31, 

2010, and also the consolidated profi t and loss account and 

the consolidated cash fl ow statement for the year ended on 

that date annexed thereto. These fi nancial statements are the 

responsibility of the Company’s management and have been 

prepared by the management on the basis of separate fi nancial 

statements and other fi nancial information regarding compo nents. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial 

statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards 2. 

generally accepted in India. Those Standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the fi nancial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 

the amounts and dis closures in the fi nancial statements. An 

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

signifi cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our 

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

a)  We did not audit the fi nancial statements of certain 3. 

subsidiaries, whose fi nancial statements refl ect total assets of 

Rs. 355,771.73 lacs as at March 31, 2010, the total revenue of 

Rs. 8,212.28 lacs and cash outfl ows amounting to Rs. 2,202.11 

lacs for the year then ended. These fi nancial statements and 

other fi nancial information have been audited by other auditors 

whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion is 

based solely on the report of other auditors. 

 b)  We did not audit the fi nancial statements of certain associates, 

whose fi nancial statements refl ect total profi t of Rs. 61.03 lacs, 

being the proportionate share of Fortis Group, for the year ended 

March 31, 2010. These fi nancial statements and other fi nancial 

information have been audited by other auditors whose reports 

have been furnished to us, and our opinion is based solely on 

the report of other auditors. We also did not audit the fi nancial 

statements of certain associates, whose fi nancial statements 

refl ect total profi ts of Rs. 95.12 lacs, being the proportionate 

share of Fortis Group, for the year ended March 31, 2010. These 

fi nancial statements and other fi nancial information have been 

prepared by the management, and our opinion is based solely 

on the management certifi ed accounts.

We report that the consolidated fi nancial statements have been 4. 

prepared by the Company’s management in accordance with 

the requirements of Accounting Standards (AS) 21, Consolidated 

Financial Statements and Accounting Standards (AS) 23, 

Accounting for Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial 

Statements, notifi ed pursuant to the Companies (Accounting 

Standards) Rules, 2006 (as amended).

(a)  5. The Delhi Development Authority (‘DDA’) had terminated the 
leases of certain land allotted by it to a society (later converted 
into the company) and then issued eviction notices to Escorts 
Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited (a subsidiary of 
the Company) for vacation of these lands. The subsidiary 
company is in appeal against these actions by DDA which is 
pending with the court of law and has accordingly not made 
any adjustments to the carrying value of these lands or to the 
other assets, as the eventual outcome cannot be estimated 
presently. Further, in a related case fi led against Escorts Heart 
Institute and Research Centre Limited (a subsidiary of the 
Company) for provision of services from hospitals operated 
from these lands, no provisions are made by the subsidiary 
company as the amounts are currently unascertainable (also 
refer Note 8 of Schedule 25).

 (b) Certain tax demands aggregating to Rs. 9,686.76 lacs (without 
considering the demand of Rs. 10,101.01 lacs raised twice in 
respect of certain years and after adjusting Rs. 13,282.38 lacs 
for which the subsidiary company has a legal right to claim 
from erstwhile promoters as discussed in detail in Note 9 of 
Schedule 25), raised on Escorts Heart Institute and Research 
Centre Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) by the Income Tax 
Authorities are pending in appeals and the eventual outcome 
of the above matters cannot presently be estimated.

Accordingly, we are unable to express an opinion at this stage 
in respect of these matters reported in paragraphs (a) and (b) 
above and their consequential effect, if any, on the consolidated 
fi nancial statements. The same were also the subject matter of 
qualifi cation by us in the previous year as well.

Subject to our comments in paragraph 5 above6.  and based on our 
audit and on consideration of reports of other auditors on separate 
fi nancial statements and on the other fi nancial information of the 
components, and to the best of our information and according to 
the explanations given to us, we are of the opinion that the attached 
consolidated fi nancial statements give a true and fair view in con-
formity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India:

 (a) in the case of the consolidated balance sheet, of the state of 
affairs of the Fortis Group as at March 31, 2010;

 (b) in the case of the consolidated profi t and loss account, of the 
profi t for the year ended on that date; and

 (c) in the case of the consolidated cash fl ow statement, of the 
cash fl ows for the year ended on that date.

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.
Firm Registration No. 301003E
Chartered Accountants

per Pankaj Chadha
Partner 
Membership No.: 91813

Place: Gurgaon

Date: May 28, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT MARCH 31, 2010
(Rs. in lacs)

Schedules As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SOURCES OF FUNDS 
Shareholders’ Funds  
  Share Capital 1  32,165.00  23,870.65 
  Reserves & Surplus 2  174,377.48  107,986.29 

 206,542.48  131,856.95 

Minority Interest  3,449.19  2,157.44 

Loan Funds  
  Secured Loans 3  304,537.34  30,586.95 
  Unsecured Loans 4  242,526.85  17,313.25 

 547,064.19  47,900.20 
 Deferred Tax Liabilities (net)  5  33.98  122.46 

TOTAL 757,089.84  182,037.04 

APPLICATION OF FUNDS   

Goodwill arising on Consolidation (Refer note 28 of Schedule 25) 41,637.64 39,606.16 
Goodwill on acquisition (Refer note 26 of Schedule 25) 44,624.19 -

Fixed Assets 
  Gross Block 6  164,036.43  115,576.28 
   Less : Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation  40,105.30  33,494.88 
  Net Block  123,931.13  82,081.40 
  Capital Work in Progress including Capital Advances  42,560.62  18,363.32 

 166,491.75  100,444.72 

Investments 7  344,848.62  5,412.57 
Deferred Tax Assets (net)  5 1236.17 -
Current Assets, Loans & Advances 
  Inventories 8  2,377.84  1,326.06 
  Sundry Debtors 9  15,667.03  13,350.76 
  Cash and Bank Balances 10  131,133.68  5,794.92 
  Other Current Assets 11  2,215.01  1,096.43 
  Loans and Advances 12  19,298.94  14,712.06 

 170,692.50  36,280.23 
Less : Current Liabilities & Provisions 
  Current Liabilities 13  29,012.55  19,041.66 
  Provisions 14  7,921.01  5,583.23 
  36,933.57  24,624.89 
Net Current Assets 133,758.94  11,655.34 

Miscellaneous Expenditure 
(to the extent not written off or adjusted)

15  6,645.18  122.96 

Profi t and Loss Account  17,847.15  24,795.29 
TOTAL  757,089.84  182,037.04 

Notes to Accounts 25    

The schedules referred to above and notes to accounts form an integral part of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Firm registration number: 301003E   
Chartered Accountants 
 Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh  
 Chairman Managing Director
per Pankaj Chadha 
Partner 
Membership No. 91813  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
 Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place : Gurgaon Place : New Delhi
Date : May 28, 2010 Date : May 28, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
(Rs. in lacs)

Schedules   For the 
Year Ended 

March 31, 2010

  For the
Year Ended

March 31, 2009 
INCOME 
  Operating Income 16  93,793.84  63,058.83 
  Other Income 17  4,931.21  2,834.95 

 98,725.05  65,893.78 
EXPENDITURE
  Materials Consumed 18  26,267.21  18,953.84 
  Personnel Expenses 19  19,500.08  14,736.17 
  Operating Expenses 20 24,130.13  14,329.25 
  Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 21 9,765.31  6,449.24 

79,662.73  54,468.50 
Profi t before Financial Expenses, Depreciation and Amortisation  19,062.32  11,425.28 
  Financial Expenses 22  5,729.18  4,366.07 
Profi t before Depreciation and Amortisation  13,333.14  7,059.21 
  Depreciation and Amortisation 6,162.19   5,049.63 
  Less: Transferred from Revaluation Reserve 168.17 5  5,994.02  175.63 
Profi t before Tax and Prior Period Items  7,339.12  2,185.21 
  Current Income Tax  1,532.58 357.77 
  Less : MAT Credit Entitlement 77.53  1,455.05  293.77 
  Deferred Tax Charge/ (Credit)  (1,119.97)  207.15 
  Fringe Benefi t Tax (includes Rs. 0.55 lacs (Previous Year Rs. Nil) for earlier years)  0.55  139.76 
Net Profi t after Tax and before Prior Period and Extra-ordinary Items 7,003.49  1,774.30  
  Less : Prior Period Items  23 2.96 8.03 
  Add : Extra-ordinary Item - 640.10 
Net Profi t before Minority Interest and Share in profi ts/ (losses) of Associate Companies 7,000.53 2,406.37 
  Less : Profi ts attributable to Minority Interest  208.53  274.18 
  Add : Share in current year profi ts/ (losses) of Associate Companies  156.14  (50.30)
Net Profi t attributable to the shareholders  6,948.14  2,081.89 

  Add: Balance brought forward from previous year  (24,795.29)  (26,877.18)

Loss carried over to the Balance Sheet  (17,847.15)  (24,795.29)

Earnings Per Share [Nominal value of shares Rs. 10/- each (Previous Year Rs. 10/-)] 24
Basic 
  Including prior period and extra-ordinary items  2.62  0.92 
  Excluding extra-ordinary items  2.62  0.64 
Diluted
  Including prior period and extra-ordinary items  2.61  0.92 
  Excluding extra-ordinary items  2.61  0.64 

Notes to Accounts 25 

The schedules referred to above and notes to accounts form an integral part of the Consolidated Profi t and Loss Account.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Firm registration number: 301003E   
Chartered Accountants 
 Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh  
 Chairman Managing Director
per Pankaj Chadha 
Partner  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
Membership No. 91813  Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place : Gurgaon Place : New Delhi
Date : May 28, 2010 Date : May 28, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars Year Ended
March 31, 2010

Year Ended
March 31, 2009 

A. Cash fl ow from operating activities 
Net profi t / (loss) before tax and prior period items  7,286.74  1,860.73 
Less: Prior period items  (2.96)  (8.03)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and Amortisation  5,994.02  4,874.00 
Loss on sale/ discard of fi xed assets (net)  161.49  117.55 
Profi t on sale of investments  (1,382.37)  (466.09)
Provision for doubtful debts  1,184.18  602.82 
Provision for contingencies  77.91  -   
Bad debts / sundry balances written off  185.24  136.62 
Arrangement fees written off  60.24  22.82 
Foreign exchange fl uctuation (gain)/ loss (net)  (2,875.11)  213.00 
Unclaimed balances and excess provisions written back  (76.55)  (231.87)
Wealth tax  5.85  1.88 
Interest income  (1,212.95)  (1,811.87)
Interest expense  5,216.92  4,192.96 
Profi ts Transferred to Minority Interest  208.53  274.18 
Share in (profi ts)/ losses of associate companies  (156.14)  50.30 
Operating profi t before working capital changes 14,675.04 9,829.00 
Movements in working capital :
Increase in sundry debtors  (4,723.99)  (4,395.30)
Increase in inventories  (1,051.78)  (97.15)
(Increase)/ decrease in loans and advances  (3,173.22)  99.38 
Increase in other current assets  (906.40)  (133.64)
Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities and provisions  9,834.98  (231.52)
Cash generated from operations 14,654.63  5,070.77 
Direct taxes paid (including fringe benefi t tax)  (1,404.26)  (911.78)
Extra-ordinary item  -    640.10 
Net cash from operating activities (A) 13,250.37  4,799.09 

B. Cash fl ows from investing activities 
Purchase of fi xed assets  (104,523.52)  (14,123.86)
Proceeds from sale of fi xed assets  122.99  160.64 
Fixed deposits with banks (net) *  (606.71)  76.21 
Deposits with bodies corporate and others (net)  2,105.01  4,537.11 
Purchase of investments in subsidiaries and associates  (338,021.20)  (2,496.57)
(Purchase)/ proceeds from sale of investments in mutual funds (net)  (9,785.63)  5.39 
Proceeds from sale of investments of subsidiaries  5.03  60.00 
Interest received  470.46  2,120.92 
Net cash used in investing activities (B) (450,233.57)  (9,660.16)

C. Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities 
Proceeds from issuance of equity share capital including premium (net of issue expenses)  98,454.45  -   
Proceeds from issuance of reedeemable preference share capital including premium  26,000.00  1,450.00 
Redemption of non-cumulative redeemable preference shares including premium  (53,731.18)  (1,451.05)
Proceeds from issuance of non convertible debentures  26,000.00  10,000.00 
Redemption of non convertible debentures including premium  -    (10,301.37)
Proceeds from issuance of equity shares of subsidiaries to minorities  77.45  -   
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  284,634.08  6,316.81 
Repayment of long-term borrowings  (37,230.57)  (9,887.59)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings (net)  226,831.02  17,662.75 
Decrease in deferred payment liabilities  -    (249.67)
Loan arrangement fees paid  (6,531.62)  -   
Interest paid  (2,905.92)  (4,313.46)
Net cash from fi nancing activities (C) 561,597.71  9,226.42 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)  124,614.51  4,365.35 
Total cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  5,727.72  1,463.04 
Add/ (Less): Cash and cash equivalents in respect of subsidiaries acquired/ (disposed off) during the year  117.54  (100.67)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  130,459.77  5,727.72 
Components of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash in hand  148.34  191.49 
Cheques in hand  164.04  30.24 
Balances with scheduled banks on current and cash credit accounts  4,502.94  933.51 
Balances with scheduled bank on deposit account *  125,644.45  4,572.48 
Total  130,459.77  5,727.72 

*includes deposit of Rs. 120,000 lacs (Previous Year Rs. Nil) pledge against loan taken from bank; Rs. 31.80 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 28.38 
lacs) under lien against bank guarantees and Rs. 100.28 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 10.34 lacs) under lien against letters of credit. The amount 
also  includes unutilized IPO proceeds of Rs. 573.09 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 3,863.98 lacs) (Refer note 16 of  Schedule 25).  

Notes: 
1. The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in the Accounting Standard 3 on Cash Flow Statement.
2. Negative fi gure have been shown in brackets.

As per our report of even date

For S.R. Batliboi & Co.  For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Firm registration number: 301003E   
Chartered Accountants 
 Malvinder Mohan Singh Shivinder Mohan Singh  
 Chairman Managing Director
per Pankaj Chadha  
Partner  Ruchi Mahajan Yogesh Sareen
Membership No. 91813  Company Secretary Chief Financial Offi cer

Place : Gurgaon Place : New Delhi
Date : May 28, 2010 Date : May 28, 2010
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 1 :
SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised:

 600,000,000 (Previous Year 600,000,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each  60,000.00  60,000.00 

 200 (Previous Year 200) Class ‘A’ Non-Cumulative Redeemable Preference 
Shares of Rs. 100,000 each

 200.00  200.00 

 11,498,846 (Previous Year 11,498,846) Class ‘B’ Non-Cumulative Redeemable Preference 
Shares of Rs. 10 each

 1,149.88  1,149.88 

 64,501,154 (Previous Year 64,501,154) Class ‘C’ Cumulative Redeemable Preference 
Shares of Rs. 10 each

 6,450.12  6,450.12 

67,800.00  67,800.00 

Issued:

 317,323,609* (Previous Year 226,666,533) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each fully paid up  31,732.36  22,666.65 

 1,600,000 (Previous Year 1,750,000) Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs.10 each

 160.00  175.00 

 3,196,000** (Previous Year 11,600,000) Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each

 287.64  1,044.00 

32,180.00 23,885.65 

Subscribed & Paid Up:

 317,323,609 (Previous Year 226,666,533) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each fully paid up  31,732.36  22,666.65 

 1,450,000 (Previous Year 1,600,000) Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each

 145.00  160.00 

 3,196,000** (Previous Year 11,600,000) Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each

 287.64  1,044.00 

Of the above:

 i) 242,193,340 (Previous Year 154,795,150) Equity Shares are held by Fortis 
Healthcare Holdings Limited, the holding company.

 ii) 520,000 (Previous Year 520,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each are allotted as fully 
paid up pursuant to the order of Hon’ble High Court of Delhi dated October 7, 
2005, for consideration other than cash.

 iii) Previous Year 600,000 Preference Shares of Rs. 9 each were held by Fortis 
Healthcare Holdings Limited, the holding company.

32,165.00 23,870.65 

* Excludes 90,646,936 detachable warrants issued and outstanding as at March 31, 2010 (Refer note 
25 of Schdule 25)

** Refer notes 17 and 18 of Schedule 25

For details of outstanding Stock options , refer note 12 of Schedule 25.
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 2 :
RESERVES & SURPLUS 
Amalgamation Reserve 156.00 156.00 

 (Pursuant to the order of the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi dated October 07, 
2005 in respect of amalgamation of an erstwhile subsidiary with the Company)

Revaluation Reserve

  Balance as per last account  37,548.50 

  Less : Transferred to Profi t and Loss Account  168.17  37,380.33  37,548.50 

Securities Premium Account

  Balance as per last account  70,281.79 

  Add : Premium received during the year on issue of Redeemable Preference 
Shares (Refer note 20 of Schedule 25)

 25,974.00 

  Add : Premium received during the year on issue of Equity Shares 
(Refer note 25 of Schedule 25)

 90,652.39 

  Less: Accrual for premium payable on redemption of Non-Convertible 
Debentures (Refer note 21 of Schedule 25)

 1,392.64 

  Less: Accrual for premium payable on redemption of Redeemable Preference 
Shares (Refer note 23 of Schedule 25)

 7,305.82 

  Less: Applied for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares 
(Refer notes 17, 18, 19 and 20 of Schedule 25)

 40,103.39 

  Less : Expenses incurred for issue of Equity Shares 
(Refer note 24 of Schedule 25)

 1,265.18  136,841.15  70,281.79 

 174,377.48  107,986.29 

SCHEDULE 3 :
SECURED LOANS*
Term Loans from Banks  293,222.48  17,664.48 
Interest Accrued and Due on Term Loans from Banks  146.02  44.89 
External Commercial Borrowing from a Bank  -    490.97 
Short Term Loans from Banks
  -Bank Overdraft  580.99  1,273.61 
  -Buyers Credit  72.14  -   
Commercial Papers (Short Term)  -    2,500.00 
(Maximum amount outstanding during the year Rs. 5,000.00 lacs
(Previous Year Rs. 5,000.00 lacs))
Loans for Vehicles  -    61.76 
Term Loans from Bodies Corporate  10,515.71  8,551.24 

 304,537.34  30,586.95 

*For details of Secured Loans, refer note 5 of Schedule 25 

SCHEDULE 4 :
UNSECURED LOANS
Term Loans from Banks  -    4,999.95 
(Amount repayable within one year Rs. Nil
(Previous Year Rs. 4,999.95 lacs))
Term Loans from Bodies Corporate  215,014.71  11,592.01 
(Amount repayable within one year Rs. 165,014.71 lacs
(Previous Year Rs. 11,592.01lacs))
Interest Accrued and Due on Term Loans from Bodies Corporate  512.14  75.49 
Bank Overdraft (Short Term)  -    645.80 
Non Convertible Debentures (Refer note 21 of Schedule 25)  26,000.00  -   
Optionally Convertible Debentures (Refer note 22 of Schedule 25)  1,000.00  -   

 242,526.85  17,313.25 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 5 :
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS / LIABILITIES (NET)
Deferred tax liability:

 -Timing differences in depreciation and other differences in block of fi xed assets as per tax books 
and fi nancial books

 123.83  215.43 

 -Others  7.30  12.06 

131.13 227.49 

Deferred tax asset:

 -Effect of Expenditure debited to profi t and loss account but not allowed for tax purposes  1,172.61  33.50 

 -On Carry forward business losses and unabsorbed depreciation 160.91  70.93 

 -Others  -    0.60 

1,333.52  105.03 

Deferred Tax Assets / (Liabilities) (Net) 1,202.39  (122.46)

Current Year amount is net of Deferred Tax Lialbilities of Rs. 33.98 lacs in respect of 2 subsidairy 
companies.
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 6A :
Expenditure during Construction Period (Pending Capitalization/Allocation) 

Opening Balance  2,542.38  2,260.68 

Personnel Expenses
Salaries, Wages and Bonus  453.88  369.81 

Gratuity  (1.14)  25.75 

Leave Encashment  1.73  20.38 

Contribution to Provident & Other Funds  14.37  14.81 

Staff Welfare Expenses  -    2.56 

 468.84  433.31 

General and Administrative Expenses

Legal & Professional Fee  2.02  72.81 

Travel & Conveyance  3.41  36.08 

Rates & Taxes  2.55  2.64 

Rent - Others  6.00  28.53 

Ground Rent  33.91  23.06 

Miscellaneous Expenses  25.75  20.72 

 73.64  183.84 

Financial Expenses

Interest  838.86  681.83 

Arrangement Fees Written off  9.16  2.04 

Finance Charges  5.98  107.77 

 854.00  791.64 

Less: Deletion on Sale of a Subsidiary  -    1,127.09 

Balance carried forward to Capital Work in Progress  3,938.86  2,542.38 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 7 : 
INVESTMENTS
Long Term Investments (At cost)

Investment in Associates

Quoted, fully paid-up
Trade

164,670,801 (Previous Year 164,670,801) Ordinary Shares of Medical Surgical and Centre 
Limited (including capital reserve of Rs. 4,224.26 lacs)

 1,312.69  1,312.69 

Add: Share in post acquisition profi ts upto the beginning of the year  36.01  -   

Add: Share in profi ts for the current year  95.12  1,443.82  36.01 

9,301,069 (Previous Year 9,079,002) Equity Shares of Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited of Rs. 
10 each (including goodwill of Rs. 2,976.24 lacs) (Refer note C (1) (a) of Schedule 25)

 -    2,928.58 

Add: Share in post acquisition losses upto the beginning of the year  -    (21.72)

Add: Share in losses for the current year  -    -    (79.09)

279,148,996 (Previous Year Nil) Ordinary Shares of Parkway Holdings Limited (including 
goodwill of Rs. 169,022.02 lacs) (Refer note 27 of Schedule 25)

 330,942.42  -   

Unquoted, fully paid-up

Trade

4,400,364 (Previous Year 4,400,364) Equity Shares of Sunrise Medicare Private Limited of 
Rs. 10 each (including goodwill of Rs. 307.91 lacs)

 440.04  440.04 

Add: Share in post acquisition losses upto the beginning of the year  (4.19)  (39.47)

Add: Share in profi ts / (losses) for the current year  (28.57)  407.28  35.28 

400,000 (Previous Year 400,000) Equity Shares of Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited 
of Rs. 10 each

 40.00  40.00 

(Of the above, 3 shares are jointly held with nominee shareholders)

150,000 (Previous Year 80,000) Zero Percent Redeemable Preference Shares of 
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited of Rs. 10 each

 1,500.00  800.00 

Add: Share in post acquisition losses upto the beginning of the year  (40.00)

Add: Share in losses for the current year  -  1,500.00  (40.00)

70,970 (Previous Year 50,000) Equity Shares of Fortis Hospital Management Limited of 
Rs. 10 each

 25.97 

Add: Share in losses for the current year  (25.97)  -    -   

Current Investments (At lower of cost or fair value)

Unquoted

Non-Trade

National Savings Certifi cate  0.25  0.25 

Mutual Funds  10,554.85  -   

 344,848.62  5,412.57 

Aggregate amount of quoted investments (Market value Rs. 307,506.58 lacs 
(Previous Year Rs. 6,717.22 lacs))

 332,386.24  4,176.47 

Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  12,462.38  1,236.10 

SCHEDULE 8 : 
INVENTORIES (at lower of cost and net realisable value)
Medical Consumables and Drugs  2,194.46  1,173.14 

Stores and spares  183.38  152.92 

 2,377.84  1,326.06 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 9 :
SUNDRY DEBTORS 
Debts outstanding for a period exceeding Six Months  4,432.37  4,924.50 
Unsecured, Considered Good  2,898.47  1,156.02 
Considered Doubtful
Other Debts  11,234.66  8,426.26 
Unsecured, Considered Good  78.54  21.56 
Considered Doubtful  18,644.04  14,528.34 

 2,977.01  1,177.58 
Less : Provision for Doubtful Debts  15,667.03  13,350.76 

SCHEDULE 10 :
CASH AND BANK BALANCES  
Cash in hand  148.34  191.49 
Cheques in hand  164.04  30.24 
Balances with Scheduled Banks
- On Current Accounts  4,499.04  929.09 
- On Cash Credit Accounts  -    0.53 
- On Deposit Accounts*  126,318.36  4,639.67 
- On Special disbursement account  3.90  3.90 

 131,133.68  5,794.92 
* includes deposit of Rs. 120,000 lacs (Previous Year Rs. Nil) pledged against loan taken from bank; 
Rs. 31.80 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 28.38 lacs) under lien against bank guarantees; Rs. Nil (Previous Year 
Rs. 5.00 lacs) deposited under direction of the Court and Rs. 100.28 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 10.34 lacs) 
under lien against letters of credit. The amount also  includes unutilized IPO proceeds of Rs. 573.09 
lacs (Previous Year Rs. 3,863.98 lacs) (Refer note 16 of Schedule 25 ).

SCHEDULE 11 :
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
Interest Accrued but Not Due on Loans and Deposits  388.00  175.82 
Accrued Operating Income  1,827.01  920.61 

 2,215.01  1,096.43 

SCHEDULE 12 :
LOANS AND ADVANCES 
Secured, Considered Good
Loans to Bodies Corporate and Others  186.41  149.32 
Unsecured, Considered good
Loans to Fellow Subsidiaries  1,155.81  -   
Loans to Bodies Corporate and Others  2,896.24  5,160.07 
Loans to Employees  17.22  18.08 
Advances Recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received  4,415.89  1,581.97 
Gratuity Fund (net of liability of Rs. 115.13 lacs)  16.56  -   
Advance Tax and Tax Deducted at Source  6,900.56  5,296.09 
Deposits with Income Tax Authorities  1,137.37  1,079.21 
Balances with Customs, Excise and Other Authorities  839.58  653.84 
Security Deposits  1,405.00  386.23 
MAT Credit Entitlement  327.31  350.06 
Interest Accrued and Due  0.99  37.19 
Unsecured, Considered Doubtful
Advances Recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received  30.44  30.68 
Advance Tax and Tax Deducted at Source  20.62  20.62 

 19,350.00  14,763.36 
Less : Provision for Doubtful Advances  51.06  51.30 

 19,298.94  14,712.06 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

As at
March 31, 2010

As at
March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 13 :
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Acceptances  30.15  -   
Sundry Creditors
(a) total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises  -    -   
(b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small Enterprises  19,440.57  7,752.34 
Book Overdraft  1,133.58  54.13 
Advances from Patients  1,573.50  829.07 
Security Deposits  203.99  111.16 
Interest Accrued but Not Due on Loans  674.18  82.58 
Payable against Purchase of Investment  -    400.00 
Premium Payable on Redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares (Refer note 23 of Schedule 25)  4,318.63  8,917.96 
Premium Payable on Redemption of Non Convertible Debentures (Refer note 21 of Schedule 25)  329.55  -   
Other Liabilities  1,308.40  894.42 

 29,012.55  19,041.66 

SCHEDULE 14 :
PROVISIONS
Wealth Tax  5.87  2.06 
Fringe Benefi t Tax  470.76  479.47 
Income Tax  4,953.85  3,343.82 
Contingencies  77.91  -   
Litigations (Refer note 11of Schedule 25)  330.39  330.39 
Gratuity  1,222.02  802.95 
Leave Encashment  860.21  624.54 

 7,921.01  5,583.23 

SCHEDULE 15 :
MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE (To the extent not written off or adjusted)
Arrangement Fees on Term Loans
Balance brought forward  122.96  72.88 
Incurred during the year  6,591.62  74.94 

 6,714.58  147.82 
Less : Written off/ capitalised during the year  69.40  24.86 

 6,645.18  122.96 

   For the 
Year Ended

March 31, 2010

 For the 
Year Ended

SCHEDULE 16 : March 31, 2009

OPERATING INCOME
In Patient  79,752.42  53,407.20 
Out Patient  10,968.47  6,396.45 
Income from Medical Services  1,403.34  2,154.05 
Management Fees from Hospitals  673.65  366.75 
Income from Satellite Centers  473.45  346.61 
Income from Rehabilitation Center  123.04  78.03 
Income from Clinical Research (net of patient expenses of Rs. 6.66 lacs (Previous Year Rs. Nil))  168.54  -   
Income from Academic Services  23.03  -   
Income from Rent (Refer notes 4 (b) (i) and (ii) of Schedule 25)  354.31  294.74 
Equipment Lease Rental (Refer notes 4 (b) (i) and (ii) of Schedule 25)  706.14  684.14 
Pharmacy  932.31  461.45 

 95,578.70  64,189.42 
Less: Discounts  1,784.86  1,130.59 

 93,793.84  63,058.83 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

   For the 
Year Ended

March 31, 2010

 For the 
Year Ended

March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 17 :
OTHER INCOME
Profi t on Redemption of Mutual Funds  949.22  5.39 
Interest
-Bank Deposits (Tax Deducted at Source Rs. 59.67 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 8.65 lacs))  550.11  58.88 
-Others* (Tax Deducted at Source Rs. 11.93 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 87.96 lacs))  662.84  1,752.99 
Unclaimed Balances and Excess Provisions Written Back  76.55  231.87 
Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Gain (net)  1,919.03  -   
Claim Received Against Keyman Insurance Policy  -    134.55 
Profi t on Sale of Investment in Subsidiary (Refer note C (1) (f) of Schedule 25)  433.15  460.70 
Miscellaneous Income  340.31  190.57 

 4,931.21  2,834.95 
* Includes interest on loans to bodies corporate and others

SCHEDULE 18 :
MATERIALS CONSUMED 
Medical Consumables and Drugs :
Opening Stock  1,173.14  1,069.98 
Less: Deletion on Sale of a Subsidiary  -    (5.64)
Add: Purchases  27,288.53  19,062.64 
Less: Closing Stock  2,194.46  1,173.14 

 26,267.21  18,953.84 

SCHEDULE 19 :
PERSONNEL EXPENSES  
Salaries, Wages and Bonus  16,899.98  13,499.96 
Gratuity  285.56  60.81 

Leave Encashment  408.10  (294.94)
Contribution to Provident & Other Funds  914.96  782.02 
Staff Welfare Expenses  811.71  580.40 
Recruitment & Training  179.77  107.92 

 19,500.08  14,736.17 

SCHEDULE 20 :
OPERATING EXPENSES   
Contractual Manpower  992.80  863.27 
Power & Fuel  2,576.07  2,159.50 
Housekeeping Expenses including Consumables  1,298.36  863.65 
Patient Food and Beverages  1,076.18  767.35 
Pathology Laboratory Expenses  1,940.61  1,150.89 
Radiology Expenses  1,577.22  840.39 
Consultation Fees to Doctors  3,100.57  1,832.93 
Professional Charges to Doctors  7,642.91  3,409.38 
Cost of Medical Services  119.85  52.95 
Repairs & Maintenance
  - Building  251.78  177.10 
  - Plant & Machinery  1,316.16  1,142.28 
Rent
  - Hospital Building (Refer note 4 (a) of Schedule 25)  2,047.01  947.67 
  - Equipments (Refer note 4 (a) of Schedule 25)  102.69  71.44 
Other Expenses  87.92  50.45 

 24,130.13  14,329.25 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
(Rs. in lacs)

For the 
Year Ended

March 31, 2010

For the 
Year Ended

March 31, 2009 

SCHEDULE 21 :
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Donations  8.09  21.30 
Legal & Professional Fee  1,822.65  1,391.05 
Travel & Conveyance  1,195.55  878.40 
Repairs & Maintenance - Others  569.91  439.16 
Rates & Taxes  206.01  107.61 
Directors' Sitting Fees  20.56  10.80 
Insurance  524.46  326.88 
Rent - Others (Refer note 4 (a) of Schedule 25)  717.91  207.19 
Ground Rent  12.50  28.91 
Marketing & Business Promotion  1,480.13  740.32 
Wealth Tax  5.85  1.88 
Loss on Sale/ Discard of Fixed Assets (net of gain)  161.49  117.55 
Auditors' Remuneration (as auditors)  138.62  110.21 
Foreign Exchange Fluctuation Loss (net)  -    211.11 
Bad Debts and Sundry Balances written off  185.24  136.62 
Provision for Doubtful Debts  1,184.18  602.82 
Provision for Contigencies  77.91  -   
Miscellaneous Expenses  1,454.25  1,117.43 

 9,765.31  6,449.24 

SCHEDULE 22 :
FINANCIAL EXPENSES
Interest
  - On Term Loans  4,272.55  3,608.44 

  - Others  944.37  584.52 
Finance Charges  260.80  65.44 
Arrangement Fees Written off  60.24  22.82 
Bank Charges  191.22  84.85 

 5,729.18  4,366.07 

SCHEDULE 23 :
PRIOR PERIOD ITEMS
Power & Fuel  1.16  16.50 
Materials Consumed  -    0.36 
Legal & Professional Fees  -    5.81 
Rent Income  -    (14.83)
Repairs & Maintenance - Plant and Machinery  9.81  11.57 
Repairs & Maintenance - Others  27.63  0.39 
Rent- Others  45.00  1.47 
Marketing & Business Promotion  -    0.34 
Service Tax Recoverable  (19.95)  (14.21)
Recruitment & Training  -    0.63 
Miscellaneous Income  (60.69)  -   

 2.96  8.03 

SCHEDULE 24 :
EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) 
Net profi t as per profi t and loss account  6,948.14  2,081.89 
Net profi t as per profi t and loss account excluding extra-ordinary item  6,948.14  1,441.79 
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating Basic EPS  265,413,205  226,666,533 
Add: Weighted average number of equity shares which would be issued on the allotment  408,314  -   
          of equity shares against stock option granted under ESOP 2007
Weighted average number of equity shares in calculating Diluted EPS  265,821,519  226,666,533 
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SCHEDULES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

SCHEDULE 25: 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

A. BACKGROUND

 Fortis Healthcare Limited (‘FHL’ or the ‘Company’) was incorporated in the year 1996 and commenced its hospital operations in year 2001 
with the fl agship of Multi-Specialty Hospital at Mohali and has thereafter set up / acquired/ taken over the management of other hospitals 
in different parts of the country. As part of its business activities, the Company holds interests in its subsidiary and associate companies 
through which it manages and operates a network of multi-specialty hospitals. The Company’s equity shares are listed on both Bombay Stock 
Exchange and National Stock Exchange.

B. SIGINIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

 The consolidated fi nancial statements (“CFS”) have been prepared to comply in all material respects with the Notifi ed Accounting 
Standards by Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 (as amended) and the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. 
The CFS has been prepared under the historical cost convention on an accrual basis except in case of certain fi xed assets of certain 
subsidiaries, for which revaluation was carried out in previous year.

 The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the ‘Fortis Group’ (as defi ned under ‘Composition of the Group’ in note 1 
below under ‘Other Signifi cant Notes’) and are consistent with those used in the previous year.

(b) Principles of Consolidation 

 The CFS relates to FHL and its subsidiaries and associates (‘Fortis Group’). In the preparation of the CFS, investments in subsidiaries and 
associates  are accounted for in accordance with the requirements of AS 21 (Consolidated Financial Statements) and AS 23 (Accounting 
for Investments in Associates in Consolidated Financial Statements), notifi ed pursuant to the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2006 (as amended). The CFS are prepared on the following basis:

i) Subsidiary companies are consolidated on a line-by-line basis by adding together the book values of the like items of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses, after eliminating all signifi cant intra-group balances and intra-group transactions and also unrealised profi ts 
or losses. The results of operations of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated fi nancial statements from the date on which the 
parent subsidiary relationship comes into existence.

ii) The difference between the cost to the Company of its investment in the subsidiary and its proportionate share in the equity of the 
subsidiary as at the date of acquisition of stake is recognized as goodwill or capital reserve, as the case may be. Goodwill is tested 
for impairment at the end of each accounting year. For impairment, the carrying value of goodwill is compared with the present value 
of discounted cash fl ows of the respective subsidiaries and loss, if any, is adjusted to the carrying value of the goodwill. 

iii) Minorities’ interest in net profi ts/losses of the subsidiaries for the year is identifi ed and adjusted against the income in order to 
arrive at the net income attributable to the shareholders of the Company. Their share of net assets is identifi ed and presented in the 
consolidated balance sheet separately.  Where accumulated losses attributable to the minorities are in excess of their equity, in the 
absence of the contractual obligation on the minorities, the same are accounted for by FHL, being the holding company.

iv) Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. The difference between  the cost of investment in associate 
and the proportionate share in equity of the associate as at the date of acquisition of stake is identifi ed as goodwill or the capital 
reserve, as the case may be and included in the carrying value of the investment in the associate.  The carrying amount of the 
investment is adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the share of net assets of the associate. However, the share of 
losses is accounted for only to the extent of the cost of investment. Subsequent profi ts of such associates are not accounted for 
unless the accumulated losses (not accounted for by FHL) are recouped.

v) As far as possible, the CFS are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar 
circumstances and are presented, to the extent possible, in the same manner as the Company’s separate fi nancial statements. 
Differences in accounting policies are disclosed separately.

vi) The fi nancial statements of the group entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up to the same reporting date as that 
of the Company i.e. year ended March 31, 2010.

(c) Use of Estimates

 The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities as at the 
date of the fi nancial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end.  Although these estimates are based upon 
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ from these estimates.
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(d) Fixed Assets 

 Fixed assets are stated at cost (or fair value in case of acquisition under slump sale or revalued amounts, as the case may be) less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Cost comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable cost of bringing 
the asset to its working condition for its intended use. Borrowing costs relating to acquisition of fi xed assets which take substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use are also included to the extent they relate to the period till such assets are ready to be put 
to use.

(e) Depreciation

i) Except as stated in para (ii) , (iii) and (iv) below, depreciation on all fi xed assets within the Fortis Group is provided for using the 
Straight Line method at higher of the rates arrived at as per the useful lives of the assets as estimated by the management and those 
prescribed under Schedule XIV of the Companies Act, 1956. 

ii) Depreciation on Leasehold Improvements is provided over the primary period of lease or over the useful lives of the respective fi xed 
assets, whichever is shorter.

iii) Leasehold land is amortised over the period of lease except in respect of two subsidiaries where the same is available on perpetual 
lease basis (44.99% of net block of leasehold land of the Fortis Group aggregating to Rs. 16,243.07 lacs as at March 31, 2010).

iv) In respect of certain subsidiaries, depreciation is being provided for using the Written Down Value method at higher of the rates 
arrived at as per the useful lives of the assets as estimated by the management and those prescribed under Schedule XIV of the 
Companies Act, 1956 (23.94% of the total net block of fi xed assets (excluding leasehold and freehold land) of the Fortis Group 
aggregating to Rs. 71,859.29 lacs as at March 31, 2010).

v) Individual assets with cost not exceeding Rs. 5,000 are depreciated fully in the year of purchase.

vi) In respect of the revalued assets, the difference between the depreciation calculated on the revalued amount and that calculated on 
the original cost is recouped from the revaluation reserve account.

(f) Expenditure on new projects and substantial expansion

 Expenditure directly relating to construction activity is capitalised. Indirect expenditure incurred during construction period is capitalised 
to the extent to which the expenditure is related to construction or is incidental thereto. Other indirect expenditure (including borrowing 
costs) incurred during the construction period, which is not related to the construction activity nor is incidental thereto, is charged to the 
Profi t and Loss Account.

 All direct capital expenditure on expansion are capitalised. As regards indirect expenditure on expansion, only that portion is capitalised 
which represents the marginal increase in such expenditure involved as a result of capital expansion. Both direct and indirect expenditure 
are capitalised only if they increase the value of the asset beyond its originally assessed standard of performance.

(g) Intangibles

 Technical Know-how Fees

 Technical know-how fees is amortized over a period of 3–5 years from the date of commencement of commercial operation by the 
respective entity.

 Softwares

 Cost of software is amortized over a period of 6 years, being the estimated useful life as per the management estimates, except in 
respect of three of the subsidiaries of the Company, where software is amortized over a period of 5 years (14.68 % of net block of 
software of the Fortis Group aggregating to Rs. 386.62 lacs as at March 31, 2010). 

 License Fee

 License fee capitalized as an intangible asset is amortised over a period of 10 years, being the management estimate of the useful life of 
the asset.

 Right of Use of Land

 Right of use of land is recognized based on the fee paid by a subsidiary to operate and manage the hospitals acquired under slump sale 
and is not amortised, considering that the right is available to the subsidiary on perpetual basis.

 Non-Compete fee

 Non-compete fee which is valued based on the incremental cash fl ows attributable to the non-compete covenant entered during the 
acquisition of business by a subsidiary is capitalised and amortised over an estimated useful life of 3 years over which the benefi ts are 
likely to accrue, on a straight line basis.
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(h)  Impairment 

i) The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date if there is   any indication of impairment based on internal/ 
external factors. An impairment loss is recognized wherever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash fl ows are discounted to their present value at the weighted average cost of capital.

ii) After impairment, depreciation is provided on the revised carrying amount of the asset over its remaining useful life.

(i) Leases

 Where a group entity is the lessee

a) Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefi ts incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalized at the lower of the fair value and present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the 
lease term and disclosed as leased assets. Lease payments are apportioned between the fi nance charges and reduction of the lease 
liability based on the implicit rate of return. Finance charges are charged directly against income. Lease management fees, legal 
charges and other initial direct costs are capitalised. If there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain the ownership 
by the end of the lease term, capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or 
the lease term.

b) Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefi ts of ownership of the leased item are classifi ed as 
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the Profi t and Loss account on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

 Where a group entity is the lessor

 Assets subject to operating leases are included in fi xed assets. Lease income is recognized in the Profi t and Loss account on a straight 
line basis over the lease term. Costs, including depreciation, are recognized as expense in the Profi t and Loss account. 

(j) Investments

 Investments that are readily realisable and intended to be held for not more than a year are classifi ed as current investments. All other 
investments are classifi ed as long-term investments. Current investments are carried at lower of cost and fair value determined on an 
individual investment basis. Long-term investments are carried at cost. However, provision for diminution in value is made to recognize 
a decline other than temporary in the value of such long term investments.

(k) Inventories 

 Inventory of Medical Consumables, Drugs and Stores and Spares are valued at lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined 
on Weighted Average basis, except for three of the subsidiaries where it is determined on First-in First-out basis (42.08 % of total 
inventories of Fortis Group aggregating Rs. 2,377.84 lacs as at March 31, 2010).

 Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and costs 
incurred to make the sale.

(l) Revenue Recognition

 Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. 

 Operating Income

 Operating Income is recognised as and when the services are rendered / pharmacy items are sold. Management fee from hospitals and 
income from medical services is recognised as per the terms of the agreement with respective hospitals.

 Income  from Rehabilitation Centre

 Revenue is recognised as and when the services are rendered at the centre.

 Rental Income and Equipment Lease Rentals

 Revenue is recognised in accordance with the terms of lease agreements entered into with the respective lessees.

 Income from Academic Services

 Revenue is recognized on pro-rata basis over the duration of the program.

 Income from Clinical Research

 Revenue is recognised as and when the services are rendered in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements.

FORTIS.indd   112FORTIS.indd   112 8/21/2010   7:56:01 PM8/21/2010   7:56:01 PM



14th Annual Report 2009-10

113

 Interest 

 Revenue is recognized on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rate applicable.

 Income from Satellite Centre

 Income from satellite centre is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of respective agreements entered into in 
respect thereof.

 Dividends

 Dividend is recognised if the right to dividend is established by the balance sheet date.

(m) Miscellaneous Expenditure (not written off)

 Costs incurred in raising funds (Arrangement Fees on Term Loans) is amortised on straight line basis over the period for which the funds 
are obtained.

(n) Foreign Currency Transactions  

i) Initial Recognition

     Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate 
between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

 ii) Conversion

 Foreign currency monetary items are reported using the closing rate. Non-monetary items that are carried in terms of historical cost 
denominated in a foreign currency are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

 iii) Exchange Differences

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting company’s monetary items at rates different from 
those at which they were initially recorded during the year, or reported in previous fi nancial statements, are recognised as income or 
as expenses in the year in which they arise. 

iv) Forward Exchange Contracts not intended for trading or speculation purposes

 The premium or discount arising at the inception of forward exchange contracts is amortised as expense or income over the life 
of the contract. Exchange differences on such contracts are recognised in the statement of profi t and loss in the year in which the 
exchange rates change.

v) Translation of Integral Foreign Operations

 The fi nancial statements of an integral foreign operations are translated as if the transactions of the foreign operation have been 
those of the company itself. Exchange differences arising on such translation are recognised as income or expense in the year in 
which they arise.

(o) Employee Benefi ts   

i) Contributions to Provident Fund

 The entities comprised within the Fortis Group make contributions to statutory provident fund in accordance with Employees 
Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952. Provident Fund is a defi ned contribution scheme and the contributions 
are charged to the Profi t and Loss Account of the year when the contributions to the respective fund is due. The provident fund 
contribution of certain employees of the group is being deposited with “Fortis Healthcare Limited Provident Fund Trust” managed 
by the Company; such contribution to the trust additionally requires the Company to guarantee payment of interest at rates notifi ed 
by the Central Government from time to time, for which shortfall, if any has to be provided for as at the balance sheet date. There 
are no other obligation other than the contribution payable to the fund.

ii) Gratuity 

 Gratuity liability is defi ned benefi t obligation and is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation made at the end of the year 
using the projected unit credit method.

 A subsidiary of the Company has taken insurance policy under the Group Gratuity scheme with the Life Insurance Corporation of 
India (LIC) to cover the gratuity liability of the employees and the amount paid/ payable in respect of present value of liability of 
past services is charged to the Profi t and Loss account every year. The difference between the amount paid/payable to LIC and the 
actuarial valuation made at the end of each fi nancial year is charged to the Profi t and Loss Account.
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iii) Compensated Absences

 Long term compensated absences are provided for based on actuarial valuation made at the end of the year using projected unit 
credit method. Short term compensated absences are provided for based on estimates.  

iv) Actuarial Gains/Losses

 Actuarial gains/losses are recognised in the Profi t and Loss Account as they occur.

(p) Income Taxes

 Tax expense comprises current, deferred and fringe benefi t tax. Current income tax and fringe benefi t tax is measured at the amount expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961. Deferred income tax refl ect the impact of current year 
timing differences between taxable income and accounting income for the year and reversal of timing differences of earlier years. 

 Deferred tax is measured based on the tax rates and the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that there is reasonable certainty that suffi cient future taxable income will be available against 
which such deferred tax assets can be realised. In situations where the Company has unabsorbed depreciation or carry forward tax 
losses, all deferred tax assets are recognised only if there is virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that they can be realised 
against future taxable profi ts.

 At each balance sheet date, the Company re-assesses and recognises unrecognised deferred tax assets. It recognises unrecognised 
deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that suffi cient future taxable 
income will be available against which such deferred tax assets can be realised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. The Company writes-down the carrying amount 
of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that suffi cient future 
taxable income will be available against which deferred tax asset can be realised. Any such write-down is reversed to the extent that it 
becomes reasonably certain or virtually certain, as the case may be, that suffi cient future taxable income will be available.

 Minimum Alternative Tax (‘MAT’) credit is recognised as an asset only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that the 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specifi ed period.  In the year in which the MAT credit becomes eligible to be recognized 
as an asset in accordance with the recommendations contained in Guidance Note issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India (‘ICAI’), the said asset is created by way of a credit to the profi t and loss account and shown as MAT Credit Entitlement.

 Deferred Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities across operations on which enterprise has no legal enforceable right are not set off 
against each other as the Company does not have a legal right to do so.

(q) Employee Stock Compensation Cost

 Measurement and disclosure of the employee share-based payment plans is done in accordance with SEBI (Employee Stock Option 
Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 and the Guidance Note on Accounting for Employee Share-based 
Payments, issued by the ICAI. The Company measures compensation cost relating to employee stock options using the intrinsic value 
method. Compensation expense is amortized over the vesting period of the option on a straight line basis.

(r) Earnings Per Share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net consolidated profi t for the year attributable to equity shareholders (after 
deducting preference dividends and attributable taxes, if any) by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, net consolidated profi t for the year attributable to equity shareholders and 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

(s) Provisions

 A provision is recognized when an enterprise has a present obligation as a result of past event and it is probable that an outfl ow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made.  Provisions are not discounted 
to their present value and are determined based on best estimate required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date.  These are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to refl ect the current best estimates.

(t) Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents in the cash fl ow statement comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less.
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C. OTHER SIGNIFICANT NOTES

1. Composition of the Group 

 The list of Subsidiaries and Associates considered in the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements of Fortis Healthcare 
Limited is as under-

Name of the Group Company Country of 
Incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

as at March 31, 2010

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

as at March 31, 2009
a) Subsidiaries    
Fortis Hospotel Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Fortis Health Management Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
International Hospital Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Fortis Healthcare International Limited Mauritius 100.00% 100.00%
Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre Limited India 90.00% 90.00%
Escorts Heart Centre Limited India 90.00% 90.00%
Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited India 90.00% 90.00%
Escorts Hospital and Research Centre Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital Limited India 100.00% 100.00%
Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited India 67.23% 67.23%
Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (Refer note (a) below) India 50.02% 48.83%
Fortis Hospitals Limited (Refer note (b) below) India 100.00% -   
Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (Refer note (c) below) Mauritius 100.00% -   
Kanishka Housing Development Company Limited (Refer note 
(d) below)

India 100.00% -   

Fortis Emergency Services Limited (Refer note (e) below) India 51.00% -   
Malar Stars Medicare Limited (Refer note (a) below) India 50.02% -   
b) Associates    
Sunrise Medicare Private Limited India 31.26% 31.26%
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited India 39.99% 39.99%
Medical and Surgical Centre Limited Mauritius 28.89% 28.89%
Fortis Hospital Management Limited (Refer note (f) below) India 47.00% 100.00%
Parkways Holdings Limited (Refer note (g) below) Singapore 24.69% -

a) During the current year International Hospital Limited (‘IHL’) has acquired additional stake of 1.19% in Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited 
(‘FMHL’) (formerly Malar Hospitals Limited) on various dates between May 15, 2009 and October 1, 2009 and increased its stake to 
50.02%. Thus, it has become a subsidiary of the Company through IHL with effect from October 1, 2009.

 FMHL has incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary Malar Stars Medicare Limited on July 7, 2009. Thus, it has become a subsidiary of 
the Company through FMHL with effect from October 1, 2009.

b) During the current year, the Company has promoted a wholly owned subsidiary Fortis Hospitals Limited (‘FHsL’) on June 18, 2009.

c) During the current year, Fortis Healthcare International Limited (‘FHIL’), a subsidiary of the Company has acquired a 100% subsidiary 
Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (‘FGHML’) on October 7, 2009. Thus, FGHML has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company through FHIL.

d) During the current year, Fortis Hospitals Limited (‘FHsL’) has acquired 100% stake in Kanishka Housing Development Company Limited 
(‘KHDCL’) on December 17, 2009. Thus, KHDCL has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company through FHsL.

e) During the current year, IHL has acquired 51% stake in Fortis Emergency Services Limited (‘FESL’) on August 20, 2009. Thus, FESL has 
become a subsidiary of the Company through IHL.

f) Fortis Hospital Management Limited (‘FHoML’) was incorporated on April 9, 2008 in which IHL held 99.99% shareholding. The balance 
0.01% stake was acquired by IHL from other shareholders on January 2, 2009.

 During the current year, IHL has diluted its stake in FHoML to 50.33% and further to 47% on December 31, 2009 and March 25, 2010 
respectively. Thus, effective March 25, 2010 FHoML has become an associate of the Company through IHL.

g) During the current year, in terms of shareholders agreement entered into by FGHML with Newbridge Singapore Co-Investment Pte. Ltd., 
Newbridge Singapore Healthcare Partners Pte. Ltd. and Newbridge Singapore Medical Partners Pte. Ltd.; FGHML has acquired 23.84% 
stake in Parkways Holdings Limited (‘PHL’) on March 19, 2010. FGHML has further acquired 0.85% stake in PHL by purchase from open 
market up to March 31, 2010. Thus, PHL has become an associate of the Company with effect from March 19, 2010 through FGHML.

2. Segment Reporting 

 The Group is primarily engaged in the business of healthcare services, which as per Accounting Standard 17 on ‘Segment Reporting’ issued 
by the ICAI is considered to be the only reportable business segment. The Group’s operating locations are based in India which is considered 
as a single geographical segment.
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3. Related Party Disclosures

 Names of Related parties (As certifi ed by the management)

Holding Company Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited

Fellow Subsidiaries (parties with whom 
transactions have taken place)

Fortis Health Staff Limited
Religare Wellness Limited (formerly Fortis Healthworld Limited)
Medsource Healthcare Private Limited

Associates Sunrise Medicare Private Limited
Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (formerly Malar Hospitals Limited) (upto September 30, 2009, 
Subsidiary thereafter)
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited
Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (from August 4, 2008 to January 29, 2009, Subsidiary thereafter)
Medical and Surgical Centre Limited, Mauritius (with effect from January 28, 2009)
Fortis Hospital Management Limited (subsidiary upto March 25, 2010, Associate thereafter)
Parkway Holdings Limited, Singapore (with effect from March 19, 2010)

Key Management Personnel (‘KMP’) 
and their Relatives

Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh – Chairman of FHL and EHIRCL
Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh –Managing Director of FHL and EHIRCL
Dr. N.K. Pandey - Manager at EHRCL  (upto April 30, 2008)
Mr. Surender Kumar - Wholetime Director at FHTL (from August 6, 2009)
Mr. Manoj Rai Mehta - Manager at IHL (from August 4, 2008 upto February 1, 2009)
Dr. Ashok V Chordiya – Manager at IHL (with effect from March 28, 2009)
Dr. C M Bhasin - Manager at FHTL (from January 8, 2008 to June 2, 2009)
Mr. Sunil Kapoor - Executive Director at EHSSIL (from April 1, 2008 upto February 1, 2009) and 
Wholetime Director at EHSSHL (from December 24, 2009)
Mr. Jasdeep Singh – Manager at EHSSIL (from March 30, 2009 to July 14, 2009) and Wholetime 
Director at EHSSIL (from July 15, 2009)
Dr. Praneet Kumar - Manager at EHSSHL (upto February 1, 2009) and Wholetime Director at 
FHTL (from June 1, 2009)
Mr. Ashish Bhatia – Wholetime Director at EHIRCL (with effect from July 3, 2008)
Mr. Sukhmeet Singh Sandhu – Wholetime Director at EHRCL (with effect from July 1, 2009)
Dr. Ashok Seth – Wholetime Director at EHIRCL (with effect from August  25, 2008)
Mr. Krish Ramesh- Wholetime Director at FMHL (with effect from October 1, 2009)
Mr. Praveen Chawla – Manager at IHL (upto August 4, 2008)
Dr. Lakshminarayana Raju – Wholetime Director at LHPL (with effect from January 30, 2009)
Dr. Mohan Keshavamurthy – Wholetime Director at LHPL (with effect from January 30, 2009)
Mr. Venkatramana Raju (Relative of Dr. Lakshminarayana Raju)
Dr. Seetha Beladevi (Relative of Dr. Mohan Keshavamurthy)

Enterprises owned or signifi cantly 
infl uenced by Key Management 
Personnel or their Relatives

Super Religare Laboratories Limited
Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited
RHC Holding Private Limited
Fortis Nursing and Education Society
Religare Securities Limited
Religare Commodities Limited
Religare Finvest Limited
Religare Travels (India) Limited
Religare Technova IT Services Limited
Oscar Investments Limited
Religare Enterprises Limited
Malav Holdings Limited
RMCRS Health Management Limited
Aarushi Lithotripsy Private Limited
Srinivasa Education Society
R. M. Educational Trust
R M Pharmacy
Balaji School of Nursing
Ranibennur College of Nursing
Indira Priyadarshani School of Nursing
RMCRS Shri Narasi Enterprises
RHC Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited
Religare Aviation Limited (formerly Ran Air Services Limited)
Religare Capital Market Limited
Religare Capital Market Plc.
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 The disclosures in respect of Related Party Transactions are as under:
 (Rs. in lacs)

Transaction details Year ended 
March 31, 2010

Year ended 
March 31, 2009

Transactions during the year   

Expenses allocated to related parties 

Super Religare Laboratories Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 53.26

Operating Income (In Patient Income, Out Patient Income, Income from Medical Services, 
Management Fees and Income from Rent) 
Sunrise Medicare Private Limited (Associate) 276.03 218.00

Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 123.35

Medical and Surgical Centre Limited (Associate) 155.64 34.28

Medsource Healthcare Private Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 55.62 45.40

Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (Associate)* - 44.71

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 39.00 40.50

Others 47.57 40.74

Interest Income 

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 486.76 517.50

Religare Finvest Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 692.71

Others 101.64 164.63

Interest Expense 

RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 93.88 201.24

Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 458.25 394.96

RHC Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their 
relatives)

392.62 -

Sale of Fixed Assets 

Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (Associate)** - 44.26

Loans/ Advances Given 

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 700.00 984.00

Religare Finvest Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 13,321.00

Others 2.43 210.42

 Loans/ Advances Received Back 

Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 2,500.00 2,500.00

Fortis Nursing and Education Society (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 405.00 425.00

Religare Finvest Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 21,996.00

Others 1.75 260.02

 Loans/Advances Taken 

Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 10,100.00

RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1,100.00 1,000.00

RHC Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their 
relatives)

87,545.70 -

Loans/Advances Paid Back 

RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 2,335.00 785.00

Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 10,100.00 1,100.00

Repairs and Maintenance Expenses 

Religare Technova IT Services Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)  61.10 17.61

Pathology Expenses 

Super Religare Laboratories Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1,466.63 928.33

Travelling Expenses 

Religare Travels India Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 33.86 147.38

Religare Aviation Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 108.15 -

Ran Air Services Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 3.57

Purchase of Fixed Assets 

Religare Technova IT Services Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)  400.67 102.45

Fortis Health Staff Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 22.08 1.20
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(Rs. in lacs)

Transaction details Year ended 
March 31, 2010

Year ended 
March 31, 2009

Purchases of Medical Consumables and Pharmacy Items 
Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 211.55
Religare Wellness Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 24.24 282.83
Medsource Healthcare Private Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 770.56 838.22
R M Pharmacy (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 7.86
Rent Expenses 
Dr. N.K. Pandey (KMP) - 4.00
Managerial Remuneration 
Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh (KMP) 816.20 816.20
Mr. Sunil Kapoor (KMP) 13.80 17.64
Mr. Manoj Rai Mehta (KMP) - 11.92
Dr. Ashok Chordiya (KMP) 23.13 0.26
Mr. Ashish Bhatia (KMP) 72.13 47.02
Dr. Ashok Seth (KMP) 333.30 199.79
Mr. Jasdeep Singh (KMP) 20.89 0.11
Mr. Surender Kumar (KMP) 18.09 -
Mr. Krish Ramesh (KMP) 50.31 -
Mr. Sukhmeet Singh Sandhu (KMP) 22.51 -
Directors’ Sitting Fees 
Mr. Malvinder Mohan Singh (KMP) 2.10 1.20
Legal and Professional Fees 
Religare Technova IT Services Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives)  7.96 9.88
Religare Capital Market Plc.  (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 11,860.67 -
Dr. Lakshmi Narayan Raju (KMP) 17.95 3.13
Dr. Seetha Beladevi (relative of KMP) - 1.77
Others 24.66 2.19
Arrangement Fees on Term loans
Religare Capital Market Limited  (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1,824.66 -
Upfront Fees paid on loans taken
RHC Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 161.62 -
Subscription of equity share capital (including premium)
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 96,138.01 -
Others 117.83 -
Issue of preference share capital (including premium)
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 26,000.00 -
Redemption of preference share capital (including premium)
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 3,452.86 812.50
Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 4,927.25 562.50
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 27,438.39 76.05
Issuance of Non Convertible Debentures
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 96,000.00 -
Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 29,000.00 -
Redemption of Non Convertible Debentures (including premium)
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 70,258.90 -
Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 29,107.26 -
Issuance of Optionally Convertible Debentures
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1,000.00 -
Corporate Guarantees Issued 
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) - 4,500.00
Corporate Guarantee received for loans taken
Malav Holdings Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 981.94
Corporate Guarantee withdrawn for loans taken
Malav Holdings Limited (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 981.94 -
Investment Made
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 700.00 800.00
Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (Associate)** 50.49 1.14
Investments Sold 
Fortis Healthcare Holdings Limited (Holding Company) 5.03 60.00
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(Rs. in lacs)
Transaction details Year ended 

March 31, 2010
Year ended 

March 31, 2009
Personal Guarantee received for Loans Taken 
Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh (KMP) - 5,000.00
Personal Guarantee withdrawn for Loans Taken 
Dr. Lakshmi Narayan Raju (KMP), Dr. Seetha Beladevi (relative of KMP), Dr. Mohan 
Keshavmurthy (KMP)

1,114.04 -

Dr. Lakshmi Narayan Raju (KMP), Dr. Mohan Keshavmurthy (KMP) 153.24 -
 License User Agreement fees 
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1.00 1.00

(Rs. in lacs)
Balance outstanding at the year end As at 

March 31, 2010
As at 

March 31, 2009
Loans / Advances Recoverable 
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 2,947.79 4,264.66
Others 405.43 689.08
Other Current Assets 
Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (Associate)** - 25.66
Fortis Nursing and Education Society (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 120.42
Sundry Debtors 
Sunrise Medicare Private Limited (Associate) 197.39 219.18
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 39.00 -
Medical and Surgical Centre Limited (Associate) 80.32 7.34
Fortis Nursing and Education Society (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 16.49
Unsecured Loan 
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 100.00 1,335.00
Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 10,100.00
RHC Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 87,545.70 -
Others 130.76 140.02
Optionally Convertible Debentures
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1,000.00 -
Non Convertible Debentures
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 26,000.00 -
Sundry Creditors 
Ranbaxy Laboratories Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 42.49
Medsource Healthcare Private Limited (Fellow Subsidiary) 160.28 164.78
Super Religare Laboratories Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 34.61 161.36
Religare Capital Market Limited  (Owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 1,824.66 -
Others 398.67 53.12
Investment 
Sunrise Medicare Private Limited (Associate) 440.04 440.04
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 1,540.00 840.00
Fortis Malar Hospitals Limited (Associate)** - 2,928.58
Fortis Hospital Management Limited (Associate)*** 25.97 -
Medical and Surgical Centre Limited (Associate) 1,312.69 1,312.69
Parkways Holdings Limited (Associate) 33,094.24 -
Interest Accrued and Due 
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 75.49
Premium on redemption of Non Covertible Debentures
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 233.01 -
Oscar Investments Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 96.53 -
Corporate Guarantee received for Loans Taken 
RHC Holding Private Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) 750.00 750.00
Malav Holdings Limited (owned/signifi cantly infl uenced by KMP/their relatives) - 981.94
Corporate Guarantee given for Loans Availed by Others
Hiranandani Healthcare Private Limited (Associate) 6,000.00 6,000.00
Personal Guarantee received for Loans Taken 
Mr. Shivinder Mohan Singh (KMP) - 12,928.53
Dr. Lakshmi Narayan Raju (KMP), Dr. Seetha Beladevi (relative of KMP), Dr. Mohan 
Keshavmurthy (KMP)

- 1,114.04

Dr. Lakshmi Narayan Raju (KMP), Dr. Mohan Keshavmurthy (KMP) - 153.24
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* Associate upto January 29, 2009, subsidiary thereafter
** Associate upto September 30, 2009, subsidiary thereafter
*** Subsidiary upto March 25, 2010, associate thereafter

 ^ Amount for the year ended March 31, 2010 includes Rs. 637.80 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 623.24 lacs) provided at the year end for which the 
Company has applied for re consideration of remuneration to Central Government, which is pending for approval.

Note: Expenses incurred on behalf of / by related parties, and later reimbursed by / to them have not been considered above.

4. (a) Assets taken on Operating Lease

 In respect of the Group, hospital/ offi ce premises and certain medical equipments are obtained on operating lease. In all the cases, the 
agreements are further renewable at the option of the respective group company. For all cases, there are no restrictions imposed by lease 
arrangements and the rent is not determined based on any contingency. The leases are cancelable or non- cancelable in nature and the 
total lease payments in respect of such leases recognised in the profi t and loss account for the year are Rs. 2,867.61 lacs (Previous Year 
Rs. 1,226.30 lacs). The total future minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable operating leases are as under:

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009
Minimum lease payments :
Not later than one year 2,333.03 1,981.91
Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 9,492.35 7,713.00
Later than fi ve years 8,250.00 9,120.00

(b) Assets given on Operating Lease 

(i) The Fortis Group has sub-leased some portion of hospital premises and certain medical equipments. In all the cases, the agreements 
are further renewable at the option of the respective group company. There is no escalation clause in the respective lease agreements. 
There are no restrictions imposed by lease arrangements and the rent is not determined based on any contingency. All these leases 
are cancellable in nature. The total lease income received / receivable in respect of the above leases recognised in the profi t and 
loss account for the year are Rs. 167.41 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 129.21 lacs).

 A subsidiary of the Company (IHL) has leased out some portion of hospital premises for a period of 10 years from December 24, 
2004. The agreement is further renewable at the option of the company. The rent has been increased by 20% w.e.f. January 1, 2010. 
There are no restrictions imposed by lease arrangements and the rent is not determined based on any contingency. The lease is 
cancellable in nature. The total lease income received / receivable in respect of the above leases recognised in the profi t and loss 
account for the year is Rs. 190.27 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 178.14 lacs).

(ii) The Company has leased out certain capital assets on operating lease to a Trust managing hospital operations and one of its 
associate. The lease term is for 3 years and thereafter renewable at the option of the Company. There are no restrictions imposed 
by the lease arrangements and the rent is not determined based on any contingency. There is no escalation clause in the lease 
agreements. The lease arrangement is non-cancellable in nature. Details of such capital assets given on non-cancellable operating 
lease are disclosed as under:

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009
Gross Block Accumulated 

Depreciation
Net Block Gross Block Accumulated 

Depreciation
Net Block

Software 3.46 2.07 1.39 3.46 1.74 1.72
Plant & Machinery 96.66 37.21 59.45 96.66 27.23 69.43
Medical Equipments 3,117.75 998.80 2,118.95 2,996.93 778.74 2,218.19
Furniture & Fittings 177.73 78.39 99.34 177.06 70.27 106.80
Computers 119.92 71.57 48.35 119.92 53.68 66.24
Offi ce Equipments 27.55 5.22 22.33 27.55 3.94 23.61
Vehicles 37.25 14.03 23.22 33.55 10.11 23.43
Total 3,580.32 1,207.29 2,373.03 3,455.14 945.71 2,509.43

 The total lease payments received in respect of such leases recognized in the profi t and loss account for the year are Rs. 702.77 lacs (Previous 
Year Rs. 671.52 lacs).

 The total of future minimum lease income receivable under the non-cancellable operating leases are as under:
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at
 March 31, 2009

Minimum Lease Payments receivable-
Not later than one year 725.71 173.78
Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 907.13 -
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5. Secured Loans
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at 
March 31, 2009

A) Term Loans from Banks secured by :-   

 -fi rst charge by way of hypothecation of assets fi nanced. 58.99 397.75

 -fi rst equitable mortgage charge on land, building and immovable fi xed assets of Escorts 
Hospital and Research Centre Limited (EHRCL), a subsidiary of the Company.

19,500.00 5,000.00

 -fi rst and exclusive hypothecation/ mortgage charge on the existing and future movable and 
immovable fi xed assets of International Hospital Limited (IHL), a subsidiary of the Company.

2,608.99 3,688.99

 -mortgage of land situated at Jaipur belonging to Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Hospital 
Limited (EHSSHL), a subsidiary of the company.

- 1,228.46

 -equitable mortgage of the land and building of the hospital at Bangalore belonging to Lalitha 
Healthcare Private Limited (LHPL), a subsidiary of the Company and by hypothecation of 
medical equipments, furniture & fi xtures and other assets acquired out of the term loan.

- 1,114.04

 -second charge on equitable mortgage of the land and building of the hospital at Bangalore 
belonging to LHPL and by hypothecation of medical equipments, furniture & fi xtures and other 
assets acquired out of the term loan.

- 35.24

 -fi rst charge on fi xed assets of Fortis Hospotel Limited (FHTL), a subsidiary of the Company, 
situated at Shalimar Bagh and Gurgaon.

- 2,500.00

 -pari passu fi rst charge on current assets, movable and immovable fi xed assets of FHTL, 
situated at Shalimar Bagh including deposit of original title deeds of land at Shalimar Bagh 
with an intent to create mortgage and  pledge of 30% shares of FHTL held by the Company. 
The loan is further secured by extension of equitable charge on hospital property at Noida 
belonging to IHL.

1,200.00 1,200.00

 -fi rst charge on movable and immovable fi xed assets and current assets of Escorts Heart and 
Super Speciality Institute Limited (EHSSIL), a subsidiary of the Company.

543.75 2,500.00

 -subservient charge on fi xed assets and current assets of IHL 10,000.00 -

 -exclusive charge on all fi xed assets and current assets both present and future of Fortis Malar 
Hospitals Limited (FMHL), a subsidiary of the Company.

1,305.06 -

 -exclusive charge on current assets and fi xed assets (movable and immovable) of LHPL. 1,500.00 -

 -fi rst pari passu charge on the moveable fi xed assets of certain owned hospitals and leased 
hospitals and equitable mortgage of those owned hospitals, of Fortis Hospitals Limited (FHsL), 
a subsidiary of the Company.

15,000.00 -

 -fi rst pari passu charge on the assets (tangible and intangible, moveable and immoveable) 
acquired out of acquisition by FHsL.

20,000.00 -

 -fi rst charge over land and buildings, moveable fi xed assets by way of equitable mortgage of 
FHsL.

5,000.00 -

 -pledge of 269,499,996 Ordinary Shares of Parkways Holdings Limited held by Fortis Global 
Healthcare (Mauritius) Limited (FGHML), a subsidiary of the Company.

104,268.14 -

 -pledge of fi xed deposit of Rs. 120,000.00 lacs by IHL. 112,237.55 -

Total 293,222.48 17,664.48

B) External Commercial Borrowing from a bank secured by fi rst charge by way of 
hypothecation of all present and future moveable properties of the Company which inter 
alia include plant and machinery, medical equipments, computers, furniture and fi xtures and 
other fi xed assets installed / stored at Fortis Hospital, Mohali or kept at any other hospital site 
excluding vehicles hypothecated against specifi c loans.

- 490.97

C) Bank overdraft secured by :-

 -fi rst pari passu charge over moveable fi xed assets at Fortis Hospital, Mohali and charge over 
stock and book debts of the Company.

- 653.02

 -exclusive charge over the current assets and second pari passu charge over the fi xed assets 
of the EHSSHL.

- 247.94

 -exclusive charge on current assets and second pari passu charge on the fi xed assets of IHL. 349.51 299.09

 -second charge on equitable mortgage of the land and building of the Hospital at Bangalore 
belonging to LHPL and by hypothecation of medical equipments, furniture & fi xtures and other 
assets acquired out of the term loan.

- 73.56

 -exclusive charge on all fi xed assets and current assets both present and future of FMHL. 147.20 -

 -exclusive charge on current assets and fi xed assets (movable and immovable) of LHPL. 84.28 -

Total 580.99 1,273.61
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D) Buyers credit from bank secured by exclusive charge over the current assets and second 
pari passu charge over the fi xed assets of the EHSSHL.

72.14 -

E) Commercial Papers secured by way of subservient charge on the moveable fi xed assets 
of the Company.

- 2,500.00

F) Loans for Vehicles secured by hypothecation of respective vehicles. - 61.76

G) Term Loan from a Body Corporate secured by:-

 -fi rst charge by way of hypothecation of assets fi nanced. 2,230.00 2,122.67

 -subservient charge on present and future fi xed assets of the Company. 4,285.71 6,428.57

 -pari passu charge on moveable property, cash fl ow, receivable and book debts of FHTL. 4,000.00 -

Total 10,515.71 8,551.24

6. Capital Commitments
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at 
March 31, 2009

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (net of capital 
advances of Rs. 1,567.38 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 5,236.91 lacs))

11,741.44 14,512.12

7. Contingent Liabilities (not provided for) in respect of :
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at 
March 31, 2010

As at 
March 31, 2009

Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts (in respect of compensation demanded 
by the patients/ their relatives for negligence). The cases are pending with various Consumer 
Disputes Redressal Commissions. Based on expert opinion obtained, the management believes 
that the Fortis Group has a good chance of success in these cases. 

3,220.50 2,844.84

Bank Guarantee executed in favour of National Stock Exchange by the Company towards listing 
of the shares of the Company with the exchange.

700.00 -

In respect of a subsidiary (EHIRCL), Income tax litigations for various years are pending, as further 
explained in detail in note 9 below. The amounts are without considering the demand of Rs. 
10,101.10 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 10,101.10 lacs) raised twice in respect of certain years and after 
adjusting Rs. 13,282.40 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 9,458.13 lacs) for which the company has a legal 
right to claim from erstwhile promoters. This further excludes demands aggregating to Rs. 828.42 
lacs (Previous Year Rs. 828.42 lacs), relating to AY 2003-04 and 2004-05, Rs. 587.03 lacs (Previous 
Year Rs. Nil) , relating to AY 2005-06 and 2006-07, which have been allowed by Commissioner of 
Income Tax (Appeals) and Income Tax Appellate Tribunal in favour of the company, but the Income 
Tax Department has fi led an appeal before Hon’ble High Court of Delhi against such orders and 
Rs. Nil (Previous Year Rs. 8,148.85 lacs) in respect of AY 2001-02 which has been referred back 
to the assessing offi cer for reassessment.

9,823.57 3,565.87

In respect of a subsidiary (EHIRCL), Customs duty/ Penalty for mis declaration of imported goods, 
case for which is pending with Central Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal (refer note 10 
below).

770.27 770.27

In respect of a subsidiary (FHsL), Customs duty on import of medical equipments 166.49 -

Corporate guarantee given to banks in respect of fi nancial assistance availed by associates of 
the Company:-
 -IDBI Bank 4,500.00 4,500.00

 -ABN Amro Bank 1,500.00 1,500.00

 -HDFC Bank - 1,000.00

Others 17.86 17.29

8. (a)  A Civil suit (‘Civil Suit’) had been fi led for declaration and permanent injunction against a subsidiary of the Company (EHIRCL) in the 
Hon’ble High Court of Delhi seeking amongst others:

(a) declaration that the amalgamation of Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre, Delhi, a society registered under Societies 
Registration Act, 1860 (EHIRC Delhi) with Escorts Heart Institute and Research Centre, Chandigarh (EHIRC Chandigarh), a society 
registered under Societies Registration Act, 1860 and subsequent incorporation of EHIRC Chandigarh Society (post amalgamation) 
into a company under Part IX of Companies Act, 1956 (i.e. EHIRCL) is void,

(b) seeking a restoration of charitable status of EHIRC Delhi Society.

 The Hon’ble High Court of Delhi, vide its order dated September 30, 2005, had ordered the parties to maintain status quo and 
thereafter on July 3, 2008 dismissed the suit for want of cause of action and procedural grounds. On a regular fi rst appeal preferred 
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by the appellant, the Division Bench of Hon’ble High Court of Delhi vide its order dated January 16, 2009, has allowed the appeal 
and restored the suit.

 The appellant further amended the appeal seeking to declare the share purchase agreement between Escorts Limited and the 
Company and the initial public offering of the Company to be void.

 The matter is being duly defended in the Court by the company and other co-defendants.

(b) Delhi Development Authority (‘DDA’) vide its Order dated October 6, 2005 (‘DDA Order’) had terminated the lease deeds and 
allotment letters of a subsidiary of the Company (EHIRCL). The company had fi led an Original Miscellaneous Petition (‘OMP’) and 
Civil Suit in the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi seeking a declaration that the DDA Order is illegal and praying for a permanent injunction 
restraining DDA from dispossessing the company without the due process of law. The Hon’ble High Court of Delhi had granted 
a stay restraining DDA from recovering physical possession of the property and had made the interim order granted in the OMP 
absolute till the award is passed. The company also fi led an application for appointment of sole Arbitrator and reference of disputes 
to Arbitration in the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi. The Civil Suit and Arbitration application is still pending with the Hon’ble High Court 
of Delhi.

(c) The Estate Offi cer of the DDA issued a show cause notice dated November 9, 2005 and initiated eviction proceedings against a 
subsidiary of the Company (EHIRCL). The company fi led a Civil Writ Petition in the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi challenging the show 
cause notice issued by the Estate Offi cer, which was dismissed by the Hon’ble Single Judge. The company thereafter had fi led 
Letters Patent Appeal (‘LPA’) against the above order before the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi. The Division bench of the Hon’ble 
High Court of Delhi vide its order dated September 3, 2007 had dismissed the LPA. The Estate Offi cer thereafter had issued a notice 
under section 4(1) of Public Premises Act dated October 8, 2007 to the company for resuming the proceedings under the said Act. 
The company had fi led an appeal by way of SLP in the Hon’ble Supreme Court against the judgement in the LPA matter. The Hon’ble 
Supreme Court vide its order dated November 16, 2007 had ordered that proceedings before the Estate Offi cer may continue but 
no fi nal order to be passed. The proceedings are pending with court of law. 

(d) The Delhi High Court in March 2004, amongst other hospitals, made EHIRCL a party to Public Interest Litigation (‘PIL’) fi led in July 
2002 (Social Jurist matter), concerning the applicability of certain free bed conditions on certain plots of land allotted to EHIRC by 
DDA. Subsequent to the judgement by the Hon’ble High Court on March 22, 2007, a separate Special Leave petition (‘SLP’) and 
applications for condonation of delay had been fi led by EHIRC on November 28, 2007 against the Social Jurist judgement. In the 
hearing on January 4, 2008, the Hon’ble Supreme Court had issued a notice and directed the stay. The proceedings are pending 
with the court of law.

9. Income Tax Matters

(a) The Income Tax Authorities carried out a survey on August 21, 2003 (certain statutory records of a subsidiary of the Company (EHIRCL) 
were impounded, which are still in possession of the Authorities), regarding amalgamation of Escorts Heart Institute and Research 
Centre, Delhi (Delhi Society) with a Society at Chandigarh with a similar name (Chandigarh Society), and later on, registration of the 
amalgamated Society as a company.

 Pursuant to the survey, the Income Tax Authorities have re-opened the assessments of Delhi and Chandigarh Societies. The Deputy 
Commissioner of Income Tax, Delhi has completed the reopened assessments of the Delhi Society for four assessment years i.e. 
assessment years 1997-98, 1998-99, 1999-00 and 2000-01 wherein, the exemption availed by the erstwhile Delhi Society by virtue of 
being an approved scientifi c research organization had been withdrawn in respect of these years. The past accumulated income upto 
March 31, 1996 had been brought to tax and the income of the respective years thereafter had been subjected to tax as normal business 
income, hence raising a cumulative demand of Rs. 10,101.11 lacs (including interest of Rs. 5,511.11 lacs). The Deputy Commissioner 
of Income Tax had also assessed the income for assessment year 2001-02, whereby the entire accumulations and allowances made in 
earlier years have again been brought to tax, raising a further demand of Rs. 12,437.00 lacs (including interest of Rs. 6,946.00 lacs). The 
company is of the view that the demand raised for the assessment year 2001-02 includes duplication on account of demands raised in 
the assessment years 1997-98 to 2000-01 and, further, the events taking place in the year 2000 cannot relate back to earlier years.

 The company challenged the reopening of assessment for the assessment year 1997-98 before the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi in a Writ 
Petition fi led on July 27, 2005. The Hon’ble Court in its interim order dated September 20, 2005 had directed the Assessing Offi cer to 
complete the assessments for all these years and had also directed that the operation of the assessment orders for assessment years 
1997-98, 1998-99, 1999-00 and 2000-01 shall remain suspended till the matter is heard and decided by the Court. The company had 
fi led appeals before the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) for all these years.

(b) The Additional Commissioner of Income Tax, Chandigarh, had also raised a demand of tax in respect of EHIRCL for the assessment 
year 2001-02 amounting to Rs. 5,233.05 lacs and interest thereon amounting to Rs. 2,915.80 lacs by treating the excess of assets over 
liabilities as short term capital gains on registration of Amalgamated Society as a company. The company feels that the above registration 
does not give rise to transfer of assets and consequent capital gains and, therefore, preferred an appeal before the Income Tax Appellate 
Tribunal (ITAT), Chandigarh. The Tribunal, vide its Order dated March 18, 2008, had remanded the matter back to the Assessing Offi cer 
for fresh adjudication. During the year, the Assistant Commissioner of Income Tax, Delhi has completed the assessment vide order dated 

FORTIS.indd   123FORTIS.indd   123 8/21/2010   7:56:02 PM8/21/2010   7:56:02 PM



Fortis Healthcare Limited

124

March 31, 2010 and raised a fresh demand of Rs. 10,532.16 lacs (including interest of Rs. 5,465.27 lacs). The company fi led an appeal 
with the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), Delhi against the order of the assessing offi cer, which is pending disposal.

 Pursuant to the share purchase agreement, where company is a party, dated September 25, 2005, the abovementioned income-tax 
demands, in respect of (a) and (b) above, are the responsibility of one of the erstwhile promoters to the extent of Rs. 6,499.00 lacs, for 
which necessary funds have been deposited in an escrow account. Interest of Rs. 1,940.02 lacs upto March 31, 2010 has accrued in the 
escrow account and available for aforesaid set off. In the event these demands exceed this amount, one third of such excess would be 
borne by the said erstwhile promoters and the rest by the company, if any.

(c) Regular assessment under section 143 (3) of Income Tax Act, 1961, had been completed in respect of EHIRCL for assessment years 
2003-04 and 2004-05 whereby the assessing offi cer had raised demands of Rs. 424.20 lacs (including interest of Rs. 54.20 lacs) and Rs. 
404.22 lacs (including interest of Rs. 97.55 lacs) by disallowing the claim of keyman insurance premium and holding software development 
charges as capital expenditure. The company fi led an appeal with the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) against the order of the 
assessing offi cer. The Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) and ITAT have allowed these claims in favour of the company. The Income Tax 
Department has fi led an appeal with the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi against the order of the ITAT, which is pending disposal.

 Further, the Assistant Commissioner of Income Tax, Delhi has passed an order dated March 31, 2010 under sections 154/ 250/ 143 (3) of 
Income Tax Act, 1961 for the assessment year 2003-04 whereby a demand of Rs. 22.77 lacs (including interest of Rs. 3.95 lacs) has been 
raised on to the company by disallowing partial depreciation on electrical installation and transformers, UPS etc. Appeal has been fi led with 
the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), Delhi, against the disallowance made in the assessment order, which is pending disposal.

(d) Regular assessment under section 143 (3) of Income Tax Act, 1961, had been completed in respect of EHIRCL for assessment year 
2005-06 whereby the assessing offi cer had raised a demand of Rs. 282.03 lacs (including interest of Rs. 56.80 lacs) on the company by 
disallowing the claim of keyman insurance premium and holding software development charges as capital expenditure. The company 
had fi led an appeal with the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) against the order of the Assessing Offi cer. The Commissioner of 
Income Tax (Appeals) vide its order dated October 31, 2008 had allowed partial relief to the company and had confi rmed the balance 
amount of demand raised by assessing offi cer. The company fi led an appeal with ITAT against the order of Commissioner of Income Tax 
(Appeals) which has been allowed in favour of the company and both the disallowances were deleted. The Income Tax Department also 
fi led an appeal before the ITAT against the order of Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), which has been dismissed. The Income Tax 
Department has fi led an appeal with the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi against the order of the ITAT, which is pending disposal. 

(e) Regular assessment under section 143 (3) of Income Tax Act, 1961, had been completed in respect of EHIRCL for assessment year 2006-07 
whereby the assessing offi cer had raised a demand of Rs. 305.00 lacs (including interest of Rs. 35.05 lacs) on the company by disallowing 
the claim of keyman insurance premium. The company had fi led an appeal with the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), Delhi against 
the order of the assessing offi cer. The Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) vide its order dated July 23, 2009 had allowed partial relief to 
the company and had confi rmed the balance amount of demand raised by assessing offi cer.  The company fi led an appeal with ITAT against 
the order of Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) which has been allowed in favour of the company. The Income Tax Department also 
fi led an appeal before the ITAT against the order of Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), which has been dismissed.

(f) Regular assessment under section 143 (3) of Income Tax Act, 1961, had been completed in respect of EHIRCL for assessment year 2007-08 
vide order dated December 24, 2009, whereby the assessing offi cer had raised a demand of Rs. 96.90 lacs (including interest of Rs. 0.75 
lacs) on the company by disallowing the claim of keyman insurance premium and software development charges. Appeal has been fi led with 
the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), Delhi, against the disallowance made in the assessment order, which is pending for disposal.

g) The Deputy Commissioner of Income Tax has passed an order dated February 10, 2010, in respect of EHIRCL for the assessment years 
2008-09 and 2009-10, whereby the assessing offi cer has raised demands of Rs. 16.74 lacs and Rs. 0.37 lacs respectively on account of 
non deduction of tax on blood processing charges and payments for managing pharmacy to Fortis Healthworld Limited and deduction 
of tax under section 194J of Income Tax Act, 1961 instead of section 192 on payments made to retainer doctors. The company has fi led 
an appeal with the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals), Jaipur against the order of the assessing offi cer, which is pending disposal.

In view of the management, the eventual outcome of the above matters cannot presently be estimated.

10. The Commissioner of Customs (Import and General), Delhi had raised a demand on a subsidiary of the Company (EHIRCL) of Rs. 770.27 lacs 
(including Rs. 347.64 lacs as penalty for mis-declaration of the imported surgical machine with a redemption fi ne of Rs. 75.00 lacs for release 
of the said machine) on June 8, 2007. The mis-declaration refers to the classifi cation of the underlying machine for customs duty purposes. 
The company had fi led a stay application with the Central Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal against the above order and deposited 
Rs. 347.64 lacs under protest. The matter is pending for decision with the Tribunal.

 Based on discussions with the solicitors/ favourable decisions in similar cases/ legal opinions taken by the company, the management believes 
that the company has a good chance of success in the case and hence, no provision there against is considered necessary.

11. The Assistant Collector of Customs had issued an assessment order in earlier year on a subsidiary of the Company (EHIRCL), raising a demand 
of Rs. 330.39 lacs holding EHIRCL to be a commercial establishment in relation to the import of medical equipments, spares and consumables. 
The company had fi led an appeal with the Collector of Customs (Appeals), against the order of the Assistant Collector of Customs, which has 
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been rejected. The company fi led a further appeal and an application for stay before the Central Excise and Service Tax Appellate Tribunal. The 
Tribunal had ordered for the stay and had asked the company to deposit a sum of Rs. 150.00 lacs with the customs authority. The company 
had deposited the amount with the customs authority and had also made a provision of Rs. 330.39 lacs in the books of accounts. The matter 
is still pending with the Tribunal. 

12. Employee Stock Option Plan

 The Company has provided share-based payment scheme to the eligible emplyoees and directors of the company / its subsidiaries. During 
the year ended March 31, 2008, 458,500 options (Grant I) were granted to the employees under Plan ‘A’. Under the same plan, 33,500 options 
(Grant II) were granted to the employees in the previous year and 763,700 (Grant III) in the current year. As at March 31, 2010, the following 
scheme was in operation:

Particulars Grant I Grant II Grant III

Date of grant 13-Feb-08 13-Oct-08 14-Jul-09

Date of Board Approval 30-Jul-07 30-Jul-07 30-Jul-07

Date of Shareholder’s approval 27-Sep-07 27-Sep-07 27-Sep-07

Number of options granted 458,500 33,500 763,700

Vesting Period February 13, 2009 to 
February 12, 2013

October 13, 2009 to 
October 12, 2013

July 14, 2010 to 
July 13, 2014

Exercise Period up to 12-Feb-18 12-Oct-18 13-Jul-19

The details of activity under the Plan have been summarized below:

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (Rs.)

Number of  
options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (Rs.)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 380,500 69.34 458,500 71.00

Granted during the year 763,700 77.00 33,500 50.00

Forfeited during the year 215,400 72.09 111,500 70.34

Exercised during the year 10,140 71.00 - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at the end of the year 918,660 75.05 380,500 69.34

Exercisable at the end of the year 113,160 70.78 70,100 71.00

Weighted average remaining contractual life (in years) 8.87 - 8.93 -

Weighted average fair value of options granted (in Rs.) 35.19 - 25.86 -

The details of exercise price for stock options outstanding at the end of the year are as under: 

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Range of exercise prices Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 77.00 Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 71.00

Number of options outstanding 918,660 380,500

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options (in years) 8.87 8.93

Weighted average exercise price (in Rs.) 75.05 69.34

Stock Options granted

 The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year is Rs. 39.04 (Previous Year Rs. 18.65). The Black - Scholes valuation 
model has been used for computing the weighted average fair value considering the following inputs: 

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Exercise Price Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 77.00 Rs. 50.00 to Rs. 71.00

Expected Volatility 34% 34%

Life of the options granted (Vesting and exercise period) in years 6.5 years 6.5 years

Expected dividends - -

Average risk-free interest rate 7.50% to 8.70% 7.95% to 8.70% 

Expected dividend rate - -

 In March 2005, the ICAI has issued a guidance note on ‘Accounting for Employees Share Based Payments’ applicable to employee based 
share plan, the grant date in respect of which falls on or after April 1, 2005.  The said guidance note requires the Proforma disclosures of the 
impact of the fair value method of accounting of employee stock compensation accounting in the fi nancial statements. Applying the fair value 
based method defi ned in the said guidance note, the impact on the reported net profi t and earnings per share would be as follows:
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(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009

Profi t as reported 6,948.15 2,081.89

Add: Employee stock compensation under intrinsic value method - -

Less: Employee stock compensation under fair value method (51.68) (19.08)

Proforma profi t 6,896.47 2,062.81

Earnings Per Share (In Rs.)

Basic

 - As reported 2.62 0.92

 - Pro forma 2.60 0.91

Diluted

 - As reported 2.61 0.92

 - Pro forma 2.59 0.91

 The fair value of total option outstanding at the year end is Rs. 323.26 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 98.41 lacs) and these shall vest over a period of 5 
years. Accordingly, the charge for the current year in relation to employee stock compensation on a straight line basis under fair value method 
would have been Rs. 51.68 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 19.08 lacs).

13. a)  A subsidiary of the Company Fortis Health Management Limited (‘FHML’), has incurred losses of Rs. 29.75 lacs during the current year 
and has accumulated losses of Rs. 57.99 lacs as at March 31, 2010, which has resulted in complete erosion of FHML’s net worth. In view 
of the commitment of continued fi nancial support by the shareholders, the accounts of FHML have been prepared on a going concern 
basis.

b) A subsidiary of the Company Lalitha Healthcare Private Limited (‘LHPL’), has incurred losses of Rs. 193.05 lacs during the current year 
and has accumulated losses of Rs. 879.21 lacs as at March 31, 2010, which has resulted in complete erosion of LHPL’s net worth. In view 
of the expected improvement in the fi nancial results projected by the management and the commitment of continued fi nancial support 
by the shareholders, the accounts of LHPL have been prepared on a going concern basis.

c) A subsidiary of the Company Fortis Emergency Services Limited (‘FESL’), has incurred losses of Rs. 259.51 lacs during the current year, 
which has resulted in complete erosion of FESL’s net worth. In view of the fact that current year is the fi rst year of incorporation of FESL and 
the commitment of continued fi nancial support by the shareholders, the accounts of FESL have been prepared on a going concern basis.

d) A subsidiary of the Company Escorts Heart Centre Limited (‘EHCL’), has earned profi ts of Rs. 236.93 lacs during the current year and 
has accumulated losses of Rs.170.00 lacs as at March 31, 2010, which has resulted in substantial erosion of EHCL’s net worth. In view of 
EHCL reporting profi ts in the current year as well as in the previous year, commitment of continued fi nancial support by the shareholders 
and the expected improvement in the fi nancial results projected by the management, the accounts of EHCL have been prepared on going 
concern basis.

e) A subsidiary of the Company Escorts Heart and Super Speciality Institute Limited (‘EHSSIL’), has earned profi t of Rs. 941.70 lacs 
during the current year and has accumulated losses of Rs. 2,379.07 lacs as at March 31, 2010 which has resulted substantial erosion of 
EHSSIL’s net worth. In view of the support of the shareholders, profi ts posted by the EHSSIL during the current year and the expected 
improvements in the fi nancial results projected by the management, the accounts have been prepared on going concern basis.

14. Disclosures under Accounting Standard - 15 (Revised) on ‘Employee Benefi ts’ :

 The Group has a defi ned benefi t gratuity plan, whereby the employees are entitled to gratuity benefi t on the basis of last salary drawn and 
completed number of years of service. The Group also provides leave encashment benefi t to its employees, which is unfunded. 
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 The following table summaries the components of net employee benefi t expenses recognised in the consolidated profi t and loss account :

(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars Gratuity Gratuity Gratuity Gratuity

(Unfunded) (Funded) (Unfunded) (Funded)

2009-2010 2009-2010 2008-2009 2008-2009

Profi t and Loss account     

Net employee benefi t expenses (recognized in Personnel Expenses / Expenditure during Construction Period)

Current Service cost 182.70 21.15 165.59 15.32

Interest Cost on benefi t obligation 64.13 12.83 59.86 9.65

Expected return on plan assets - (11.85) - (8.46)

Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised during the year 19.94 (4.48) (145.71) (9.69)

Past Service Cost - - - -

Net benefi t expense 266.77 17.65 79.74 6.82

Actual return on plan assets - 12.71 - 17.03

Balance sheet

Details of Provision for Gratuity as at year end

Present value of defi ned benefi t obligation 1,168.50 183.48 794.98 117.93

Fair value of plan assets - 146.52 - 109.96

Surplus/(defi cit) of funds (1,168.50) (36.96) (794.98) (7.97)

Net asset/ (liability) (1,168.50) (36.96) (794.98) (7.97)

Changes in present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation are as follows:

Opening defi ned benefi t obligation 794.98 117.93 800.08 163.34

Liability assumed/ deleted on acquisition/ (disposal) of Subsidiaries * 193.33 68.19 (1.37) -

Current Service cost 182.70 21.15 165.59 15.32

Interest Cost on benefi t obligation 64.13 12.83 59.86 9.65

Benefi ts paid (86.58) (33.00) (83.47) (69.26)

Actuarial (loss)/ gain recognised during the year 19.94 (3.62) (145.71) (1.12)

Closing defi ned benefi t obligation 1,168.50 183.48 794.98 117.93

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Opening fair value of plan assets - 109.96 - 113.33

Assets assumed on acquisition of Subsidiary* - 13.29 - -

Expected return - 11.85 - 8.46

Contributions by employer - 43.56 - 48.86

Benefi ts paid - (33.00) - (69.26)

Actuarial gains / (losses) - 0.86 - 8.57

Closing fair value of plan assets - 146.52 - 109.96

Experience loss adjustment on plan assets/ liabilities (38.13) 1.28 (54.63) (6.33)

 *Refer  note C (1) (a), (b) and (f) above

 The Principal assumptions used in determining gratuity obligation for the Group’s plan are shown below:

2009-10 2008-09

Discount rate 8.00% 7.80%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 8.50% to 9.25% 9.25%

Expected rate of salary increase 3.75% to 10.00% 3.75% to 7.50%

Mortality table referred LIC (1994-96) duly modifi ed LIC (1994-96) duly modifi ed

Withdrawal / Employee Turnover Rate

In case of FHL, FHTL, IHL, EHSSHL, FMHL and LHPL

Upto 30 years 18% 18%

From 31 to 44 years 6% 6%

Above 44 years 2% 2%

In case of EHIRCL, EHRCL, EHSSIL, FHML and FHoML

Upto 30 years 6% 6%

From 31 to 44 years 2% 2%

Above 44 years 1% 1%
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In case of FHsL

Upto 30 years 10%

From 31 to 44 years 5%

Above 44 years 3%

In case of FESL

Age from 20 - 30 years 12.50%

Age from 31 - 58 years 15.00%

Notes:

1. The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes account of infl ation, seniority, promotion and other 
relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market.

2. The Fortis Group’s expected contribution to the fund in the next year is not presently ascertainable and hence, the contributions expected 
to be paid to the plan during the annual period beginning after the balance sheet date as required by Para 120 (o) of the Accounting 
Standard 15 (Revised) on Employee Benefi ts are not disclosed.

15. a)   The Company and few of its subsidiaries have entered into ‘Operation and Management’ agreements with entities which are into hospital 
operations, in terms of which, they are responsible for developing and providing maintenance support and related services necessary to 
support, manage and maintain the hospital as may be required.  The management fee is generally based on gross billing of the hospital 
subject to certain conditions as per the underlying agreement. The gross billing of the hospital is considered based on the unaudited 
fi nancial statements of the respective entity. The management does not anticipate any material changes in the amounts considered in 
fi nancial statements.

b) A subsidiary of the Company (EHCL) has entered into an operating and profi t sharing agreement with a hospital to operate cardiac care 
facility at Gurgaon. As per the arrangement, the Company has considered amounts of Rs. 157.81 lacs (Previous Year Rs. 132.85 lacs) as 
expenditure in its books of accounts based on debit notes received from the hospital and has paid / accrued Rs. 86.39 lacs (Previous 
Year Rs. 50.45 lacs) as profi t share to that hospital.

16. The Company raised Rs. 49,676.15 lacs and Rs. 99,711. 60 lacs from the Initial Public Offer (IPO) in April 2007 and Rights Issue in October 
2009 respectively. The status of fund utilization out of Public Offer proceeds as at the end of March 31, 2010 is as follows:      

(Rs. in lacs)

S. No. Expenditure Program Amount expended till 
March 31, 2010 out  of

Amount expended till 
March 31, 2009 out  of

IPO Proceeds Rights Issue 
Proceeds

IPO Proceeds

1 Construction and development of the planned hospital to be 
located at Shalimar Bagh, New Delhi by one of its subsidiaries

10,593.00 - 7,302.11

2 Refi nancing of funds availed for the acquisition of Escorts Heart 
Institute and Research Centre Limited

35,231.15 - 35,231.15

3 IPO Issue Expenses 3,278.91 - 3,278.91

4 Investment in wholly owned subsidiary (Fortis Hospotel Limited) 
to fi nance the construction and development of a greenfi eld 
hospital project in Gurgaon, Haryana

- 20,000.00 -

5 Acquisitions and other strategic initiatives - 20,000.00 -

6 Redemption of Preference Shares (Class C), along with the 
premium on such redemption

- 26,000.00 -

7 Repayment and prepayment of existing short term loans of the 
Company

- 17,099.90 -

8 General corporate purpose - 15,000.00 -

9 Rights Issue expenses - 1,265.18 -

 Total 49,103.06 99,365.08 45,812.17

 The Company is having unutilised funds of Rs. 919.61 lacs as on March 31, 2010 out of public offer proceeds. The funds of Rs. 573.09 lacs 
and Rs. 346.52 lacs have been invested as fi xed deposit with a Scheduled Bank and mutual funds respectively.

17. During the previous year, the Company had partly redeemed 100,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 
10 each, to the extent of Re.1 per such share at a premium of Rs. 12.55 per share. During the year, the Company has redeemed balance Rs.9 at 
a premium of Rs. 98.35 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 12.55 lacs in the previous year and Rs. 98.35 lacs in the Current year on these 
shares have been adjusted against the liability for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares and the Securities Premium.

18. During the previous year, the Company had partly redeemed 11,500,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of 
Rs. 10 each, to the extent of Re.1 per such share at a premium of Rs. 11.50 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 1,322.50 lacs on these 
shares has been adjusted against the liability for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares.
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 Out of the above 11,500,000 Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares, the Company has during the year redeemed 
8,304,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each, to the extent of balance of Rs.9 each at a 
premium of Rs. 98.50 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 8,179.44 lacs on these shares has been adjusted against the liability for 
premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares and the Securities Premium.

19. During the year, the Company has fully redeemed 150,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each 
at a premium of Rs. 11,931.78 per share. The redemption premium of Rs. 17,897.67 lacs on these shares has been adjusted against the liability 
for premium on redemption of Redeemable Preference Shares and the Securities Premium.

20. During the year, the Company has issued 260,000, Class ‘C’ Zero Percent Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs. 10 each at a 
premium of Rs. 9,990 per share, which have been redeemed at a premium of Rs. 10,291.37 per share. The total redemption premium of Rs. 
26,757.26 lacs has been adjusted against the Securities Premium Account as permitted by Section 78 of the Companies Act, 1956.

21. During the year, the Company has issued 260, Zero Percent Unsecured Non- Convertible Debentures of Rs. 10,000,000 each. These debentures 
are to be redeemed at various dates between November 25, 2010 to November 25, 2014 at an aggregate premium of Rs. 14,879.14 lacs. 
The Company has accrued the redemption premium and debited the same to Securities Premium Account as permitted by Section 78 of the 
Companies Act, 1956.

 During the year, a subsidiary of the Company (IHL) has issued 990, Zero Percent Unsecured Non- Convertible Debentures of Rs. 10,000,000 
each which have been redeemed at a premium of Rs. 36,986 per debenture. The total redemption premium of Rs. 366.16 lacs has been 
adjusted against the Securities Premium Account as permitted by Section 78 of the Companies Act, 1956. 

22. During the year, a subsidiary of the Company (FESL) has issued 1,000,000, Zero Percent Optionally Convertible Debentures of Rs. 100 each 
as per following terms and conditions:-

a) The Debentures (until redeemed or until option for conversion into Equity Shares is exercised by the debenture holder) will not carry any 
interest till the end of fi ve years from the date of allotment. In case the debentures are not redeemed/ converted into Equity Shares before 
the expiry of fi ve years from the date of allotment, FESL shall pay simple interest @ 8% p.a. from the date of allotment till the date of 
redemption.

b) The Debenture holder will have an option to seek conversion of each fully paid Debenture into 10 fully paid Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each. 
The debenture holder can exercise the conversion option for part or full holding at any time beginning from the date of allotment and 
ending on the completion of 5th year from the date of allotment.

c) Each Debenture outstanding at the end of 5th year from the date of allotment will be redeemed in four equal semi annual instalment of 
Rs. 25 each beginning from the end of 5th year, from the date of allotment.

23. The Company has provided for Premium on Redemption of Preference Shares and Debentures. However, same has not been provided through 
redemption reserves as per the provisions of Section 117C of the Companies Act, 1956, as the Company does not have suffi cient profi ts for 
the same.

24. The Company has incurred expenses aggregating to Rs. 1,265.18 lacs (including Rs. 62.41 lacs paid to auditors) in connection with its Rights 
Issue. The same has been adjusted against the Securities Premium Account as permitted by Section 78 of the Companies Act, 1956

25. During the year, pursuant to the Letter of offer dated September 22, 2009 and in accordance with the basis of allotment approved by the 
National Stock Exchange (Designated Stock Exchange), the Issue Committee of Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held on 
October 27, 2009 allotted on Rights Basis 90,646,936 Equity Shares of Rs. 10 each at a premium of Rs. 100 per Equity Share aggregating to 
Rs. 99,711.63 lacs and 90,646,936 Detachable Warrants (as an eligible Equity Shareholder is entitled to receive one Detachable Warrant for 
every one Equity Share allotted in the Issue). The Detachable Warrants so issued can be freely and separately traded until they are tendered 
for exercise. The warrant exercise period shall commence after six months from date of allotment of the Equity Shares up to 18 months from 
the date of allotment of the Equity Shares. The Detachable Warrants may be exercised at any time prior to the expiry of a notice period within 
the Warrant Exercise Period.

 The Warrant Exercise Price for the Detachable Warrants shall be the average of (i) average of the weekly closing prices of the Equity Shares 
on the NSE in the 26 weeks immediately preceding the date fi xed by the Company for the determination of the Warrant Exercise Price of the 
Detachable Warrants (the “Relevant Date”) and (ii) average of the weekly closing prices of the Equity Shares on the NSE in the two weeks 
immediately preceding the Relevant Date.

 For purposes of determining the Warrant Holders and their respective entitlements, the Company shall fi x the record date(s) during the Warrant 
Exercise Period for the Detachable Warrants (the “Warrant Record Date”), subject to the approval of the Stock Exchanges of such Warrant 
Record Date.

26. During the year, the Company through its wholly owned subsidiary, Fortis Hospitals Limited, has acquired 10 Hospitals (including 2 under 
construction) (“Business Division”) and Kanishka Housing Development Company Limited (‘KHDCL’) from Wockhardt Hospitals Limited vide 
Business Transfer Agreement executed on August 24, 2009, such acquisition being effected on December 17, 2009 on a going concern basis. 
The purchase consideration paid for the acquisition of the above Business Division and KHDCL amounted to Rs. 88,948.24 lacs.
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 The goodwill arising out of such acquisition has been determined as follows:

Description  Amount in Rs. lacs Amount in Rs. lacs
IA Purchase consideration paid* 88,948.24 
IB Acquisition and other related costs 4,574.09 
I Total purchase consideration and acquisition related costs 93,522.33 
II Assets acquired:
A) Fixed assets 37,690.68 
B) Intangible assets 6,687.11
C) Investment in subsidiary (relate to net asset value as on the date of acquisition) 5,928.31 
D) Net current liabilities
a) Current assets** 5,604.84 
b) Current liabilities (7,012.80) (1,407.96)

Total assets acquired (net) (A+B+C+D) 48,898.14 
III Goodwill (I - II) 44,624.19 

 *The total amount of purchase consideration paid includes amount paid to the Wockhardt Limited, the subsidiaries and other companies related 
to Wockhardt Limited, banks and fi nancial institutions to extinguish the liability of the Wockhardt Limited’s Hospital Business Division.

 Out of the purchase consideration, an amount of Rs. 1,500.00 lacs is deposited in an escrow account with a Scheduled bank, for any future contingencies 
and for any rightful legal claim.  As this is not the company’s account, the escrow account is not disclosed in the fi nancial statements.

 **Included in the current assets under loans and advances, an estimated amount of Rs. 282.00 lacs, which is 50% share of provision for 
doubtful debts recoverable from Wockhardt Hospitals Limited.

27. On March 19, 2010, Fortis Group acquired 23.84% stake in Parkway Holdings Limited (‘PHL’) through Fortis Global Healthcare (Mauritius) 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, which has since been increased to 24.69% at the year-end. For the purposes of the consolidation of fi nancial 
statements, the fi nancial statements of PHL have been consolidated using equity method of accounting with a three-months time lag to that of 
the Company and accordingly, the fi nancial statements of PHL for the period March 19, 2010 (date of purchase of initial stake of 23.84% shares 
in PHL) to March 31, 2010 have not been consolidated in the fi nancial statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2010. Also the 
determination of goodwill as required by AS-23 issued by ICAI has been done based on the results of PHL for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
On an ongoing basis, the Company will consolidate PHL’s results on a calendar year basis, due to practical considerations. 

 The acquisition costs amounting to Rs. 330,942.42 lacs, comprise purchase price of Rs. 322,997.34 lacs for shares acquired upto March 31, 
2010 and acquisition related costs of Rs. 7,945.08 lacs. The book value of the net assets of PHL as at December 31, 2009 amount to Rs. 
161,920.40 lacs (proportionate share of Fortis Group). Accordingly, an amount of Rs. 169,022.02 lacs, being the excess of the acquisition cost 
over the net assets acquired has been recognized, in the carrying value of investment, as goodwill.

28. Goodwill arising on consolidation appearing in consolidated fi nancial statements is after netting off Capital Reserve aggregating to Rs. 103.12 
lacs arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary (FHTL) of the Company.

29. Particulars of Unhedged Foreign Currency Exposure:
(Rs. in lacs)

Particulars As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009
Import Creditors 128.83 88.02
Foreign Currency Loans 303,875.82 -
ECB Loan including interest accrued but not due - 500.15

30. A subsidiary of the Company (EHSSHL) has taken foreign currency derivative instrument to hedge its foreign currency risk. The outstanding 
position of derivative instruments as at March 31, 2010 is as under:

Particular of Derivatives Purpose
Outstanding forward contracts:
Buy: USD 163,557 (Previous Year USD Nil ) Hedge of creditors

31. Previous year fi gures have been regrouped / recasted wherever necessary to confi rm to current year’s classifi cation. Figures pertaining to the 
subsidiaries have been reclassifi ed wherever necessary to bring them in line with the Company’s fi nancial statements.
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